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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Mr. Cha Mou Daid, Johnson (Chairman) *
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Dr. Zhang Wei *
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Dr. Sun Tai Lun #

* non-executive director
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PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
22/F., Kings Wing Plaza 1

3 On Kwan Street

Shek Mun

Shatin, New Territories

Hong Kong

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
° Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited
o Hang Seng Bank Limited

° Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia)
Limited

o Shanghai Commercial Bank Limited

° Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

° The Bank of East Asia, Limited

o The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation

Limited

SHARE REGISTRARS
e Hong Kong
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
17M Floor, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Wanchai, Hong Kong

e Cayman Islands
Maples Corporate Services Limited
P.O. Box 309, Ugland House
Grand Cayman, KY1-1104
Cayman Islands

LEGAL ADVISERS

e Hong Kong Law
King & Wood Mallesons
Reed Smith Richards Butler

e Cayman Islands Law
Maples and Calder

STOCK CODE
896 (ordinary shares)

WEBSITE
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GROUP STRUCTURE

5 2R A

Hanison Construction Holdings Limited
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

s

REVENUE & PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF

THE COMPANY FOR THE YEAR
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERH G E

On behalf of the board of directors (“Board”) of Hanison
Construction Holdings Limited (“Company”),
pleased to present to our shareholders the results of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively “Group” or
“Hanison") for the year ended 31 March 2021.

| am

RESULTS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR
ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group recorded
revenue of HK$1,451.6 million, representing a year-on-
year increase of 51.5% from HK$958.2 million recorded
in the previous financial year. Consolidated profit
attributable to owners of the Company amounted to
HK$275.0 million (2020: HK$221.4 million), an increase
of 24.2% over the profit attained last year. The increase
was mainly attributable to (a) the gain on disposals of
an agricultural land in Ping Che, 50% interest of a land
in Kowloon Tong and 50% interest of a land at Tong
Yan San Tsuen in Yuen Long in this year; and (b) partially
offset by the decrease in gain on change in fair value of
investment properties held by the Group and through
joint ventures in this year.

The basic earnings per share and diluted earnings per
share for the year were HK25.2 cents, representing
increases of 24.1% when compared with HK20.3 cents
last year.

As at 31 March 2021, the net asset value of the Group
amounted to HK$4,137.1 million (2020: HK$3,923.6
million), representing an increase of 5.4% over last
year. Net asset value per share as at 31 March 2021 was
HK$3.75 (2020: HK$3.60).
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DIVIDEND

Currently, the Company pays an interim dividend and a
final dividend (in September after the annual general
meeting).

With effect from the year ended 31 March 2021, the
Company intends to pay two interim dividends. Second
interim dividend will be in lieu of final dividend.

Shareholders shall receive an earlier payment of the
second interim dividend (in lieu of final dividend) (in
July instead of September), thus the timing of dividend
payments will be more evenly spread over the year (in
December and July). The total amount of the dividends
paid to shareholders for the year will be the same with
two interim dividends as it would have been with interim
dividend and final dividend.

The Board has declared a second interim dividend of
HK5.0 cents per share (in lieu of a final dividend) for the
year ended 31 March 2021 (2020: final dividend HK5.0
cents per share) to shareholders whose names appear on
the register of members of the Company on 7 July 2021.
This, together with the first interim dividend of HK2.5
cents per share (2020: HK2.5 cents per share) distributed
during the year, gives a total dividend of HK7.5 cents
per share for the year (2020: HK7.5 cents per share). The
second interim dividend will be paid on 19 July 2021.

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT 3 )i 3t o 2
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT & o5 &

BUSINESS REVIEW

2020 was an exceptionally challenging year for most
industries. In order to contain the spread of the COVID-19
virus, governments from around the world imposed
health measures that subsequently impacted social and
economic activities. In Hong Kong, similar steps were
taken which inevitably affected the economy. For the
local construction industry, development projects were
generally delayed in early 2020, though fortunately
by the latter part of the year, infrastructure projects
gradually resumed. As for the Group, our reputation in
handling luxury residential projects brought us stable
business from the private sector. The combination of
such business and project resumptions contributed to our
stable revenue growth. In addition, the Group divested
itself of certain lands and stakes in property investment
and development projects that resulted in satisfactory
returns.

According to the World Bank, the global economy
contracted by 4.3% in 2020 as a result of the COVID-19
pandemic. Yet the collapse in global economic activity
was slightly less severe than previously projected, mainly
due to shallower contractions in advanced economies
and a more robust recovery in China. In 2020, China’s
economy expanded by 2.3%, making it the only major
world economy that grew in the pandemic-ravaged year.
Despite the country’s relatively strong growth, the Hong
Kong economy contracted by 6.1% in 2020, the largest
annual decline on record. With the decline in business
activity and erosion in consumer confidence, Hong Kong
for the first time registered two consecutive years of
negative growth. The Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region Government has introduced various financial
assistance schemes for different business sectors,
employers and individuals impacted by the COVID-19
pandemic. In particular, the Anti-epidemic Fund has
been launched to protect the workforce and stabilise
the economy. Among different sectors, retail, tourism
and catering industries were the most badly hit by the
pandemic.
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As aforesaid, the Hong Kong construction industry was
impacted quite severely in early 2020. Notwithstanding
the impacts of the pandemic, the Government's efforts
to invest in public infrastructure, increase land supply
and implement the Urban Renewal Development Scheme
and Revitalisation of Industrial Buildings Scheme have
resulted in demand for the Group’s construction expertise
from both the public and private sectors since the
beginning of the financial year.

However, obstacles such as the shortage of skilled labour,
ageing workforce, high construction costs and fierce
competition among building contractors continue to
hinder the development of the industry. It is generally
believed that industry players should be well aware of
the importance of adopting innovative approaches and
maintaining strong control over costs. New technologies
such as Building Information Modelling (BIM), Modular
Integrated Construction (MiC) system, and the application
of blockchain technology in project documentation are
some of the latest tools that could help enhance the
efficiency and effectiveness of construction processes.

As for the real estate sector, the residential property
market in Hong Kong performed at a generally stable
manner over the past year, though conversely, the prices
of commercial and industrial properties fell from their
peaks in 2019, with transaction volume falling to record
lows. Following the relaxation of macro-prudential
measures for mortgage loans on non-residential
properties by the Hong Kong Monetary Authority, as
well as the abolition of the double stamp duty on non-
residential property transactions by the Government,
there was a slight rebound in the latter part of 2020.
Although the Government has been trying to increase
land and housing supply over the years, it is believed that
there will not be oversupply in the foreseeable future,
thus the market, as well as the Group, generally expects
relatively stable property prices moving forward.

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT & o5 &
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT 3 i $) 5 &

HIGHLIGHTS OF CORPORATE ACTIVITIES

During the review year, the construction business
performed stably, supported by ongoing and new
projects from both the public and private sectors, as
well as recovery from certain project delays in the 2019-
20 financial year caused by the COVID-19 pandemic.
Although project margins remain relatively low due
to fierce competition, with its ample experience in
handling public infrastructure works and high-quality
luxury residential projects, the Group has been able
to grasp relevant opportunities and achieve growth in
revenue despite a challenging market. Revenue of the
construction division increased by 89.8% year-on-year to
HK$1.1 billion in the year ended 31 March 2021.

The interior and renovation business was, however,
negatively affected by the weak economic conditions
and the social distancing measures during the COVID-19
pandemic. Many shopping malls, restaurants and
retailers remained deserted, while many office buildings
were vacant, which made building owners scale back
their renovation plans and revise their budgets. For
those that went ahead with renovations, design plans
were generally less glamorous and overall budgets
were comparatively lower than the previous years.
Consequently, the division recorded revenue of HK$196
million in the review year (2020: HK$234 million).
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Our building materials business mainly involves the
supply and installation of suspended ceiling and flooring
for both private and public properties. The division
has recorded revenue of HK$49 million during the
review year, which was similar to the preceding year.
Business remained strong as the team specialises in more
technically advanced projects. Recently, the division won
the tender for the design, supply, fabrication, assembly
and installation of main roof baffle ceiling, lower-level
roof baffle and external metal ceiling at Terminal 2
Building of the Hong Kong International Airport with
contract sum of around HK$300 million. The winning
of this important project will not only provide a stable
source of segmental revenue in the coming years, but will
also open up a new avenue of business opportunities for
the Group as it helps to build relevant experience.

Despite the uncertainty brought about by the COVID-19
pandemic, the Hong Kong real estate market has
remained resilient. Some potential property buyers and
investors hope that the COVID-19 pandemic might be
able to bring down property prices. However, according
to the Financial Secretary Mr. Paul Chan, the coming
property market price adjustment would be far smaller
than the scale that Hong Kong went through during
the Asian financial crisis in 1997 and the outbreak of
SARS in 2003. Supported by strong market demand for
residential properties, together with the low-interest
rate environment, the relaxed loan leverage on certain
low-priced flats and higher accumulative wealth of the
citizens, the prices of properties have increased 1.5%
so far this year according to the Rating and Valuation
Department.

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT & o5 &
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT & o5 &

During the year under review, the strata sale of West
Park was well received by the market and all of the
residential units (i.e. 63 units) were sold. The Group sold
a parcel of agricultural land in Fanling, 50% interest in
a parcel of land located at No. 57A Nga Tsin Wai Road,
as well as 50% interest in some agricultural land at Tong
Yan San Tsuen in Yuen Long. Also, with regard to the
proposed residential development joint venture project
with Sun Hung Kai Properties Limited at So Kwun Wat,
Tuen Mun, the land premium has been determined and
paid.

PROSPECTS

According to the International Monetary Fund, global
growth is projected at 6% in 2021, moderating to
4.4% in 2022. The projections reflect confidence in the
anticipated vaccine-powered recovery in the second half
of 2021. However, certain doubt surrounds this outlook,
stemming from such uncertainties as the path of the
pandemic, the effectiveness of policy support to provide
a bridge to vaccine-powered normalisation, and the
evolution of financial conditions.

On the other hand, Mainland China’s ability to expand
while the world has struggled to control the deadly virus,
which has claimed more than three million lives so far,
has undoubtedly cemented its place as the dominant
economy in Asia. With the largely stable situation in
Mainland China, most expect the border between
Hong Kong and the Mainland to reopen by mid-2021.
Furthermore, the high availability of vaccines in the city
is another encouraging factor. With the majority of the
population set to hopefully be vaccinated by mid to late
2021, it is expected that positive GDP growth will resume
for Hong Kong in 2021.
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To support the local construction industry and the
economy as a whole, the Hong Kong Government
announced during its budget speech for 2021-22 that
annual capital works expenditure will exceed HK$100
billion in the coming years. What is more, annual total
construction output will increase to around HK$300
billion, creating over 300,000 employment opportunities
in the sector. To solve the longstanding labour supply
problem, the Government and the Construction
Industry Council have been providing professional and
comprehensive training programmes for construction
workers. The Hong Kong Institute of Construction also
has an established training system in place offering
career progression paths for its trainees. The Group
welcomes such initiatives and looks forward to having
more young and enthusiastic practitioners in the
construction industry.

As for the property sector, it has been announced that
the Government’s 2021-22 Land Sale Programme will
comprise a total of 15 residential sites and 3 commercial
sites, providing approximately 6,000 residential units
and around 480,000 square metres of commercial
floor area respectively. With the residential sites under
the Land Sale Programme, together with railway
property development projects, private development
and redevelopment projects and the Urban Renewal
Authority’s projects, the potential land supply in the
whole financial year is expected to have a capacity of
providing approximately 16,500 units. Given that huge
demand continues to exist in the market, the Group is of
the view that property prices will stay relatively stable.
Still, in order to diversify our investments and better
manage risks, we will take a joint-venture approach
when engaging in property development projects in the
future. In fact, we have already adopted this strategy in
the past financial year as evidenced by our divestment
efforts.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT & o5 &

Moving forward, the management will continue to stay
agile and reactive to changes in the market. The Group
will continue with its prudent approach to development
and investment projects, as well as maintain its financials
and property portfolio at healthy levels.

TRIBUTE

In November 2020, Mr. Cha Mou Sing, Payson, our non-
executive Chairman, passed away peacefully in California,
USA. Mr. Cha was the passionate driving force behind the
Group since its establishment in 1989. He oversaw the
Group's evolution from a small construction company to
a multi-faceted project management company, property
developer and property investor.

In July 2020, Mr. Lo Kai Cheong, our executive Director,
passed away. He was the financial controller and the
company secretary of the Group. Mr. Lo made valuable
contributions to the Company during his tenure of office
since 1996.

Mr. Cha and Mr. Lo will be greatly missed by the Group,
with the Board committed to honouring their legacy by
continuing to strive for the high standards they set for
themselves and their colleagues.
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APPRECIATION

I would like to take this opportunity to express my sincere
appreciation to our management team and colleagues
who, under such challenging business conditions, have
delivered stable results during the year. Their hard work
and dedication represent one of the pillars of the Group’s
success, and all of them should take great pride in their
accomplishments.

| would also like to thank our shareholders and business
partners for your support, confidence and trust in the
Group over the years. We pledge to continue to do our
utmost to deliver satisfactory returns to shareholders and
create long-term value for the Group.

Wﬁ/\

Cha Mou Daid, Johnson
Chairman

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT & o5 &
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OPERATIONS REVIEW
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CONSTRUCTION DIVISION

A
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Construction Division
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Sports centre, community hall and
football pitches in Area 1, Tai Po
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CONSTRUCTION DIVISION

The revenue for the Construction Division was
HK$1,148.2 million for the year ended 31 March 2021
(2020: HK$605.0 million).

During the year, the Construction Division continued
to work on the projects on hand. The total amount
of contracts on hand as at 31 March 2021 for the
Construction Division amounted to HK$1,483.6 million.

Major Projects Completed

(1) Construction of public rental housing development
at Shek Mun Estate Phase 2, Shatin, New Territories

(2) Construction of public rental housing development
at Choi Yuen Road Sites 3 and 4, Sheung Shui, New
Territories

Public rental housing development at
Choi Yuen Road Sites 3 and 4, Sheung Shui
TR EEBMBEIRAZ ARERERIER
(Photo: Ancillary Facility Building
D IRFSREAIE)

BEL

BE_ZE_—HF=-—HB=+—BHLEE BH
ZRHY IR A 2 7 H81,148,200,0007C (ZEZF
& : #¥8605,000,0007T) °

FR BRRPEFETFREB - NTF"—
FZA=1+—H BESNFHSOBER
%8 % 7 1%1,483,600,0007 °
BERRNEETR

(1) BERFFVERFIBE_HZAHREERE
ERIEE

(2) BEFFRLKEEBRMBEIRIZAHE
E#EEE

Public rental housing development at
Shek Mun Estate Phase 2, Shatin
DHAEMBE Rz AREREEEE
(Photo: Social Welfare Block
 BRFZ R HEARIE)
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Major Projects Undertaken EENTETRE

(1) Construction of sports centre, community hall and (1) EEFRABFIEZEREE - HET
football pitches in Area 1, Tai Po, New Territories 2Bk

(2) Construction of the proposed residential and (2) BEEREFEREMINEREEHIZFEI7TZ
commercial development at Nos. 33-47 Catchick BERAEABEZEREE
Street, Kennedy Town, Hong Kong

(3) Construction of the proposed residential (3) HEREEFBEFEESE FRATEEF
redevelopment at No. 8 Star Street, Wan Chai, Hong KEHEIMENR) 2EBRETEERE
Kong (previously known as Nos. 21-31 Wing Fung =]

Street, Wan Chai, Hong Kong)

(4) Construction of the proposed residential (4) EEHFFREPIHMEEFES16RZERME
redevelopment at Tuen Mun Town Lot No. 516, New EERIEB
Territories

Residential and commercial development at
Nos. 33-47 Catchick Street, Kennedy Town

M S EE3ENEAT R EEREEERIER

Residential redevelopment at No. 8 Star Street,
Wan Chai (previously known as
Nos. 21-31 Wing Fung Street, Wan Chai)

BT 28I (FifEA BT Residential redevelopment at
KEERIREIS) ZEEEREIEE Tuen Mun Town Lot No. 516

ERImER S 165 2 EEERER
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Major Projects Awarded After the Financial Year
Ended 31 March 2021

(1

Construction of public housing development at Java
Road, North Point, Hong Kong

(2) Construction of public housing development at Hin
Fat Lane, Tuen Mun, New Territories

Awards

(1) In December 2020, Hanison Construction Company

()

®3)

20

Limited (“HCCL") received the “HKCA Hong
Kong Construction Environmental Awards — 2020
Environmental Merit Award” from the Hong Kong
Construction Association.

In October 2020, the construction of sports centre,
community hall and football pitches in Area 1,
Tai Po under HCCL was awarded the “Considerate
Contractor Site Award — Bronze Award” and the
“Outstanding Environmental Management and
Performance Award - Merit Award” under the
26th Considerate Contractors Site Award Scheme
(Public Works — New Works), co-organised by the
Development Bureau and Construction Industry
Council.

In October 2020, the construction of public rental
housing development at Choi Yuen Road Sites
3 and 4, Sheung Shui under HCCL was awarded
the “Considerate Contractor Site Award - Bronze
Award” and the “Outstanding Environmental
Management and Performance Award - Merit
Award” under the 26th Considerate Contractors Site
Award Scheme (Non-Public Works — New Works -
Group A), co-organised by the Development Bureau
and Construction Industry Council.

RBEE_Z_—F=A=+—HLH

HEERERNETETRE

(1) BERFERLAEEEZAHEERRE
=]

(2) BERFREPRUEBREZAHEERRE
=]

8218

(1) RZZ2E+_R -EBERARA
B (TR ) REEBZEBTMR
ENEBERRFAE-RRBER

20201 °

2 MRIZEZZE+B > EBFEEETKAE
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BITREERRERREEEZT SN
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TR-METIR BT AEMER—
R RMEHIRIREIRER —ERE o

B MIZZEZHFE+HR EHBEHEETL
KEERMEIRIZALERREE
BERERZERRABEEXEZTEMN
B AEAEMBETE GEIH
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BRI R TRHIRIEEER—ER
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(4) In October 2020, HCCL's construction project for
sports centre, community hall and football pitches
in Area 1, Tai Po obtained the “Construction Safety
Week 2020 - Lifting Safety Promotional Campaign
- Innovative Enhancement for Lifting Safety -
Silver Award”, which was co-organised by the
Development Bureau and Construction Industry
Council.

(5) In August 2020, HCCL as the main contractor for the
construction of sports centre, community hall and
football pitches in Area 1, Tai Po was awarded the
"Green Contractor Award 2019 — Bronze Award”
from the Architectural Services Department.

(6) In August 2020, HCCL got the “HKCA Proactive
Safety Contractor Award For the Year 2019”
organised by the Hong Kong Construction
Association.

Outlook

Economic activity is gradually returning to normal
with the availability of COVID-19 vaccines, and this has
been echoed by the construction sector where many
infrastructure and property projects have commenced
once again. Such developments have benefited
the Group’s Construction Division, which recorded
satisfactory performance during the review year, with
revenue growing 89.8% year-on-year.

Despite rising unemployment and economic contraction
due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Hong
Kong property market has seen a strong rebound since
the first quarter of 2021.
compiled by the Rating and Valuation Department was
up 2.87% year-on-year in February 2021, achieving a
seven-month high. While moving into the second quarter,
the Centa-City Leading Index was up 0.5% from late
March to early April 2021, reaching a 36-week high of
181.3 points.

The property price index

OPERATIONS REVIEW 275 0] g
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Under the backdrop of a robust, stable property market,
along with upcoming residential property developments
for both private and public sectors, together with the
Government’s plan to increase annual capital works
expenditure through pushing forward more public
infrastructure works, there are immense opportunities for
the construction industry in the mid-to-long term.

While such opportunities are heartening, construction
companies must remain vigilant and wary of the dynamic
and complex operating environment in which they now
operate. In addition to higher expectations from clients
in terms of cost, quality and punctuality, companies must
also be able to comply with strict requirements from the
Hong Kong Government and regulatory bodies, including
their calls for greater environmental management.

In addition to a fast evolving operating environment,
the current economic climate also poses tremendous
challenges to the construction industry, which include
stiff competition. Companies will therefore need to
innovate and keep a tight rein on tendering practices
and expenses so as to improve their competitiveness and
be more resilient to margin pressures. Furthermore, they
must be attentive to new technologies and information
systems, as well as be able to be among the early
adopters of advanced tools for boosting the efficiency
and effectiveness of construction processes.

In view of the opportunities and possible challenges
on the horizon, the upcoming year looks set to be a
revealing time for industry players. With significant
construction projects either underway or set to
commence, including public infrastructure works,
residential developments, and refurbishment projects
involving dilapidated industrial and residential buildings,
the construction sector is optimistic about its prospects.

With respect to the Group, our Construction Division
will continue to place full effort on controlling costs,
enhancing efficiency and keeping up to date with the
latest technologies so as to protect and build on its
leading industry position.
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Interior & Renovation Division
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Combined fitting out works for hotel and
office packages for hotel and office
building at No. 43 Heung Yip Road

BEEBRZBEERPIABFRAERELR



OPERATIONS REVIEW (%501

-

INTERIOR AND RENOVATION DIVISION

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the Interior and
Renovation Division recorded a revenue of HK$195.7
million, as compared with HK$234.3 million last year.

The total amount of contracts on hand as at 31 March

2021 for the Interior and Renovation Division amounted
to HK$156.5 million.

Major Projects Completed

(1) Building renovation works of Cavendish Heights

(Block 1-7) at No. 33 Perkins Road, Jardine’s
Lookout, Hong Kong

(2) Alteration and addition works for Nos. 99-101 Lai
Chi Kok Road, Kowloon

(3) Proposed additions and alterations works at No.138
Connaught Road West, Hong Kong

(4) Combined fitting out works for hotel and office
packages for proposed hotel and office building at
No. 43 Heung Yip Road, Hong Kong

2 i Bz 4 (E 2B
BE_E-_—F=B=+—HLFE £
K& SR8 15 U A % 15 195,700,0007T ° T
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Building renovation works of
Cavendish Heights (Block 1-7) at
No. 33 Perkins Road, Jardine’s Lookout
BELURRRENBREES
(1-7F) BF 2 8ETR
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Additions and alterations works
at No.138 Connaught Road West
TFEEEFE 138 MERNELIRE

Alteration and addition works for
Nos. 99-101 Lai Chi Kok Road
FIEAEIBRE101RZ
BEERMETR
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Major Projects Undertaken

(1)

)

3)

4

(5)

(6)

@)

3-year general building maintenance term contract
(2019-2022) for the City University of Hong Kong

Facade repair works for campus buildings (2019-
2022) for the City University of Hong Kong

Builder's works term contract (2020-2023) for Hong
Kong Baptist University

2-year term tenancy works contract (2020-2022) for
shopping centres, car parks, markets & cooked-food
stalls for Hong Kong Island, Kowloon East, New
Territories East and Tseung Kwan O (Region 2) for
the Link

Improvement works for Haking Wong Building for
The University of Hong Kong

Conversion of offices and data centre into wet
laboratories at Yellow Zone on 2/F, Yeung Kin Man
Academic Building for the City University of Hong
Kong

Main contract for toilet improvement works at
shopping centres of Chuk Yuen South, Fu Shin,
Stanley, Tai Hing, Tai Wo, Yu Chui and Temple Mall
for the Link

Facade repair works for campus buildings (2019-2022)
for the City University of Hong Kong
ERPTABREEFIMEEETE

—E-NEEZTH)

OPERATIONS REVIEW %[0l jgd

AENETETRE

(1) BBETASB=FH—RKRIEETHRF
BN (CE-—NEEE-__HF)

(2 BEEHTABKEBFIMEEEIIE
(CE-NEEZE_HF)

) THEEETAZBBREIREHAN(CE
TEEF B =)

(4) BERETEAE HBARE -HERRERE
R (BiEH2) BYho - FEIF HH
RABKZMEECHIREHN (CEZ
TEFEET )

(5) BTARARBERAREXRSKMEIR

(6) BAEANTAZBEXEMIE_EEE

@

MAERBEBEROLBARERET

2

BARETTEM -EE -KRE - KE-
A~ WBRERUPOED RO
FRREIRZEGH

Builder’s works term contract (2020-2023)
for Hong Kong Baptist University
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Awards

In October 2020, the fitting-out works for the proposed
hotel and office building at No. 43 Heung Yip Road
under Hanison Interior & Renovation Limited obtained
the “Merit Award in Safety Management System,
Training & Promotion Category” and “Merit Award in
Health and Welfare Category” under the Innovative
Safety Initiative Award 2020, co-organised by the
Development Bureau and Construction Industry Council.

Outlook

In most instances, the renovation of property will usually
elevate its market value. Consequently, in Hong Kong,
homeowners and property investors often proceed with
major renovation work prior to placing their asset up
for sale in order to reap maximum returns. However,
in the wake of the COVID-19 pandemic which has led
to sustained contraction of the Hong Kong economy
- shrinking by a record 6.1% in 2020 alone, and an
unemployment rate that has climbed to 7.2% for the
December 2020 to February 2021 period, according to
figures provided by the Census and Statistics Department,
large-scale renovation work has generally been
suspended. Such a development has invariably affected
the financial performance of the Interior and Renovation
Division.

Going forward, the interior and renovation business is
expected to make a recovery, though intense competition
will persist. In order for the division to further develop,
and create better living environments for clients, focus
will be placed on such key areas as innovation, safety,
efficiency and environmental responsibility, all the while
maintaining a client-centric mindset. To rise to upcoming
challenges and secure our long-term competitiveness,
we will also nurture a culture of excellence, encouraging
ongoing advancement so as to consolidate our position
as a reputable interior and renovation company,
committed to exceeding clients’ expectations.
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Supply and installation of metal ceiling and FRP system for
Museum Plus (M+) at West Kowloon Cultural District
FEAXEEMuseum Plus (M+) — {1 FE R
ZREBRIERBANKRIERA



—

OPERATIONS REVIEW (%501

BUILDING MATERIALS DIVISION

The Group’s Building Materials Division specialises in
the supply and installation of interior products such
as different types of suspended ceiling system, metal
cladding system, fire rated enclosure system and wood
flooring.

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the revenue of
the Building Materials Division was HK$48.9 million
compared with that of HK$42.0 million last year.

The total amount of contracts on hand as at 31 March
2021 for the Building Materials Division amounted to

HK$299.7 million.

Major Projects Completed

(1)  Museum Plus (M+) at West Kowloon Cultural District
— Supply and installation of metal ceiling and FRP
system

Supply and installation of suspended ceiling system at
balcony and podium level for redevelopment at
No. 3 Marble Road, North Point
THEEEREREE —HERZEEER
TEEBZRBRRIERS

BEMEE

FEBNEEMBBEFIREREZEERNE
EEm NAEBENBRRTERR = EIHR
B4 DR IRE R R AMAR

BE_ZE_—F=-B=+—BHLEE BH
TARLER 2 WL A 2 7 1548,900,0007T > M2 Al
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3)

Proposed residential development at TMTL 500
Kwun Chui Road, Tuen Mun, New Territories —
Supply and installation of suspended ceiling system
at podium and basement level

Proposed redevelopment at No. 3 Marble Road,
North Point, Hong Kong — Supply and installation
of suspended ceiling system at balcony and podium
level

Major Projects Undertaken

(1

)

©))

4)

(5)

MTR SCL 1123 - Exhibition Station and Western
Approach Tunnel — Design, supply and installation of
suspended ceiling system

Tai Wai Station property development — External
ceiling system under transfer plate (T1 to T8)

The Hong Kong Palace Museum for The West
Kowloon Cultural District Authority — Design, supply
and installation of suspended ceiling system at
balcony and G/F

Public rental housing development at Queen’s Hill
Site 1, Phase 1 & Portion of Phase 6 — Design, supply
and installation of external ceiling system at G/F

Sports centre, community hall and football pitches
in Area 1, Tai Po, New Territories — Design, supply
and installation of suspended ceiling system, fire
resistance enclosure system and hardwood sport
flooring system
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Major Projects Awarded During the Financial
Year Ended 31 March 2021

(1

)

©)

4

(5)

Proposed residential development of Wong Chuk
Hang Station Site A property development — Supply
and installation of suspended ceiling system at
podium level

Proposed residential development of Wong Chuk
Hang Station Site B property development — Supply
and installation of aluminium baffle ceiling system
at 3/F carpark

Proposed residential development at NKIL 6564, Kai
Tak Area 1L, Site 1, Kai Tak, Kowloon - Supply and
installation of suspended ceiling system at balcony

Proposed residential and commercial development
at Nos. 33-47 Catchick Street, Kennedy Town, Hong
Kong - Supply and installation of suspended ceiling
system

HKAA Contract 3508 Terminal 2 expansion works —
Design, supply and installation of main roof baffle
ceiling system

Major Project Awarded After the Financial Year
Ended 31 March 2021

(M

30

HKAA Contract 3508 Terminal 2 expansion works —
Design, supply and installation of lower-level roof
baffle and external metal ceiling system
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Outlook

With the Hong Kong economy beginning to recover
and construction activities resuming — moving on from
disruptions caused by the shortage of workers and
materials due to COVID-19 pandemic in the previous year,
the Building Materials Division is expected to benefit.
Already, the operation has recorded revenue of HK$48.9
million for the year ended 31 March 2021, thus halting a
decline experienced last year.

In Hong Kong, the construction industry is poised to
profit from the development of residential properties
from both the public and private sectors, along with
initiatives set out in the urban renewal projects and the
Industrial Building Revitalization Scheme. Moreover,
as the outbreak situation improves, the construction
industry will further recover. Already, the winning of
the design, supply, fabrication, assembly and installation
of main roof baffle ceiling, lower-level roof baffle and
external metal ceiling at Terminal 2 Building of the
Hong Kong International Airport with contract sum
of around HK$300 million was a breakthrough for the
division; marking entry into a new market segment that
possesses enormous growth potential. We are confident
in winning more contracts for the supply and installation
of suspended ceiling and flooring in the future.

Yet another area of interest will be the procurement
of innovative yet affordable building materials to assist
clients confronted by increasingly expensive property
projects, in part due to rising labour and material costs.
In addressing their needs, we will source materials with
relevant properties, including environmentally friendly
characteristics, as well as scrutinize installation works to
achieve optimum outcomes.
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Property Development Division




PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

The Property Development Division recorded no revenue
during the year ended 31 March 2021 (2020: nil).

As for the joint venture project, Mount Vienna, the low-
density residential project in Fo Tan, New Territories in
which the Group has 25% interest, on 2 September 2020
and 26 February 2021, the Group and its joint venture
partner entered into two sale and purchase agreements
with two independent third parties to dispose of two
duplex units and certain car parking spaces of Mount
Vienna. All of the units were sold up to the end of the
reporting period. Up to the date of this annual report, 1
unit has not been delivered to customer.

LUXEAST, the Group’s 49% interest in the parcel of
land situated at FEARENBEIIE BETEXIEH
7afA - B E =B (West of Wenyuan Road and South
of Houfutinggang, Haining, Zhejiang Province, the
People’s Republic of China) for the development and
construction of office, retail, car parking spaces and other
development pertaining to the land. The respective B
BFrE#:E (Building Ownership Certificates) have been
issued in March 2015. A total of 154 R EBSE & (Sale
and Purchase Agreement for Commodity Flat) have been
signed up to the end of the reporting period in which
139 units had been delivered to customers.

For the proposed residential development project with
Sun Hung Kai Properties Limited at So Kwun Wat, Tuen
Mun, the land exchange application to convert the land
to residential use was completed. Land premium had
been determined in October 2020. Up to February 2021,
all balance of the land premium had been paid. The land
grant document was executed.
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In March 2021, the Group entered into the sale and
purchase agreement with an independent third party
to dispose of 50% interest of a piece of land at No. 57A
Nga Tsin Wai Road, Kowloon Tong, Kowloon and a joint
venture was formed with the objective of developing
the property into a premium residential project. Lease
modification for redevelopment has been approved. It is
expected that the offer of land premium will be issued
soon.

For the pieces of agricultural land at Tong Yan San Tsuen
in Yuen Long, a land exchange application for residential
use was made in 2012 with the Lands Department. Land
premium has been determined and deposit of the same
was paid in January 2021. In March 2021, the Group
entered into the sale and purchase agreement with an
independent third party to dispose of 50% interest of the
land and a joint venture was formed with the objective
of developing the property into a residential project.
Balance of land premium was paid in April 2021.

As for the joint venture project, Johnson Place, located
at Nos. 14-16 Lee Chung Street, Chai Wan, Hong Kong,
will be redeveloped into a brand new industrial property,
the planning application for bonus plot ratio has been
approved and the building plans submission is under
processing.

In May 2021, the Group entered into the sale and
purchase agreement with an independent third party
to dispose of 50% interest of West Castle and a joint
venture was formed with the objective of developing the
property into a brand new industrial property.
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Outlook

Despite the COVID-19 pandemic and subsequent social
distancing measures that dealt a heavy blow to the
Hong Kong economy, which in turn led to a record-
level economic contraction and high unemployment,
the local property market has continued to be resilient.
Property prices have remained stable and the number
of transactions have rebounded strongly in the start of
2021. Overall property transactions, including residential,
commercial and industrial properties and parking spaces
have soared 79.2% in the January to March period,
or to 22,840 transactions (2020: 12,744), according to
Centaline. This figure is the highest since the second
quarter of 2019.

As the U.S. Federal Reserve has expressed its commitment
to observing a low-interest monetary policy, with the
Federal Open Market Committee maintaining the target
funds rate at 0 to 0.25% until inflation rises to 2%, such
a policy will serve as catalyst for the long-term expansion
of the property market. It is worth noting as well that
prolonged undersupply, particularly in the residential
property segment, and continuing capital inflows will
also drive the property market’s development.

In respect of the Group, it has built up its land bank over
the years, acquiring parcels of land when prices were
reasonable. As opportunities permit, the Group will align
with suitable partners to develop the land parcels into
properties. In view of the uncertain times, priority will be
given to maintaining sound cash flows and reasonable
gearing ratios when proceeding with land development
projects.
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Property Investment Division
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PeakCastle at No. 476 Castle Peak Road
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PROPERTY INVESTMENT DIVISION

The Property Investment Division recorded a revenue of
HK$63.7 million for the year ended 31 March 2021 (2020:
HK$48.2 million).

Strata sale of West Park was launched in January 2020.
All of the residential units (i.e. 63 units) were sold up
to the end of the reporting year and all units had been
delivered to customers up to the date of this annual
report.

In December 2020, the Group entered into the sale and
purchase agreement with an independent third party to
dispose of various land lots in Demarcation District No.
76 Ping Che, Fanling, New Territories. The transaction has
been completed in January 2021.

i

The Connaught at No. 138 Connaught Road West
{iLi* F 55387513855 ZThe Connaught
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The Edward at Nos. 99-101 Lai Chi Kok Road
NI 71 AEI9SRE 10187 2 The Edward
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Investment properties of the Group including various
units at Shatin Industrial Centre, Hollywood Hill at No.
222 Hollywood Road, No. 31 Wing Wo Street in Sheung
Wan, some units at Kin Wing Industrial Building in Tuen
Mun, various land lots in D.D. 76 Ping Che in Fanling
(disposed in January 2021), retail shops of The Austine
Place in Tsim Sha Tsui, Hay Nien Building in Kwun Tong,
Minibox Tower in Chai Wan, certain industrial units and
car parking spaces at Chaiwan Industrial Centre and
Kwun Tong Industrial Centre, The Mercer in Sheung
Wan, PeakCastle in Cheung Sha Wan and following two
properties in which the Group has 50% interest: Hoi Bun
Godown in Tuen Mun (land resumed by government
in November 2020) and The Connaught at No. 138
Connaught Road West, all contributed rental incomes to
the Group during the financial year.

Renovation of The Edward was completed and is now
available for rent.

The Mercer at No. 29 Jervois Street
IR BRI A299% 2 The Mercer

AEENRKREMXOEVHIEZEPLETE
i ~ LA BT 2 A B 22255 FHollywood Hill~
FRAMEIR -EMBRETEREETE
fii-METELENM76RNE FTHE (10
ZEZ—F—HBHE) ~RWMEThe Austine
PlaceNZEEH BRENEFERE -LEN
EHERE-RERPLIEAERERIE
FONETFIEBEMKREERMN LIRMThe
Mercer~ K& MPeakCastled K 7< £ [
B50%EmMU TMIEYE : BFIEESR
(BERZEZTEF+—BKEL#) UKk
I F 268 7813858 The Connaught iR
BFENBEAAEETREEUA

The EdwardfVEEBESERL > IRAIHHFH o

West Park at Nos. 256-258 Tung Chau Street
{5 38 N H72565% E2585% 2 West Park
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Outlook

While the pandemic has led to a deterioration in
economic conditions, property investors and owners in
Hong Kong have, by and large, held on to their assets
rather than take the offload route for quick capital
gains. This reflects their confidence and expectations of
a rebound in property prices once the outbreak is over,
following which demand will further rise due to limited
supply. However, such enthusiasm is unlikely to extend
to property leasing, as activity is expected to remain
slow. With rental rates likely to be soft and decline in
vacancies anticipated, property investors and owners will
need to adopt a patient approach, as well as employ a
full complement of measures to attract tenants, such as
short-term rental relief packages, leasing incentives and
discounts.

Overall, residential and office properties should make a
modest recovery once the COVID-19 pandemic is behind,
leading to an upturn in property prices and rents.
However, for the retail and hotel sectors, the pandemic
fallout may prove to be more prolonged, with rapid
recovery unlikely for these industries.

It is worth noting that in November 2020, the Hong Kong
Government announced the abolishment of the double
stamp duty for non-residential properties. The step taken
will help alleviate cash flow concerns of commercial
property owners when the time comes for offloading
their assets. Furthermore, it is believed that this measure
will help revitalise the investment properties market
in Hong Kong, hence the Group’s Property Investment
Division will continue to explore opportunities brought
by the Government’s initiative.
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In general, the Group’s property investment strategy,
which consists of the acquisition, renovation,
management and subsequent sale or generation of rental
income from properties can be deemed a success. This
strategy has been aided in part by the prosperous Hong
Kong property market which has thrived amid a low
interest rate environment. However, the consequence
of this environment is a growing divide between those
who can and cannot afford home purchases, particularly
ordinary families in the case of the latter. To close this
rift and the social discontent that has arisen, the Hong
Kong Government has introduced measures to control
property prices and increase the supply of affordable
housing. It has also raised stamp duties and decreased
leverage levels on mortgage loans to combat speculation,
a major catalyst for exorbitant property prices. In the
face of such developments, careful examination and
management of the Group’s property portfolio will be
paramount; retaining properties that possess the highest
potential for favourable returns. The management is
also constantly vigilant to local and global economic
and political developments, and to act accordingly and
decisively. Ultimately, generating positive cash flows and
maintaining a reasonably low gearing ratio will stand the
Group in good stead for whatever market developments
that may arise.
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Property Agency and Management Division
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Marketing and project manager and
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PROPERTY AGENCY AND MANAGEMENT
DIVISION

The revenue of the Property Agency and Management
Division for the year ended 31 March 2021 was HK$17.3
million (2020: HK$18.1 million).

In Hong Kong, our Property Agency and Management
Division acted as the marketing and project manager
for The Grampian at No. 11 Grampian Road, Mount
Vienna at Lok Lam Road, PeakCastle in Cheung Sha
Wan, The Connaught at No. 138 Connaught Road West,
Johnson Place in Chai Wan, The Austine Place at No.
38 Kwun Chung Street and Hay Nien Building at No.
1 Tai Yip Street. This division also provided property
management services to The Austine Place in Tsim Sha
Tsui, The Bedford in Tai Kok Tsui, Eight College and One
LaSalle in Kowloon Tong, PeakCastle in Cheung Sha
Wan, Mount Vienna at Lok Lam Road, The Connaught
at No. 138 Connaught Road West, Hollywood Hill at No.
222 Hollywood Road, Hay Nien Building at No. 1 Tai Yip
Street, The Mercer at No. 29 Jervois Street, West Park in
Cheung Sha Wan and The Edward in Mong Kok.

Other services of this division include rental collection
and leasing agency services to 8 Hart Avenue and The
Cameron in Tsim Sha Tsui.
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Marketing and project manager and property
management services for Mount Vienna
#Mount Viennalz {5 HE &

HE KB RIRHEY EE R
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Marketing and project manager and property
management services for The Connaught
#AThe ConnaughtiZ /I #HE K
HESIE R HYEEIERY Property management services for The Edward

#The Edwardi2 (¥ 2 EIRARTE

Property management services for The Mercer

#The MerceriZ (¥ £ EIEIRTS

Property management services for West Park

#West Parkiz (1) £ SRR
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Outlook

The Group’s property management and leasing division
provides bespoke integrated solutions to meet the
needs of our clients. The skilled and experienced
team of property management and leasing managers,
engineers, security personnel and administrators ensure
that the management process is handled smoothly,
with meticulous organisation and an open line of
communication throughout.

The management services business covers a diverse range
of properties, including commercial, residential and
industrial buildings, with most having been developed or
acquired by the Group or through its joint ventures.

The property management and leasing division acts as
a companion to its properties and joint ventures, with
a focus on optimising the rental incomes and values of
these properties. The vast expertise and experience of the
team enable the Group to adapt its services alongside the
evolving property market, whilst ensuring it provides the
best possible quality in a cost-effective manner.

Amid the COVID-19 pandemic, the role of quality
property management has become even more important,
especially in implementing an effective sanitation
management process, so as to ensure the security and
safety of tenants and users, and thus enhance the value
and reputation of properties. With extensive experience
and industry knowledge, our property management
division is confident in providing quality property
management services to property owners and tenants in
such a challenging environment.
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Health Products Division
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HEALTH PRODUCTS DIVISION

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the Health Products
Division recorded revenue of HK$32.2 million, compared
to HK$50.3 million last year.

The Health Products Division focuses on retail and
wholesale of Chinese and Western nutritional
supplements (including Lingzhi Master and Bu Yick Fong
— 28 Chinese Herbal Soup) and management of a club
and e-commerce business.

Coronavirus infection discouraged tourists and local
consumption, the business environment for retail trade
has become more difficult. Online shopping is an ideal
channel which benefits both customers and sellers.
We continue to develop e-shopping channel to draw
customers from different regions.

Outlook

Since the Hong Kong Government implemented travel
restrictions and social distancing measures in early 2020
to contain the spread of the COVID-19 virus, tourism and
local consumption have been hard hit, and the impact is
still ongoing. The Group has reacted swiftly by placing
greater effort into the development of online sales
channels, both in Hong Kong and Mainland China.
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Health and well-being continue to be a key concern of
consumers from all walks of life, especially in developed
countries with aging populations. Although sales at
the Group’s retail shops have been declining, the
management strongly believes that the demand is still
there and the sector’s potential remains vast. Seeing our
e-shop sales picking up and starting to play an integral
part of our Health Products Division, the team has been
creating new online sales channels to capture market
opportunities. This has included establishing a presence
on HKTVmall, Ztore, TaoBao, Tmall and JD.com. In
addition, more marketing efforts will be placed on social
media platforms like Facebook and YouTube, as well
as new forms of promotion such as KOL engagement.
Furthermore, the Group will keep a close eye on market
trends and consumer behaviour, so as to more effectively
target consumers for its products in the Greater China
market.

Since 2003, the Health Products Division has been
offering a wide range of products to consumers, with
Lingzhi Master and Bu Yick Fong — 28 Chinese Herbal
Soup being its main products. The Group will continue
to introduce quality health products to the market
with the aim of bringing good health and happiness to
consumers. With the increasing development of user-
friendly e-shopping platforms, along with the rising
health consciousness of the public, the Group believes
consumers will be even more inclined to try quality
health products that can be easily ordered from home,
thereby creating greater opportunities for the business.

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to look into
expanding its online sales channels and engaging
different forms of social media promotions to capture
consumers according to their new decision-making and
purchasing behaviours. The COVID-19 pandemic has
pushed ahead a new age of consumption patterns and
the Group will maintain vigilant to market changes in
order to strengthen this segment of its business.
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SUMMARY OF RESULTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021, Hanison Construction
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) recorded revenue of
HK$1,451.6 million, representing a year-on-year increase
of 51.5% from HK$958.2 million recorded in the previous
financial year. Consolidated profit attributable to owners
of the Company amounted to HK$275.0 million (2020:
HK$221.4 million), an increase of 24.2% over the profit
attained last year. The increase was mainly attributable
to (a) the gain on disposals of an agricultural land in Ping
Che, 50% interest of a land in Kowloon Tong and 50%
interest of a land at Tong Yan San Tsuen in Yuen Long in
this year; and (b) partially offset by the decrease in gain
on change in fair value of investment properties held by
the Group and through joint ventures in this year.

The basic earnings per share and diluted earnings per
share for the year were HK25.2 cents, representing
increases of 24.1% when compared with HK20.3 cents
last year.

As at 31 March 2021, the net asset value of the Group
amounted to HK$4,137.1 million (2020: HK$3,923.6
million), representing an increase of 5.4% over last
year. Net asset value per share as at 31 March 2021 was
HK$3.75 (2020: HK$3.60).
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Group Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group’s liquidity and financing requirements are
regularly reviewed.

For day-to-day liquidity management and to maintain
flexibility in funding, the Group has access to facilities
from banks and an insurance company with an aggregate
amount of HK$4,304.5 million (HK$2,964.5 million was
secured by first charges over certain leasehold land and
buildings and investment properties of the Group), of
which HK$3,184.5 million bank loans have been drawn
down and approximately HK$302.6 million has been
utilised mainly for the issuance of letters of credit and
performance bonds as at 31 March 2021. The bank loans
under these banking facilities bear interests at prevailing
market interest rates.

The Group follows a prudent policy in managing its cash
balance, and endeavours to maintain its sound cash flow
generating capability, its ability to take on investments
and acquisition projects, in order to enhance shareholder
wealth. The total bank balances and cash of the Group
amounted to HK$706.4 million as at 31 March 2021
(2020: HK$246.1 million), and accounted for 33.7% of the
current assets (2020: 16.9%).
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During the year, the Group has a net cash outflow
of HK$844.4 million in its operating activities (mainly
due to increase in properties under development for
sale, increase in debtors, deposits and prepayments
and the utilisation of provisions), a net cash inflow of
HK$764.9 million in its investing activities (mainly due
to proceeds from disposal of assets classified as held for
sale and investment properties, repayments of loans
from joint ventures and net cash inflows on disposals of
subsidiaries, netting off net cash outflows on acquisitions
of subsidiaries), and a net cash inflow of HK$539.8 million
in its financing activities (mainly due to new bank loans
raised, netting off dividends paid to shareholders and
repayment of bank loans). Net bank borrowings (total
bank loans less total bank balances and cash) amounted
to HK$2,478.1 million as at 31 March 2021 (2020: net
bank borrowings of HK$1,420.2 million). Accordingly, the
gearing ratio of the Group, calculated on the basis of
the Group’s net bank borrowings to shareholders’ funds,
was 59.9% (2020: 36.2%). As at year-end date, the Group
was with a net current liabilities of HK$1,814.7 million
(2020: net current liabilities of HK$999.9 million) and the
current ratio (current assets divided by current liabilities)
was 0.54 time (2020: 0.59 time).

With its cash holdings and available facilities from banks
and an insurance company, the Group’s liquidity position
will remain healthy in the coming year, with sufficient
financial resources to meet its obligations, operation and
future development requirements.
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Treasury Policy

The aim of the Group’s treasury policy is to minimise its
exposure to fluctuations in the exchange rate and not to
engage in any highly leveraged or speculative derivative
products. Treasury transactions unrelated to underlying
financial exposure are not undertaken. Foreign currency
exposures of the Group arise mainly from the purchase
of goods. The Group will determine if any hedging is
required, on an individual basis, depending upon the size
and nature of the exposure, and the prevailing market
circumstances.

In order to enhance the deployment of internal funds
with maximum benefit, to achieve better risk control, and
to minimise cost of funds, the Group’s treasury activities
are centralised and scrutinised by the top management.

The surplus cash which is generally placed with reputable
financial institutions is mostly denominated in Hong
Kong dollar. Most of the income, expenses, assets
and liabilities of the Group are denominated in Hong
Kong dollars. The Group therefore does not have any
significant exposure to gains or losses arising from the
movement of foreign currency exchange rate against the
Hong Kong dollar.
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Shareholders’ Funds

At the year-end date, shareholders’ funds of the Group
were HK$4,137.1 million including reserves of HK$4,026.9
million, an increase of HK$212.3 million from HK$3,814.6
million at 31 March 2020. On that basis, the consolidated
net asset value of the Group as at 31 March 2021 was
HK$3.75 per share, compared to the consolidated net
asset value of HK$3.60 per share as at 31 March 2020. The
increase in shareholders’ funds was mainly attributable
to profits retained after payments of cash dividends and
exercise of share options.

Capital Structure

The Group intends to keep an appropriate mix of equity
and debt to ensure an efficient capital structure over
time. As at 31 March 2021, the Group borrowed Hong
Kong dollar loans amounting to HK$3,184.5 million
from the banks (at 31 March 2020: HK$1,666.4 million).
The borrowings have been used as general working
capital for financing the properties for development and
investment purposes over the years. All of the loans are
repayable within one year. Interest is based on Hong
Kong Interbank Offered Rate plus a competitive margin.
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Major Acquisition and Disposals

Pursuant to the shareholders deed dated 28 March 2018
(the “Shareholders Deed”) executed by a direct wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, Hanison Construction
Holdings (BVI) Limited (“Hanison BVI"”), Hilux Il Cayman
Ltd. (the “Purchaser”) and Gallant Elite Enterprises
Limited (“Gallant Elite”), a joint venture of the Group,
Hanison BVI had granted to the Purchaser a put option,
and pursuant to which the Purchaser was entitled to,
sell back the put interests (i.e. one ordinary share in
Gallant Elite, representing 50% interest held by the
Purchaser in Gallant Elite, and shareholder loan made
available by the Purchaser to Gallant Elite) to Hanison
BVI at the Purchaser’s discretion, at an exercise price as
determined in the manner as set out in the Shareholders
Deed (the “Put Option”). The Put Option was exercisable
by the Purchaser at any time during the period starting
after (and exclusive of) 28 June 2020 and ending on
(and inclusive of) 28 September 2020. On 25 September
2020, Hanison BVI received a notice to exercise the Put
Option from the Purchaser and the transaction was
completed on 28 September 2020 at a consideration
of HK$800,000,000, subject to certain adjustments.
Upon completion, Gallant Elite and its wholly owned
subsidiaries became the wholly owned subsidiaries of the
Company. Gallant Elite and its wholly owned subsidiaries
are engaged in property investment. The major asset
of Gallant Elite and its wholly owned subsidiaries
represented a commercial property “PeakCastle” situated
at No. 476 Castle Peak Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

On 22 December 2020, an indirect wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, Tai Kee Pipes Limited
entered into a sale and purchase agreement with an
independent third party to disposed of various land lots
in Demarcation District No. 76 Ping Che, Fanling, New
Territories, at a consideration of HK$208,552,888. The
transaction has been completed in January 2021.
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On 31 March 2021, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, Hanison BVI, entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with an independent third party to
dispose of 50% interests in and the shareholder’s loan
to Protic Limited at a consideration of approximately
HK$81,746,000 (subject to adjustment). Protic Limited is
engaged in property development. The major asset of
Protic Limited represented various lots in Demarcation
District No.121, Tong Yan San Tsuen, Yuen Long, New
Territories. The disposal was completed on 31 March
2021.

On 31 March 2021, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, Prosper Jade Limited, entered into a
sale and purchase agreement with an independent third
party to dispose of 50% interests in and shareholder’s
loan to Honour Advent Limited together with its wholly
owned subsidiaries, Prime Success Global Limited,
Capital Green Holdings Limited and Fortune Shiner
Development Limited (collectively referred to as “Honour
Advent Group”) at a consideration of approximately
HK$99,978,000 (subject to adjustment). Honour Advent
Group is engaged in property development. The major
asset of Honour Advent Group represented No. 57A, Nga
Tsin Wai Road, Kowloon Tong, Kowloon. The disposal
was completed on 31 March 2021.
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Collateral

As at 31 March 2021, certain leasehold land and buildings
and investment properties of the Group, at the carrying
value of approximately HK$4,055.5 million (at 31 March
2020: certain leasehold land and buildings, investment
properties and properties under development for sale
of the Group, at the carrying value of approximately
HK$2,808.3 million), were pledged to the banks to secure
the Hong Kong dollar loans of HK$2,634.5 million (at 31
March 2020: HK$1,366.4 million).

Performance Bonds

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had outstanding
performance bonds in respect of construction contracts
amounting to HK$195,272,000 (2020: HK$169,323,000).

Commitments

The Group’s share of the commitments made jointly with
other joint venturers relating to the joint ventures, but
not recognised at the end of the reporting period is as
follows:
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICY

The Group is implementing a manpower policy that
aims to maximise the output of existing staff resources
in order to achieve productivity gains. We believe that
through improving our staff’s job-related competencies,
our overall operational efficiency can be improved
without the need for substantial increase in headcount.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group (excluding its joint
ventures) had 485 full time employees. The Group
offers competitive remuneration packages, including
discretionary bonus and share option scheme, to its
employees, commensurable to market level and their
qualifications. The Group also provides retirement
schemes, medical benefits and both in-house and
external training courses for employees.

Employees and directors are remunerated according
to individual and the Group’s performance, industry
trends, prevailing market conditions, the nature of the
job and value creation. The Group recruits and promotes
individuals based on their development potential, merits
and competencies, and ensures that their remuneration
packages are at a reasonable market level. The directors,
eligible full time employees and consultants of the Group
are entitled to participate in the share option scheme
of the Company. The principal terms of the share option
scheme are summarised in the report of the directors.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Good corporate governance practices are crucial to
enhancing shareholder value. With this in mind, the
directors of the Company are keen on maintaining high
standards of corporate governance. This is reflected in
terms of a quality board of directors (“Board”) and the
emphasis on transparency and accountability.

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

Throughout the year ended 31 March 2021, the
Company has complied with all the Code Provisions of
the Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code") as set out
in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
("Stock Exchange”) (“Listing Rules”), except for Code
Provision E.1.2 of the CG Code which stipulates that
the chairman of the board should attend the annual
general meeting. The former Chairman of the Board,
the late Mr. Cha Mou Sing, Payson, was unable to attend
the Company’s 2020 annual general meeting due to
other engagement. The Managing Director took the
chair of that meeting in accordance with the articles of
association of the Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Board and Management

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the
Company and oversees the businesses of the Company
and its subsidiaries (“Group”), and assumes responsibility
for strategy formulation, corporate governance and
performance monitoring. It develops and reviews the
Group’s strategies and policies, formulates business
plans and evaluates performance of the operating
divisions against agreed budgets and targets through
reqular discussion on key and appropriate issues in a
timely manner. It also exercises a number of reserved
powers, including (i) approval of annual and interim
results and significant changes in accounting policy or
capital structure, risk management and internal control
systems, material transactions (in particular those which
may involve conflict of interests), major capital projects;
(ii) setting the Group’s remuneration policy, dividend
policy; (iii) appointment of directors; and (iv) supervision
of management and other significant financial and
operational matters.

The day-to-day management, administration and
operation of the Company are delegated to the
Managing Director and the senior management, who
fulfill their duties within their scope of authority and
responsibility. Divisional heads are responsible for
different aspects of the businesses. Major functions
delegated to management include preparation of annual
and interim results; execution of business strategies and
initiatives adopted by the Board; implementation of
adequate risk management and internal control systems;
and compliance with the relevant statutory requirements.
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All directors are kept informed of major changes that
may affect the Group’s businesses on a timely basis, and
can avail themselves of the advice and services of the
company secretary so that the Board procedures and
all applicable rules and regulations are followed. Each
director can have recourse to independent professional
advice in performing his duties at the Company’s
expense, upon making request to the Board.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover
for directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal
actions against its directors and senior management
arising out of corporate activities.

Board Composition

The composition of the Board reflects the necessary
balance of skills and experience desirable for effective
leadership of the Company and independence in decision
making. The biographies of the directors (and their
relationships, if any) are set out in the “Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management” section
under the “Report of the Directors” of this annual
report, which demonstrate a diversity of skills, expertise,
experience and qualifications.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Board at all
times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating
to the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive directors, representing one-third of the
Board. One of the independent non-executive directors,
namely Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter, possesses the appropriate
professional qualifications and accounting or related
financial management expertise.
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During the year and up to the date of this annual report,
the Board of the Company comprises the following
directors:

Non-executive Chairman
Mr. Cha Mou Sing, Payson
(passed away on 6 November 2020 (PST))

Mr. Cha Mou Daid, Johnson
(appointed as Chairman on 17 November 2020)

Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart (Managing Director)

Mr. Tai Sai Ho (General Manager)

Mr. Lo Kai Cheong (passed away on 18 July 2020)
Mr. Chow Ka Fung (appointed on 3 March 2021)

Non-executive Directors
Dr. Lam Chat Yu (appointed on 3 March 2021)
Dr. Zhang Wei

(ceased to be alternate director

on 6 November 2020 (PST))

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chan Pak Joe

Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter

Dr. Sun Tai Lun

The list of directors (by category) is also disclosed in
all corporate communications issued by the Company
pursuant to the Listing Rules from time to time.

Coming from diverse business and professional
backgrounds, the non-executive directors and
independent non-executive directors bring a wealth of
expertise and experience to the Board, which contributes
to the success of the Group. Through active participation
in Board meetings, taking the lead in managing issues
involving potential conflict of interests and serving
on Board committees, all of them make various
contributions to the effective direction of the Company.
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All independent non-executive directors are free from
any business or other relationships with the Company.
The Company has received written annual confirmation
of independence from each independent non-executive
director in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Company has assessed their independence and
concluded that all independent non-executive directors
are independent within the meaning of the Listing Rules.

Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart (Managing Director of the
Company) together with Ms. Wong Lui Kwok Wai (spouse
of Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart) indirectly own as to an
aggregate of the 50% interest in Queentex Industries
Limited and its subsidiaries and the other 50% interest is
indirectly owned by the late Mr. Cha Mou Sing, Payson
(the former Chairman of the Board). If in case a conflict
of interest arises, those directors or any of their close
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) who have a
material interest will abstain from voting on the relevant
resolution(s).

Save for the information (including the relationships,
if any, among the directors) as disclosed in the
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management”
of this annual report and the business
relationship between the former Chairman and the
Managing Director as disclosed above, there is no other
business, family or other material/relevant
relationship among the directors and between the
Chairman and the Managing Director.

section under the “Report of the

Directors”

financial,
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Board Diversity

A board diversity policy (“Board Diversity Policy”)
was adopted on 26 March 2013 by the Board and the
Nomination Committee will review at least annually
whether board diversity can be achieved. A summary of
the Board Diversity Policy is set out below:

When reviewing board diversity, the Nomination
Committee will consider board diversity from a number
of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service, which form the measureable objectives of the
Board Diversity Policy. The Nomination Committee will
also monitor the implementation of the Board Diversity
Policy and review and recommend revisions of the Board
Diversity Policy (where appropriate) to the Board to
ensure its effectiveness.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The Company established a Nomination Committee on
20 March 2012 to deal with matters in relation to the
appointment and re-election of directors.

Pursuant to the policy for nomination of directors
adopted by the Board on 14 March 2019, where
vacancies on the Board exist, the Nomination Committee
will identify suitable individuals by making reference
to criteria including but not limited to character and
integrity, accomplishment, educational background,
professional qualifications, skills, knowledge, experience
and time commitments of the proposed candidates, the
Company’s needs, the diversity of the Board and other
relevant statutory requirements and regulations. New
directors are sought mainly through referrals or internal
promotion. The appointment of new directors or re-
election of directors is the decision of the Board upon
the recommendation of the proposed candidates by the
Nomination Committee.
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The Company’s circular sent together with this annual
report contains detailed information of the directors
standing for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.

Chairman and Managing Director

The positions of the Chairman and Managing Director
are held by Mr. Cha Mou Daid, Johnson (appointed as the
Chairman on 17 November 2020 in place of the late Mr.
Cha Mou Sing, Payson) and Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart
respectively. The Board has adopted a set of written
terms setting out the roles and duties of the Chairman
and the Managing Director.

The Chairman provides leadership for the effective
functioning of the Board in the overall strategic planning
and development of the Group. With the support of
the Managing Director and senior management, the
Chairman is also responsible for ensuring that the
directors receive adequate, complete and reliable
information in a timely manner and appropriate briefing
on issues arising at Board meetings.

The Managing Director focuses on implementing
objectives, policies and strategies approved by the
Board. He is in charge of the Company’s day-to-day
management and operations. The Managing Director
is also responsible for formulating the organisational
structure, control systems and internal procedures and
processes for the Board'’s approval.

Directors’ Induction and Development

Every newly appointed director is provided with
necessary induction and information to ensure that
he has a proper understanding of the Company’s
operations and businesses as well as his responsibilities
under relevant statutes, laws, rules and regulations. The
directors would be provided from time to time with
updates on latest development and changes to the
Listing Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory
requirements.
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During the year ended 31 March 2021, all directors have
participated in continuous professional development
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. A

summary of training received by the directors is as ZEWTF
follows:
Training Areas
1A E
Accounting/
Corporate Financial/
Governance/ Management
Updates on Laws, or Other

Rules & Regulations Professional Skills

mEER AR g5t MBS
#281) Re 37 51 B9 EIEER
RIEN HE 5k
Non-executive Chairman FEHITERE
Mr. Cha Mou Daid, Johnson ERMELE v v
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart FERE v v
(Managing Director) (EFARATE)
Mr. Tai Sai Ho (General Manager) &t S &4 (FEACHE) v v
Mr. Chow Ka Fung BEELXE v v
Non-executive Directors ERITES
Dr. Lam Chat Yu MEFIEL v v
Dr. Zhang Wei SRIZE L v v
Independent Non-executive BIJERITES
Directors
Mr. Chan Pak Joe PRIBIESEE v v
Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter 2 FEE L v v
Dr. Sun Tai Lun BARmiEL v v
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Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code")
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the
guideline for securities transactions by directors and
employees who are likely to be in possession of inside
information of the Company.

Specific enquiry has been made to all the directors and
the directors have confirmed that they have complied
with the Model Code throughout the year ended 31
March 2021 or the period from the appointment date to
31 March 2021 (for the directors appointed during the
year).

Company Secretary

The company secretary has the day-to-day knowledge of
the affairs of the Company. She plays a role in supporting
to the Board by ensuring good information flow within
the Board and that the Board policies and procedures
are duly followed. She also acts as the secretary of the
Board committees to ensure that all records of meeting
proceedings, discussion and decision of such Board
committees are properly kept. All directors could have
access to the advice and services of the company secretary
to ensure that the Board procedures and all applicable
laws, rules and regulations are followed. During the year
ended 31 March 2021, the company secretary has taken
no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training in
accordance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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BOARD AND COMMITTEES

Board Proceedings

The Board held four regular meetings and one non-
regular meeting during the year ended 31 March 2021

and the principal businesses transacted include:

o Assessing the business performance and planning
the future business directions;

o Approving the Company’s interim and final results
and reports;

o Approving the business activities and property
transactions of the Group;

o Determining the payment of dividend;

o Reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems;

e Approving the Company’s environmental, social and
governance report;

e Approving the proposed amendments to the
Company's articles of association;

o Approving the proposed adoption of a new share
option scheme;

° Approving the appointment of company secretary
of the Company;

o Approving the appointment of new Chairman of
the Company; and

o Approving the appointments of non-executive
director and executive director of the Company.
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Meeting schedules are normally made available to the
directors in advance. Notices of regular Board meetings
are given to all the directors at least 14 days before the
meetings. For other Board and committee meetings,
reasonable notice is generally given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete
and reliable information are sent to all the directors at
least 3 days (as far as practicable) before each Board
meeting or committee meeting to keep the directors
apprised of the latest developments and financial
position of the Group and to enable them to make
informed decisions. The Board and each director also
have separate and independent access to the senior
management whenever necessary. The directors receive
regular supply of information about the business
activities, financial highlights and operations review
so that they are well informed prior to participation in
Board meetings.

The Company's articles of association contain provisions
requiring directors to abstain from voting and not to
be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving
transactions in which such directors or any of their
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) have a material
interest.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee of the Company has been
established since December 2001. The Audit Committee
comprises three independent non-executive directors
and Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter is the chairman of the Audit
Committee and possesses appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2)
of the Listing Rules. None of the members of the Audit
Committee is a partner or former partner of Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu, the Company’s existing external
auditor. Members of the Audit Committee are as follows:

Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter (Chairman of the committee)*
Mr. Chan Pak Joe*
Dr. Sun Tai Lun?*

# independent non-executive director

The major duties of the Audit Committee include the
following:

o Reviewing the Company’s financial statements and
reports and considering any significant or unusual
items raised by the qualified accountant or external
auditor before submission to the Board;

o Making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, re-appointment and removal of
external auditor, approving their remuneration
and terms of engagement and reviewing and
monitoring the external auditor’s independence and
objectivity;

o Reviewing and reporting to the Board on the
adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s financial
reporting system, risk management and internal
control systems and associated procedures, with the
assistance of the Risk Management Committee and
the outsourced internal audit function;
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Reviewing the Group’s operating, financial and
accounting policies and practices; and

Reporting to the Board on the matters in the CG
Code.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year
ended 31 March 2021 and the major works performed
are as follows:

Reviewing and recommending for the Board's
approval the Company’s financial results and reports
for the year ended 31 March 2020 and for the six
months ended 30 September 2020;

Recommending to the Board the re-appointment of
external auditor for the year ended 31 March 2021;

Reviewing the internal control systems of the
Group; and

Reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems.

The Company’s annual results for the year ended
31 March 2021 have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee of the Company was
established on 20 March 2012. Members of the
Nomination Committee are as follows:

Mr. Chan Pak Joe (Chairman of the committee)*
Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart

Mr. Tai Sai Ho

Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter*

Dr. Sun Tai Lun?

#

independent non-executive director
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The major duties of the Nomination Committee include
the following:

/0

Reviewing the structure, size and composition
(including skills, knowledge, experience and
diversity of perspectives) of the Board at least
annually and making recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy;

Identifying individuals suitably qualified to
become Board members and selecting or making
recommendations to the Board on the selection of
individuals nominated for directorship;

Assessing the independence of independent non-
executive directors of the Company;

Making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of directors of the
Company and succession planning for directors of
the Company in particular the Chairman and the
Managing Director; and

Reviewing the Board Diversity Policy and the
progress on achieving the objectives set for
implementing the policy.
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The Nomination Committee held one meeting during
the year ended 31 March 2021 and the major works
performed are as follows:

° Reviewing the structure, size and composition of the
Board;

o Assessing the independence of the independent
non-executive directors of the Company;

o Reviewing and making recommendations to
the Board on the re-appointment of directors
subject to retirement from office by rotation at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company;

o Reviewing the Board Diversity Policy; and

o Assessing and making recommendations to the
Board on the appointments of non-executive
director and executive director of the Company.

Remuneration Committee

The Company set up the Remuneration Committee in
December 2004 which replaced the Bonus Committee
established in December 2001. Members of the
Remuneration Committee are as follows:

Dr. Sun Tai Lun (Chairman of the committee)*
Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart

Mr. Tai Sai Ho

Mr. Chan Pak Joe*

Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter*

* independent non-executive director
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The major duties of the Remuneration Committee
include the following:

Formulating remuneration policy and practices and
determining the remuneration packages of the
executive directors and the senior management; and

Ensuring no director or any of his associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) participating in
deciding his own remuneration.

In determining the remuneration, the Remuneration
Committee reviewed background information such as key

economic indicators, market/sector trend, headcount and
staff costs.

The Remuneration Committee held three meetings
during the year ended 31 March 2021 and the major
works performed are as follows:

/2

Approving the maximum bonus pool and the actual
bonus amount to be distributed to the executive
directors, senior management and other employees
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021;

Approving the proposed bonus payment to the late
Mr. Lo Kai Cheong, the former executive director of
the Company;

Reviewing and determining the salary adjustment
for the executive directors, senior management
and other employees of the Group for the year
commenced 1 April 2021; and

Reviewing the director’s fee for the new non-
executive director of the Company and approving
the remuneration package for the new executive
director of the Company.
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Other Board Committees

In addition to delegating specific responsibilities to the
Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee, the Board also established the
following Board committees:

Name of Committee

ZEgRE ZEEZHEM

Composition of Committee

HthWEFEZ8T

EXERTHTFEREZET - RLZEEER
HNEZEEREMEN  TFRILTUTES
%89

Role and Function of Committee

ZEgZABREAE

General Business Committee
(established in April 2002)
—REHEEEG
(R ZEEZFMFEIT)

Company

ERABERATES

Property Acquisition/Disposal

Committee (established in Company
April 2002) AT ZRWITES
Whg,HEMELZEE

(R ZEE_FIHET)

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the General
Business Committee held four meetings for approving
(i) the bank loan facility to joint venture; (ii) the change
of signing arrangement of dividend accounts; (iii) the
appointment of new primary authorised person for use
of e-submission system of the Stock Exchange; and (iv)
the classification and submission under the International
Tax Co-operation (Economic Substance) Law in the
Cayman Islands.

The Property Acquisition/Disposal Committee adopted
resolutions in writing for approving a property
transaction within the authority delegated by the Board,
during the year ended 31 March 2021.

All the executive directors of the To handle the Company’s

general business within a
designated threshold

EHEEHERNEERRTZ—HK
=%

All the executive directors of the To handle the Company’s

acquisition/disposal of
property within a
designated threshold

TIEEHERNEEEAATMEZ
WehE,HE

RB&E_T_—F=-A=+—HLEFE> —
REFZETARORGZUMENETE D
FRITERME, (NEARBERFEER
B (MERMIAEFERXRRREENHN
FEREREA; R(iVIRER S5 SNEIKRR
BEE(REEE ENEKRER

RBE_E_—F=ZA=+—HLFE I
B/ HEMEZEERMEMAREUNME
EXEREEEAN—EMERS -
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Attendance Record of Directors and Committee
Members

The attendance record of each director at general
meeting, Board and committee meetings held during the
year ended 31 March 2021 is set out below:

EFREZESGHEHERLER

RBE_E_—F=-A=+—HLFE &
EFHFERTHRRAE - EFEREET
SR ERIINT

Nomination Remuneration
Annual General Audit Committee Committee Committee
Meeting' Board Meetings" Meetings" Meetings" Meetings'
Name of Director EEiL RREERY EZEeE EBERZEYER RLZEYEE' FMZEges
Mr. Cha Mou Sing, Payson* TRBLL 01 33w N/ATR B N/ARIER® N/ATRE R
Mr. Cha Mou Daid, Johnson* EERE 0N 5/5 N/ARE R N/AR e N/ATR e
(Chairman) (£E)
Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart THERE 17" 5/5 N/ATER 11 33
(Managing Director) (EFHLE)
Mr. Tai Sai Ho BHREE 17N 5/5 N/ATE e 1N 33
(General Manager) (48 45EE)
Mr. Lo Kai Cheong"" EREKLE N/ATRER 1n N/ATR B N/ARIER® N/ATRE R
Mr. Chow Ka Fung™ BEEREX N/ATRER N/ATEF N/ATR B N/ARIER® N/ARIE R
Dr. Lam Chat Yu* WEFEL NARER 170 N/ARE R N/AR e N/AR e
Dr. Zhang Wei* RIBEL n 4/5 N/ATR B N/ARIER® N/ATRE R
Mr. Chan Pak Joe* BRafkRE on 5/5 22 110 33
Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter* RS kg 17N 5/5 22 110 33
Dr. Sun Tai Lun* HAfmEL on 5/5 22 110 33
Notes: BEE -

. The annual general meeting was held on 25 August 2020.
The auditor of the Company, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
attended such meeting.

Il During the year, four regular and one non-regular Board
meetings were held.

.  Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter is the Chairman of the Audit
Committee.

IV. Mr. Chan Pak Joe is the Chairman of the Nomination
Committee.
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l. ZREBEAGR _E_EFEN\B_-_+HH
BIT o R RNEZEENES) o BAEBRS L sHED
THRETZKG-

. RER FABHBITTERERKR—RIE
BHREFgEH

n. AFREBELABERZEGIE-

V. BREkEERRREETERE-
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V. Dr. Sun Tai Lun is the Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee.

VI.  Mr. Cha Mou Sing, Payson, the former Chairman of the
Board, passed away on 6 November 2020 (PST).

VIl. Two meetings attended by the alternate director of Mr.
Cha were included.

VIIl. Mr. Lo Kai Cheong, a former executive director, passed
away on 18 July 2020.

IX. Mr. Chow Ka Fung has been appointed as an executive
director of the Company with effect from 3 March 2021.

X.  Dr. Lam Chat Yu has been appointed as a non-executive
director of the Company with effect from 3 March 2021.

* non-executive director

# independent non-executive director

A the director is/was not a member of the relevant
committee

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board oversees the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group and reviews their
effectiveness on an ongoing basis. During the year,
the Board, as supported by the Audit Committee and
the Risk Management Committee, has conducted an
annual review of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems covering all
material controls, including financial, operational and
compliance controls. The Group’s risk management
and internal control systems are designed to provide
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss; to manage rather than completely
eliminate the risk of system failure; and to assist in the
achievement of the Group’s agreed objectives and goals.
The risk management and internal control systems of the
Group are considered effective and adequate.

V. BARELAFMEEEEXE-

V. FEEFEEEIREREBEENR_T_ZE
T+—ARB (KFEFRERR) gt o

VI. SEEREZETEFHENMREE

VIl. BIfERITESERERENR TS 2ZEF+A
+/\H Bt o

IX. RARERFEFE_ZE-_—F=-H=HEESHF
ABERATNITES-

X. MEFELEZZ_—F-A=-HEEZE
RERBFATES-

* JFRITESR
f OBIIFRITES

L RERLIFEMEZEEME

[ B TR R PO P R

EXEREEErEEZAREERASE
ERERGHEANE -RER > TBEREES
EREREERZEENXF T EFEHE
EEREMAEAGEREFRZEAREEUR
BEEZRMZARMETEESR 81
M EENMEREE -TERZRBEER
NEEERAMEEM A FEERIERMRIALK
BRRESE (BIFEH) 2RE; €12 (B3F
FTEHR) RRKRRZAR ; ARG RER
ERMEZTRERER - FEEZARER
RAMEERFRRBSBERKRTRE
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During the year and subsequent to the year end, the
Board engaged external consultants and professionals
to assist the Company in performing risk assessment
and to conduct an agreed review over the Group’s
internal control systems for evaluating the effectiveness
of the systems. No significant risk issues were identified
and appropriate measures have been taken to address
the identified areas for improvement. The Company
adopted a risk management policy and formed the
Risk Management Committee chaired by the Managing
Director and with members comprising the General
Manager and various divisions’ senior staff members.
Systems and procedures are put in place to identify,
evaluate, manage and monitor the risks of different
businesses and activities. Regular monitoring of the
risk management and internal control systems is mainly
performed by each of the key divisions/business units
who are required to conduct risk self-assessment and to
submit risk assessment results and action plans to the
Risk Management Committee. The Audit Committee and
the Risk Management Committee monitor and assess
the risk management systems and the risk management
issues, support and advice from external consultants and
professionals (internal audit function as outsourced) to
perform independent reviews on the risk management
systems are sought as and when required. Review on the
risk management and internal control systems has to be
performed at least annually to assess the effectiveness of
the systems in monitoring and managing risks.

The Company has also maintained a tailored governance
structure with clear lines of responsibility and
appropriate delegation of responsibility and authority
to the senior management, who are accountable for
the conduct and performance of the respective business
divisions under their supervision.

RERARREERR EFGEREINDEERM
REEANTHBA QB ETE RG> 2
RERBZ ABRREEER R ETRE R UTE
AMZANM -BEERENRARHEE M
MEHFAEZ MG TR T BEHEE
2o AA T B RN RRR B EREER > ML IR R
EELZEE HEFREHEETEFE HEE
EREERSIPANSRBE -BERIARR
RA2FF s AR sl s B REERER
URkEEz R BEEERAEEZERR
EHERTEHKMEIFEHEET
Z RSP, E B AETREE KT
i R BT E R RITE B TRKRE
BELZEgER BENZEERAREEEZS
BEERNLRABREERAKKAKREES
B URBERSRIMIBERREEAL O
HB R EZEAE) X BERER  UHER
ERRRETHIZER MEREERAI
EERMAT VD SFETER  UFE&EF
AERNEEREERRTEZARIE

ARBTEHF—ESENELRE HE
HEARBRHNAE HETFTESREEAEDN
BERERERTAEENHRE  REHZEE
BEEENERHMZEENRTEBE -
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The directors review monthly management reports on
the financial results, statistics and project progress of
each business division. Monthly management meetings
are held to review business performance against budgets,
forecasts and risk management strategies. Any major
variances are highlighted for investigation and control
purposes.

A centralised cash management system is maintained to
oversee the Group's investment and borrowing activities.
There are established guidelines and procedures for the
approval and control of expenditures. The aim is to keep
the expenditure level in line with the annual budget
and within the cost budget of an approved project.
Expenditures are subject to overall budget control with
various approval levels set by reference to the level of
responsibility of each manager and officer. Depending
on the nature and value, procurement of certain goods
and services are required to go through the tendering
process. No individual in the Group, irrespective of their
rank and position, are allowed to dominate the entire
expenditure process from commitment to payment.

The Group also regulates the handling and the
dissemination of inside information to the public in an
equal and timely manner in accordance with applicable
laws and regulations. Senior management executives
of the financial control functions of the Group are
delegated with responsibilities to control and monitor
the proper procedures to be observed on the disclosure
of inside information.

EETEERGANEEERS  BERE
BEFINM B ER Mt KRB EE - BAT
RTEEESR URRE -RAKRKRER
REAEEREFRERE LIERMEEEM
=82 UFHEREE

FEBERF—EFRREEERF UEE
FEBNKRERMERES - —RIHLERE
HAXHNESI REFEERY  BHNEER
XHNKFREEERERSEEHENEE
ZTREMNAR - AR EREARERR
#oMEASREERTERERIEERER
B EERR - RBEMEREE BEET
EmRRBEERENERE -FEERR

—EA (FHRESHRBER) REFBEERE
HABEMRNEERBER -

FEBTRBEREZRRERRAEEE > I
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RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board is responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements. In preparing the
consolidated financial statements, Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards have been adopted, appropriate
accounting policies have been applied, and reasonable
and prudent judgments and estimates have been made.
The reporting responsibilities of the external auditor on
the consolidated financial statements of the Company are
set out in the "Independent Auditor’s Report” section of
this annual report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to the external auditor of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2021 is set out
below:

HRAMBERRZAE

EXFCRERNGOMBRR -ERRES
BRI EXCERMNETEUHTRSEE
A EASEZEFTER T EHSEMEIR
BYH R e b 51 o SRR BEN R A A B &R S/
BHRERZBSEERINNEFR BILEHK
Bk &I —EiR -

A% 24 B v B

BE_E_—F=A=+—HLEEE XA
B fISMNBIRBEN 2 S B HIA T

HK$000

ABIETT

Audit Services BIZIRF 3,500

Non-audit Services: IEBIZARTS -

Reviewing the financial results and report for ERBE_T-_TFNABA=1+H

the six months ended 30 September 2020 WEHRERZMBHRERRSE 660

Taxation and other services 1A R H fth AR 75 44

TOTAL HazE 4,204
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on 14 March
2019 setting out the principles and guidelines relating
to the declaration, payment or distribution of its net
profits as dividends to the Company’s shareholders. In
recommending or declaring dividends, the Board shall
take into account the following factors of the Group:

(i) financial results;

(i) cash flow situation;

(iii) availability of distributable profits;

(iv) business conditions and strategies;

(v) future operations and earnings;

(vi) cash requirements;

(vii) expected capital requirements and expenditure
plans;

(viii) interests of shareholders as a whole;

(ix) any restrictions on declaration and/or payment of
dividends; and

(x) any other factors that the Board may consider
relevant.

The Board will review the dividend policy from time to
time.

g SR
FABRERZZE-NAF=ZA+HBRMNEKRSE
KR A ERRARATRRRE IR KK
DIREFHAIERREZRAKRIES - #&
HERRER EFEREEFEETIE
=:

(i) PAFEERLE;

(i) BWEREBER

(i) AIIFEER RER

(iv) ZEFBRTMREE ;

(v) REREEMUE

(vi) REHBXK;

(vii) TREAEARERRHEE ;

(viii) BRERBIEEREF a5 ;

(ix) ERAMKREERR,FIKEHRE ; &

(x) EEFGUEIAEMNTAHEHMEER-

EFERAFRRARSEE-
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SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS

The general meetings of the Company provide a forum
for exchange of views between the shareholders and the
Board. The Chairman of the Board as well as Chairmen
of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee, or in their absence, other
members of the Board or the respective committees, and
where applicable, the independent Board committee, are
available to answer questions at the general meetings.

Separate resolutions are proposed at general meetings
on each substantial issue, including the election of
individual directors.

To ensure compliance with the CG Code, the notice
of annual general meeting, the annual report and
the circular containing information on the proposed
resolutions will be sent to shareholders at least twenty
clear business days before the meeting. Voting at annual
general meeting or other general meeting will be
conducted by way of a poll. The results of the poll will be
published on the day of general meeting by posting on
the Stock Exchange and the Company’s websites.

R REF R EERME

AABKRRAERRRREFTFRMUA—(E
RRERNTE -EFGXFEREZEZEE
RE2ZEGRFMNEZEEGNER (FEMF
RE NEFEHAERZETHNHEMBE) U
REBIEELZEE WER) TERRRERE
LR ERE

RRRAEL - BREEEFEEERIRLR
&E BEENEREZESR-

HERTEEEERTR RREFAEE
ST FRRBARIREZRBRAMERNZE
MR AERITMELE-HEEXARAK
REX -RRBAFAGHHEMBRRAG R
BREARNETRR - REERBIRRKRE
= BRSPS R A A B HIE A A o
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Convening of Extraordinary General Meeting and
Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

General meetings shall be convened:

(i) on the written requisition of any two members of
the Company deposited at the principal office of the
Company in Hong Kong (22/F, Kings Wing Plaza 1, 3
On Kwan Street, Shek Mun, Shatin, New Territories,
Hong Kong), specifying the objects of the meeting
and signed by the requisitionists, provided that such
requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company which carries the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company; or

(ii) on the written requisition of any one member of
the Company which is a recognised clearing house
(or its nominee) deposited at the principal office
of the Company in Hong Kong (22/F, Kings Wing
Plaza 1, 3 On Kwan Street, Shek Mun, Shatin, New
Territories, Hong Kong), specifying the objects
of the meeting and signed by the requisitionist,
provided that such requisitionist held as at the date
of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth
of the paid up capital of the Company which carries
the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company.

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of
deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene the
meeting, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them
representing more than one-half of the total voting
rights of all of them, may convene the general meeting in
the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which
the meeting may be convened by the Board provided
that any meeting so convened shall not be held after the
expiration of three months from the date of deposit of
the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board
shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.
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Procedures for Nomination of Director

Any shareholder who wishes to nominate a person to
stand for election as a director at general meeting, the
following documents must be validly served on the
company secretary at the Company’s principal office in
Hong Kong (22/F, Kings Wing Plaza 1, 3 On Kwan Street,
Shek Mun, Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong) within
the period commencing on the day after despatch of the
notice of a general meeting appointed for election of
director and ending no later than 7 days prior to the date
of such meeting:

(i) notice in writing signed by the shareholder of his/
her intention to propose such person for election
("Nominated Candidate”);

(ii) notice in writing signed by the Nominated
Candidate of his/her willingness to be elected; and

(iii) the biographical details of the Nominated
Candidate as required under Rule 13.51(2) of the
Listing Rules for publication by the Company.

Constitutional Documents

At the annual general meeting of the Company held
on 25 August 2020, a special resolution was passed by
the shareholders of the Company approving certain
amendments to the Company’s articles of association
to (i) provide flexibility to the Company in relation
to the conduct of general meetings including to
allow the Company’s general meetings to be held by
physical and/or virtual attendance; and (ii) remove the
requirement for a special resolution in the event of
a reduction in the capital redemption reserve or any
share premium account of the Company to provide the
Board with more flexibility when considering dividend
distributions. Details of the amendments were set out
in the Company’s announcement dated 23 June 2020
and circular dated 23 July 2020. The amended articles
of association is available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.
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Shareholders’ and Other Stakeholders’ Enquiries

The Company continues to enhance communications and
relationships with its investors. Enquiries from investors
are dealt with in an informative and timely manner.
Shareholders and other stakeholders may communicate
with the Board by addressing their enquiries and
concerns to the company secretary through the following
channels:

Hanison Construction Holdings Limited
Attention: Company Secretary

22/F.,, Kings Wing Plaza 1

3 On Kwan Street

Shek Mun

Shatin, New Territories

Hong Kong

By mail:

By email: info@hanison.com

By telephone: (852) 2414 3889

By fax: (852) 2490 3341

In addition, if shareholders have any enquiries about
their shareholdings and entitlement to dividend, they can
contact the Hong Kong share registrar of the Company
using the details below:

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17/F., Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wan Chai, Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2862 8628

Fax: (852) 2865 0990

To promote effective communication, the Company
also maintains a website at www.hanison.com, where
extensive information and updates on the Company’s
business developments and operations, financial
information and other information are posted.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
HEGHREE

The board of directors (“Board”) presents its report and
the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries (“Group”) for the year
ended 31 March 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company.
The principal activities of its subsidiaries, associate and
joint ventures are set out in notes 50, 19 and 20 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Further discussion and review on the business activities
of the Group as required by Schedule 5 to the Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
including the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Group and an indication of likely future development
in the Group’s business are set out in the Chairman’s
Statement (on pages 6 to 15), Operations Review (on
pages 16 to 47), Financial Review (on pages 48 to 56) and
the notes to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year
using financial key performance indicators is provided
in the Financial Highlights (on page 5) and Operations
Review (on page 16) of this annual report.

Details of the Group’s financial risk management and
particulars of the Group’s material events occurred after
the year end date are disclosed in notes 48 and 51 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.
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RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2021 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss on page 128.

The first interim dividend of HK2.5 cents per share (2020:
HK2.5 cents per share) amounting to HK$27,273,000 were
paid to the shareholders during the year.

With effect from the year ended 31 March 2021, the
Company intends to pay two interim dividends instead
of interim dividend and final dividend. Second interim
dividend will be in lieu of final dividend.

The Board has declared a second interim dividend (in lieu
of a final dividend) of HK5.0 cents per share for the year
ended 31 March 2021 (2020: final dividend HK5.0 cents
per share) to shareholders whose names appear on the
register of members on 7 July 2021. The second interim
dividend will be paid on 19 July 2021.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the movements in the investment properties of
the Group during the year are set out in note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and
equipment of the Group during the year are set out in
note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS #H&
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RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group
during the year are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on page 132.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY

The Company’s reserves available for distribution
to shareholders as at 31 March 2021 comprised the
aggregate of share premium and accumulated profits of
HK$701,333,000 (2020: HK$777,681,000).

Under the articles of association of the Company,
dividends may be declared and paid out of the profits
of the Company, realised or unrealised, or from any
reserves set aside from profits which the directors of the
Company determine is no longer needed. Dividends may
also be declared and paid out of share premium account
subject to a solvency test as set out in section 34 of the
Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated
and revised) of the Cayman Islands.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the
Company during the year are set out in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL MATTERS

The Company establishes and delegates the corporate
social responsibility committee (“CSR Committee”) to
formulate the Group’s environmental and social policies
and strategies as well as to oversee the implementation
undertaken by the Safety and Environmental Department
and Corporate Social Responsibility and Communications
Department. For more details of the Group’s
performances and management approach regarding
the environmental and social aspects, please refer to
the environmental, social and governance report of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2021 which will
be published on the websites of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) and the Company
on or before 19 October 2021.

Environmental Policy and Performance

The Group has adopted environmental and energy
policies in accordance with ISO 14001 Environmental
Management System, certified by Hong Kong
Quality Assurance Agency, since 2002 and ISO 50001
Energy Management System, certified by Hong Kong
Certification Services International Limited, since 2013.
These policies state clearly the direction and guidelines
for corresponding subsidiaries of the Company to follow
on a gradual basis.
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We strive for better environmental performances every
year. In 2020/2021, our performances were widely
recognised. Our Construction Division obtained several
green awards such as the Green Contractor Award 2019
— Bronze Award; Considerate Contractors Site Award
Scheme - Outstanding Environmental Management
and Performance Award (Public Works-New Works)
— Merit Award; Considerate Contractors Site Award
Scheme - Outstanding Environmental Management and
Performance Award (Non-Public Works-New Works)
— Merit Award; and the Hong Kong Construction
Association — Hong Kong Construction Environmental
Awards — 2020 Environmental Merit Award; while our
head office sustained the Indoor Air Quality Certificate
(Excellent Class) issued by the Environmental Protection
Department.

Social Policy and Performance

The corporate social responsibility policy statement
was renewed and signed by the Managing Director in
March 2020. It has outlined the Group’s strengthened
commitment on sustainability covering both the social
and environmental aspects, in view to achieve long-term
benefits of our stakeholders and the community. The CSR
Committee regularly reviews the statement to ensure
it aligns with our Company vision, mission and values,
the up to date regulatory requirements and evolving
stakeholders’ expectations.

We have been investing in the community by means
of organising or participating in community activities
serving the underprivileged, elderly, children, youth and
schools. Sponsorship and donation in terms of financial
or in-kind support are made for charity organisations
or non-government organisations. With the support
from the Group’s staff and their family members, our
corporate volunteer team continues to grow and make
contribution to the society.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group is committed to complying with the relevant
laws and regulations imposed by the Government of
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region and the
People’s Republic of China (“PRC"). We conduct on-
going review of the newly enacted or revised laws and
regulations and provide relevant trainings and guidance
to the staff on a need basis.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES,
BUSINESS PARTNERS AND OTHERS

The Group treasures the relationship with all
stakeholders and endeavours to engage them through
different initiatives and channels. In particular, we value
our human capital. We review regularly and provide
competitive compensation and benefits, remuneration
packages, training programmes, and staff engagement
activities to attract, nurture and retain talents and
employees.

A long-standing relationship with business partners
brings benefits for the Group as well as suppliers and
customers. In addition to maintaining trusted business
relationship, we also engage our business partners in the
pursuit of better performance in business operations,
environmental impact, and community investment.

The Group encourages staff volunteering especially in the
community which we operate in. Positive site-community
relationship is definitely our priority. We maintain close
communications with the stakeholders in the community
and work closely with relevant parties to initiate
programmes aiming to address the community concerns.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s former share option scheme (“2011 Share
Option Scheme"”) was adopted by the Company on 21
September 2011 and was terminated on 25 August 2020.
Share options granted prior to the termination continue
to be valid and exercisable in accordance with the 2011
Share Option Scheme.

The Company adopted a new share option scheme
(“Scheme”) on 25 August 2020, all executive or non-
executive directors and full-time employees of, and
consultants employed on a contract basis by, any member
of the Group are eligible to participate in the Scheme.
No options have been granted under the Scheme since its
adoption.

The purpose of the Scheme is to provide the participants
with the opportunity to acquire proprietary interest in
the Company and to encourage them to work towards
enhancing the value of the Company and its shares for
the benefit of the Company and its shareholders as a
whole.

(a) Maximum number of shares available for
issue

The total number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the Scheme and any other schemes of the Company
shall not exceed 10% of the shares of the Company
in issue on the date of the approval of the Scheme,
subject to renewal as approved by the shareholders
of the Company. The total number of shares
available for issue under the Scheme is 109,092,467,
which represents 9.9% of the issued shares of the
Company as at the date of this annual report.
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(b) Maximum entitlement of each participant

(M

)

The total number of shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted to
each participant (including both exercised and
outstanding options) in any 12-month period
shall not exceed 1% of the Company’s shares
in issue unless otherwise approved by the
shareholders of the Company.

Where any grant of options to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive
director of the Company, or any of their
respective associates (as defined in the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (“Listing Rules”)), would result in the
shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
all options already granted and to be granted
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding
options) to such person in the 12-month period
up to and including the date of such grant:

(i) representing in aggregate over 0.1%
(or such other percentage as may from
time to time be specified by the Stock
Exchange) of the Company’s shares in
issue; and

(i) having an aggregate value, based on
the closing price of the shares of the
Company on the date of grant, in excess
of HK$5.0 million (or such other amount
as may from time to time be specified by
the Stock Exchange),

such grant of options shall be subject to
prior approval by the shareholders of the
Company, such grantee, his associates and all
core connected persons of the Company shall
abstain from voting at such general meeting.

(c) Option period

The period within which the grantee may exercise
the option shall be notified by the Board to the
grantee at the time of making an offer, but such
period shall not expire later than ten years from the
date of grant.
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(d)

(e)

4

(9)

92

Time of exercise of option

At the time of making an offer, the Company must
specify the minimum period(s), if any, for which an
option under the Scheme must be held before it can
be exercised in whole or in part.

Amount payable on acceptance of offer

A payment to the Company of HK$1 as
consideration for the grant shall be paid on the
acceptance of the offer by the grantee. The offer
of grant of option must be accepted within 14 days
(or such other period of days as determined by the
Board from time to time) after the date of offer.

Basis of determining exercise price of option

The exercise price of the option shall be no less than
the highest of:

(i) the closing price of the shares of the Company
as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued
by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant,
which must be a business day;

(ii) the average closing price of the shares of the
Company as stated in the daily quotations
sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the
five business days immediately preceding the
date of grant; and

(iii) the nominal value of a share of the Company

on the date of grant.

Remaining life of the Scheme

The Scheme has a life of ten years commencing on
the adoption date and will expire on 24 August
2030 unless otherwise terminated in accordance
with the terms of the Scheme.
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Details of the movement of share options under the

FR —E——BRESEETZER

2011 Share Option Scheme during the year were as Rz SE3FHBUWT -
follows:
Approximate
percentage of
Balance Exercised Balance issued share
asat  during the as at capital
Exercise 1.4.2020 year Lapsed 31.3.2021 (Note vi)
Category or price RZZE_EE (Noteii)  duringthe WZB-—%F {(EERTRE
Name of participant Date of grant pershare  Exercise period (Vote ) ~ MA—HZ  REHE yer ZA=+-0 HUAESH
SEEEYAMA bt =k BROEE  GEHE ) i i) RERKH 258 (i)
Directors of the Company
FARZES
Cha Mou Daid, Johnson 5.9.2017 HK$1.54 5.9.2017 t0 4.9.2022 5,192,000 - - 5,192,000 0.47%
BiE —2-tFnBIA Als1san ZE—tEABERAE
ZEZZFHhAMA
18.10.2019 HK$1.16 18.10.2019 to 17.10.2024 5,454,000 - - 5,454,000 0.49%
ZE-nE+ATNA A6 ZE-AETATNRE
2 mE+A+tH
Wong Sue Toa, Stewart 18.10.2019 HK$1.16 18.10.2019t0 17.10.2024 10,909,000  (10,909,000) - - -
Tz “E-nETATAR As16n ZE-AETBTNARE
2 mE+A+tH
Tai Sai Ho 18.10.2019 HK$1.16 18.10.2019 to 17.10.2024 5,454,000 - - 5,454,000 0.49%
By e “E-nETATAR As16n ZE-AETBTNARE
2 mE+A+tH
Chow Ka Fung 5.9.2017 HK$1.54 5.9.2017 t0 4.9.2022 - - - 1,485,000 0.13%
BEE —2-tFnBIA BE154w ZZ—tENARAE (Note ii)
ZEZ”%hAMA (i)
18.10.2019 HK$1.16 18.10.2019 to 17.10.2024 - - - 1,898,000 0.17%
“E-nETATAR As16n ZE-AETBTNARE (Note ii)
ZZ-ME+ATEH (i)
Zhang Wei 18.10.2019 HK$1.16 18.10.2019 to 17.10.2024 100,000 - - 100,000 0.01%
RIE Z2-nE+ATN\A AEer ZE-AETATNRE
2 mE+A+tH
Chan Pak Joe 18.10.2019 HK$1.16 18.10.2019 to 17.10.2024 1,090,000 - - 1,090,000 0.09%
Rz Z2-nE+ATN\A AEer ZE-AETATNRE
2 mE+A+tH
Lau Tze Yiu, Peter 18.10.2019 HK$1.16 18.10.2019 to 17.10.2024 905,000 - - 905,000 0.08%
2712 Z2-nE+ATN\A AEer ZE-AETATNRE
2 mE+A+tH
Sun Tai Lun 18.10.2019 HK$1.16 18.10.2019 to 17.10.2024 1,090,000 - - 1,090,000 0.09%
VN Z2-nE+ATN\A AEer ZE-AETATNRE
2 mE+A+tH
30,194,000 (10,909,000) - 22,668,000
(Note iii)
(Hystiii)
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Approximate
percentage of
Balance Exercised Balance issued share
asat  during the as at capital
Exercise 1.4.2020 year Lapsed 31.3.2021 (Note vi)
Category or price RIEZFE (Note ) duringthe WZZEZ—F {FEETRE
Name of participant Date of grant pershare  Exercise period (Vote) ~ WMA—BZ  RERF yer ZA=+-H HAESL
SEEFEUANS #ias SROEE  ERRE W) i (i)  RERXY 25t (Histvi)
Employees of the Group 5.9.2017 HK$1.54 5.9.2017 t0 4.9.2022 3,205,000 - (175,000) 1,545,000 0.14%
FEEZEE “Z-tENARA B1sar ZE-tENRRBE (Note i)
—2_"FhAMNA (Histiii)
18.10.2019 HK$1.16  18.10.2019t0 17.10.2024 13,909,000 (291,000) (227,0000 11,493,000 1.04%
“Z-NE+ATNR Ao ZE-AEHATN\RE (Note i)
“ECmETATER (Histiii)
17,114,000 (291,000) (402,000) 13,038,000
(Note i)
(i)
Other participants 18.10.2019 HK$1.16 18.10.2019 t0 17.10.2024 10,909,000 - - 10,909,000 0.98%
A3 8% “E-hETATAR A1 ZE-RAETATNAE  (reclassified) (Note iv)
ZZMEHATEE  EFNR (Histiv)
18.10.2019 HK$1.16 18.10.2019 to 17.10.2024 3,272,000 - - 3,272,000 0.29%
“E-nE+A+N\B B ZE-AETBTN\BEE  (reclassified) (Note v)
ZZMEHATEE  EFNR (Hiztv)
14,181,000 - - 14,181,000
Total 61,489,000  (11,200,000) (402,000) 49,887,000
&t
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Notes:

0]

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

The share options vested immediately on the
respective dates of grant.

The weighted average closing price of the
Company’s shares immediately before the exercise
dates of the share options was HK$1.225 per share.

Mr. Chow Ka Fung was appointed as an executive
director of the Company on 3 March 2021, his
entitlements of 1,485,000 share options (granted
on 5 September 2017) and 1,898,000 share options
(granted on 18 October 2019) were reclassified from
the category of employees of the Group to the
category of directors of the Company.

Mr. Cha Mou Sing, Payson, the former non-executive
Chairman of the Company, passed away on 6
November 2020 (PST). Pursuant to the 2011 Share
Option Scheme, his personal representative(s) shall
be entitled within a period of 12 months from the
date of death to exercise his remaining 10,909,000
share options.

Mr. Lo Kai Cheong, a former executive director of
the Company, passed away on 18 July 2020. Pursuant
to the 2011 Share Option Scheme, his personal
representative(s) shall be entitled within a period
of 12 months from the date of death to exercise his
remaining 3,272,000 share options.

The percentage is calculated based on the total
number of issued shares of the Company as at 31
March 2021 (i.e. 1,102,124,676 shares).

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, WARRANTS
OR SIMILAR RIGHTS

Save as disclosed above, the Company had no
outstanding convertible securities, warrants or similar
rights as at 31 March 2021 and there has been no issue or

exercise of any convertible securities, warrants or similar
rights during the year.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company's listed securities.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to
the date of this annual report were:

Non-executive Chairman
Mr. Cha Mou Sing, Payson
(passed away on 6 November 2020 (PST))

Mr. Cha Mou Daid, Johnson
(appointed as Chairman on 17 November 2020)

Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart (Managing Director)

Mr. Tai Sai Ho (General Manager)

Mr. Lo Kai Cheong (passed away on 18 July 2020)
Mr. Chow Ka Fung (appointed on 3 March 2021)

Non-executive Directors
Dr. Lam Chat Yu (appointed on 3 March 2021)
Dr. Zhang Wei

(ceased to be alternate director

on 6 November 2020 (PST))

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chan Pak Joe

Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter

Dr. Sun Tai Lun
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In accordance with Article 116 of the Company’s articles
of association, Dr. Zhang Wei, Mr. Chan Pak Joe and Dr.
Sun Tai Lun shall retire from office by rotation at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. In accordance
with Article 99 of the Company’s articles of association,
Dr. Lam Chat Yu and Mr. Chow Ka Fung, who were
appointed by the Board during the year, shall hold office
until the forthcoming annual general meeting. Except for
Dr. Zhang Wei who has decided not to offer himself for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting,
all the other retiring directors, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

None of the directors being proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
which is not determinable by the Group within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES'’
EMOLUMENTS

Details of directors’ emoluments for the year ended 31
March 2021 are set out in note 12(i) to the consolidated
financial statements. For the year ended 31 March 2021,
the emoluments of the senior management, whose
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biographical details are set out in the “Biographical ZEhkSHKEEEREREI—) FIALLTHER :
Details of Directors and Senior Management” section
below, fell within the following bands:

Number of individuals

A¥

Emoluments of 2021 2020
senior management by bands SREERE 2 FM4E R —E—F “EIEHF
HK$1,000,001 — HK$ 1,500,000 751%%1,000,00175—%%1,500,0007T 4 2
HK$1,500,001 - HK$2,000,000 751%%1,500,00175—%12,000,0007T 1 3
HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000 712,000,001 7c-#12,500,0007T 5 2
HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,500,000 751%53,000,001 754 13,500,0007T - 3
HK$8,000,001 — HK$8,500,000 75158,000,00175—%1£8,500,0007T - 1
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G E

UPDATE ON DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION
PURSUANT TO RULE 13.51B(1) OF
LISTING RULES

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listings Rules, the
changes in the information of the directors of the
Company are set out below:

(1

)

3)

(4)

98

Mr. Cha Mou Daid, Johnson, has been appointed as
a non-executive director of Million Hope Industries
Holdings Limited (“Million Hope"), the securities of
which are listed on the Stock Exchange, with effect
from 23 November 2020.

Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart has been appointed as
the non-executive chairman of Million Hope with
effect from 23 November 2020.

Dr. Zhang Wei ceased to be an alternate director of
Million Hope on 6 November 2020 (PST).

Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter whose appointment as the
BBA (Hons) Program Director of the School of
Business of the Hong Kong Baptist University will
end on 30 June 2021.

RiE EHFRAE13.51B(NEHE
EEEHZEBMER

RiE EHRAE13.51B(NERE  KATE
EENZEBFEIIWMT :

Q)]

(2)

(3

4

ERERLECEZEAZTERER
BERAR (MIEZ) > HEFNBR L
mZERTES - BE-E_EF+—H
—+=HEEHK-

IHEEECRZERAEZTZIFNITE
F-B-2_TE+—RB-+=AEE
o

RIEELHR _Z-TF+—HB"A (X
THFRERRE) EFABAXTZIEESE
o

AFREINEBRZEARBEIBNERS
RIMEERESEL: (RE) RREXTEZEME
R —F/A=1+H#&ILk-
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Directors

Mr. Cha Mou Daid, Johnson, aged 69, is the Chairman
and non-executive director of the Company. He joined
the Company since November 2001. Mr. Cha has over 40
years of experience in venture capital and investment
management and is currently the chairman of C.M.
Capital Advisors (HK) Limited. He is a non-executive
director of HKR International Limited (“HKRI”) and
Million Hope and ceased as a non-executive director of
China International Capital Corporation Limited (“CICCL")
with effect from 28 February 2020. The securities of
HKRI, Million Hope and CICCL are listed on the Stock
Exchange. He is a director of CCM Capital Corporation
("CCM Capital”) and LBJ Regents (PTC) Limited (“LBJ",
formerly known as LBJ Regents Limited), and a non-
executive director of Mingly Corporation (“Mingly”).
Each of CCM Capital, LBJ and Mingly is a substantial
shareholder of the Company discloseable under Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”). Mr.
Cha is also an independent non-executive director of
Shanghai Commercial Bank Limited and a director of a
number of other companies in Hong Kong and overseas.
He is a member in non-profit organisations including Qiu
Shi Science & Technologies Foundation, Moral Education
Concern Group, a member of the Finance Committee and
of the Council of The Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS # % & #i
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Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart, aged 75, joined the Group
in 1989 and is the Managing Director of the Company.
Mr. Wong also serves as the chairman of the General
Business Committee and the Property Acquisition/
Disposal Committee; and a member of the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the
Company. Mr. Wong is the chairman and non-executive
director of Million Hope, whose securities are listed on
the Stock Exchange. Before he joined the Group, he was
a director for several listed companies and a director of
HKRI (whose securities are listed on the Stock Exchange)
until his resignation in December 2001. Mr. Wong is also
a director of all the subsidiaries of the Group. He has
extensive experience in the construction and real estate
fields. Mr. Wong holds a bachelor degree in science from
San Diego State University and a master degree of science
in civil engineering from Carnegie Mellon University
in the United States of America. He is a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Construction Managers
(MHKICM).

Mr. Tai Sai Ho (Alias: David), aged 69, is an executive
director and the General Manager of the Company.
Mr. Tai also serves as a member/the acting chairman
of the General Business Committee and the Property
Acquisition/Disposal Committee; and a member of
the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee of the Company. Mr. Tai joined the Group in
1989 and has extensive experience in public and private
sectors of the building and civil engineering industries
in Hong Kong. Mr. Tai is a non-executive director of
Million Hope, whose securities are listed on the Stock
Exchange. He is also a director of all the subsidiaries of
the Group. Mr. Tai holds a master degree in business
administration from Asia International Open University
in Macau, a master degree in construction management
from University of New South Wales in Australia and a
bachelor degree in civil engineering from National Cheng
Kung University in Taiwan. Mr. Tai is a fellow of the Hong
Kong Institute of Directors (FHKIoD) and the Hong Kong
Institute of Construction Managers (FHKICM).
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Mr. Chow Ka Fung (Alias: Matthew), aged 52, is an
executive director of the Company since March 2021.
Mr. Chow has been serving the Group from 1998. He is a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Group and oversees
the Property Development Division, Property Investment
Division as well as Property Agency and Management
Division. He also serves as a member of the General
Business Committee and the Property Acquisition/
Disposal Committee of the Company. Mr. Chow specialises
in property development, investment, marketing,
management and project management in Hong Kong
and the PRC. He holds a bachelor of science degree in
land management from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. Mr. Chow is a Registered Professional Surveyor
(General Practice) (Property and Facility Management)
under the Surveyor Registration Board (RPS). He is
also a member of the Royal Institution of Chartered
Surveyors (MRICS), a member of China Institute of Real
Estate Appraisers and Agents (MCIREA), a member of
the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators (MCIArb) and a
member of Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors (MHKIS).

Dr. Lam Chat Yu (Alias: Chat), aged 69, has been a non-
executive director of the Company since March 2021.
Dr. Lam joined the Group in November 2001 as an
executive director of the Company and was re-designated
as a non-executive director since August 2013 until
he resigned in December 2015. Dr. Lam is specialised
in the areas of direct investment, financial advisory,
and asset management. He has extensive investment
experience in the technology sector, including 15 years
in Silicon Valley, California, and over 20 years in Asia.
Dr. Lam holds a Ph.D. degree of Management Science
from MIT Sloan School of Management, M.S degree in
Computer Science from Northwestern University and a
B.S degree of Electrical Engineering. Dr. Lam is a director
of C.M. Capital Advisors (HK) Limited which is an entity
controlled by Mr. Cha Mou Daid, Johnson, the non-
executive Chairman of the Company.
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BEZEXE (3% :Matthew) > 525 B - &
T AREEEAQABRNTESE AL
B—AhANEERSTERTR -HALKER
ETHBARZES HEECEMEREL -
MEREBURMEREREEI - HIFE
EERFE—REHZESTRINE HEME
ZEBZHRE-BAEERNEAERTEZ
MEZRE - RE HE - EEREBEE -®
FEEAEBIASIHEREELEMF
REATAUEMIMEERZAMEER
S (EXAE) WEREEE) - HITAAH
BEXRFHFIEMB2EE8 - FEEMEM
BREEHELLANZETE - HEHHS
egEREBIEMETES-

HEFE L (5% Chat) 695 B _T_—
FZREEEEAATAFRTEST -MEBLR
TET—F+—AMATEEEETEATH
TEFHE-Z—=FN\AEREAIERIT
E5HEET-AF+TZARTE -MELE
ARNIREERRE UBHEANEEEERES
EH - REMBERZEEFAKREE

EISEEEEMAIEEE MW A UK E205E
EENRENKSR MELEZEMEET
B[EThe Sloan SchoolEVSEIERBE L&
il EARNFEEEAL AN ERE2E
TEAMBER TREARZM - MiELHCM.
Capital Advisors (HK) LimitedZ &% %A
BAHEEARTIERNITEFEEREI LTS

ZHERE-

LIPS A 2 PR A R A ] 2020/20214E 8 101



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS #HH & v 5 &

Dr. Zhang Wei, aged 66, has been a non-executive
director of the Company since June 2019. He is currently
an executive director and the chief executive officer
of Mingly. Mingly is a substantial shareholder of the
Company discloseable under Part XV of the SFO. Dr.
Zhang is an independent non-executive director of
Dadi International Group Limited and had been an
alternate director of Million Hope, the securities of
these companies are listed on the Stock Exchange.
Prior to joining Mingly in 2011, Dr. Zhang had taught
Development Economics and Chinese Economy at the
University of Cambridge in the United Kingdom since
2000. He was also the founding director of Economic
Research Centre for Greater China in Cambridge. In
1980s, Dr. Zhang worked as a government official in
the PRC, among the posts he held, there were Director
of Mayor’s Office in Tianjin, Secretary of the Municipal
Committee of the Communist Youth League, Chairman
of Tianjin Economic and Technological Development
Zone (TEDA), and Chairman of Committee of Foreign
Trade and Economic Relations of Tianjin Municipal
Government. He was also a member of the 13th National
Congress of the Chinese Communist Party. He obtained
a bachelor degree in economics from Peking University,
a master degree in public administration from Harvard
University and a doctor of philosophy in economics from
the University of Oxford.

Mr. Chan Pak Joe, aged 68, has been an independent
non-executive director of the Company since November
2001. Mr. Chan also serves as the chairman of the
Nomination Committee and a member of the Audit
Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the
Company. Mr. Chan has been an executive director of The
Luk Hoi Tong Company, Limited since 1973. Mr. Chan is
the founder of the “Li Zhi Bursary” of Tsinghua University
in the PRC. He is also the Vice-Chairman of “Love Relay
Grant-in-Aid” of Fudan University in the PRC since
September 2005. His community services include having
served as a director of YMCA and as a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Audit Committee of
the Hong Kong Housing Society.
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Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter, aged 62, has been an independent
non-executive director of the Company since September
2004. Dr. Lau also serves as the chairman of the
Audit Committee and a member of the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the
Company. Dr. Lau is an Associate Dean and BBA (Hons)
Program Director of the School of Business of the Hong
Kong Baptist University. He holds a bachelor degree
in commerce from Saint Mary’s University in Canada,
a master degree in business administration from
Dalhousie University in Canada and a doctorate degree
of philosophy in accounting from The Chinese University
of Hong Kong. He is a member of The Chartered
Professional Accountants of Ontario (CPA, CA) in Canada,
a member of the Chartered Professional Accountants
of British Columbia (CPA, CMA) in Canada, a fellow
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (FCPA), and an associate member of The
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong (ATIHK). He was also
a president (1992-1993) of the City Lions Club of Hong
Kong.

Dr. Sun Tai Lun (Alias: Dennis), aged 70, has been an
independent non-executive director of the Company
since November 2001. Dr. Sun also serves as the chairman
of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the
Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee of the
Company. Dr. Sun is the chairman of China-Hongkong
Photo Products Holdings Limited, whose shares are listed
on the Stock Exchange. Dr. Sun has extensive experience
in the photographic products industry. He holds a
Doctor of Pharmacy in the University of Oklahoma,
USA and a Doctorate degree in Philosophy in Business
Administration from Southern California University for
Professional Studies, USA. He is the Vice Patron of the
Community Chest of Hong Kong since 1999, the Honorary
Fellow of City University of Hong Kong and Chapter
Honoree of City University of Hong Kong Chapter of
Beta Gamma Sigma. Dr. Sun had served as the chairman
(November 2009 - October 2015) of the Advisory
Committee on Travel Agents and the Court member
(2010 — December 2015) of City University of Hong Kong.
Dr. Sun was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star in 1999
and appointed as The Justice of the Peace in 2002.
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Senior Management

Mr. Au Yiu Man, aged 60, joined the Group in 1990. He
is a director of the Interior and Renovation Division of
the Group and has extensive experience in the building
industry in Hong Kong. He holds a higher diploma in civil
engineering (municipal) and endorsement certificate in
design of reinforced concrete & steel structures from The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

Mr. Chan Yiu Kei, Charles, aged 55, joined the Group
in 2010. He is a director of the Construction Division
of the Group. He has over 27 years of experience in
human resources management, employee training
and development, organisation development and
consultation in Hong Kong. He holds a Master of Social
Science from The Chinese University of Hong Kong, a
Master of Science in Human Resource Management and
Training from University of Leicester in United Kingdom
and a Postgraduate Diploma in Management Consulting
and Change from The University of Hong Kong. He is
a graduate of Corporate Coaching Program (CCP) of
Corporate Coach U Canada, a Certified Administrator
of The Myers-Briggs Type Indicator (MBTI), a Certified
Behavioral Consultant (DISC) of the Institute for
Motivational Living, a Certified Management Consultant
(CMCQ) of Institute of Management Consultants, and a
professional member (MIHRM) of Hong Kong Institute of
Human Resource Management.

Mr. Cheung Hok Chuen, aged 51, joined the Group in
1999. He was appointed as a director of the Building
Materials Division of the Group on 1 October 2010 and
is currently a director of the Construction Division of
the Group. Mr. Cheung has comprehensive experience
in the building industry in Hong Kong. He holds a BSc in
surveying from The University of Hong Kong.
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Mr. Cheung Yiu Pan, aged 56, joined the Group in 2006.
He is a director of the Interior and Renovation Division
of the Group. Mr. Cheung has extensive experience in
the building industry in Hong Kong. He holds a bachelor
degree in quantity surveying from Edinburgh Napier
University and a master degree in construction and real
estate from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

Mr. Chow Kit, aged 45, joined the Group in 1999. He
is a director of the Building Materials Division of the
Group. He has over 21 years of experience in the design,
supply and installation of building materials. He holds a
Bachelor of Art in Economics and Mathematics from York
University, Canada.

Mr. Ho Chi Tong, aged 56, joined the Group in 1998.
He is a director of the Construction Division, Building
Materials Division and Interior and Renovation Division
of the Group. He has extensive experience in quantity
surveying consultancy and construction contracting.
He holds a professional diploma in quantity surveying
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is a
Registered Professional Surveyor (QS) under the Surveyor
Registration Board (RPS) and a member of The Royal
Institution of Chartered Surveyors (MRICS) and Hong
Kong Institute of Surveyors (MHKIS).

Mr. Kong Wing Kin, aged 47, joined the Group in 1996.
He is a director of the Interior and Renovation Division of
the Group and has extensive experience in the building
industry in Hong Kong. He holds an associate degree in
facilities management from the City University of Hong
Kong, a professional diploma in occupational safety and
health from the Hong Kong Baptist University and a
bachelor degree in building surveying from the University
of Reading/The College of Estate Management in United
Kingdom.
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Mr. Lin Tai Ling, Raymond, aged 56, joined the Group
in 2008. He is a director of the Property Agency and
Management Division of the Group. Mr. Lin has extensive
experience in project management. He holds a bachelor
degree in arts (architectural studies) and a bachelor
degree in architecture from The University of Hong Kong.
He is a Registered Architect of The Hong Kong Institute
of Architects.

Mr. Lun Tim Ho, aged 62, joined the Group in 1990 and
is a director of the Construction Division and Interior and
Renovation Division of the Group. Mr. Lun has extensive
experience in the construction field in Hong Kong and
the PRC. He holds an associateship and a higher diploma
in the building technology and management from The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is a member of
The Chartered Institute of Building (MCIOB), Hong Kong
Institute of Construction Managers (MHKICM), Royal
Institution of Chartered Surveyors (MRICS), The Hong
Kong Institute of Surveyors (MHKIS), and The Hong Kong
Institution of Engineers — Building (MHKIE).

Mr. Yuen Cheuk Kong, aged 61, joined the Group in
1989. He is a director of the Construction Division,
Building Materials Division and Interior and Renovation
Division of the Group. He has 39 years of experience in
the public and private sectors of the building and civil
engineering industries in Hong Kong. He holds a diploma
in management studies, a post-experience certificate
in building studies and a higher certificate in structural
engineering from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University
and a bachelor degree in construction management
and economics. He is also a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Construction Managers (MHKICM).
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2021, the interests of the directors and
chief executive in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under Section 352 of Part XV of the SFO
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code")
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules were as
follows:

(i) Long position in the shares of the Company

EENRG - HMERG REEEZ
EmfE

RIEZ—F=ZR=1+—H EEkE&Ea1T
BAEBRARABT ZKRHG REBKRGPHEBR
BREARFAREEFES RBERFEXVIEE
3528 7BHEE 2 E L MA SRR £ iR R M
BT ESZz LHETAEFTETESRSN
REESFR (MREESFR) BME AT KBR
Frz f#mumT :

() RE2TRBZEFE

Approximate
percentage of
issued share

Total capital
Number of number of (Note v)
ordinary ordinary  HBH{TRA
Name Capacity shares held shares held BAFRLT
4 g1 S ERHEE FMiEEEREY (Hrztv)
Cha Mou Daid, Johnson Beneficial owner 8,963,500
EiHE BREEA
Beneficiary of discretionary trusts 539,500,961 548,464,461 49.76%
HNEETZZEA (Note )
(Hrazi)
Wong Sue Toa, Stewart Beneficial owner 48,704,157
Ts BREEA
Interest of controlled corporation 4,270,975
TELEZz S (Note ii)
(Witii)
Interest of spouse 5,485,487 58,460,619 5.30%
[ (Note iif)
(i)
Tai Sai Ho Beneficial owner 17,385,721 17,385,721 1.57%
N1 BREEA
Chow Ka Fung Beneficial owner 2,394,000 2,394,000 0.21%
BEZ BREEA
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Approximate
percentage of
issued share

Total capital
Number of number of (Note v)
ordinary ordinary B HTRA
Name Capacity shares held shares held SR
e 5% AT ERHEE FrsTEREH (Hrzv)
Lam Chat Yu Beneficial owner 266,000
WEF BREEA
Interest held jointly 2,140,000 2,406,000 0.21%
with another person (Note iv)
BEMATHERFEZER (Hiaziv)
Zhang Wei Beneficial owner 4,288,000 4,288,000 0.38%
RIE BREEA
Chan Pak Joe Beneficial owner 2,830,100 2,830,100 0.25%
Rk BREEA
Lau Tze Yiu, Peter Beneficial owner 4,205,950 4,205,950 0.38%
2¥iE BREEA
Sun Tai Lun Beneficial owner 3,078,000 3,078,000 0.27%
YN} BREEA
Notes: BisE
(i)  These shares are held under certain but not identical (i) ZERMBETARNBEERER  &F

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)
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discretionary trusts, of which Mr. Cha Mou Daid,
Johnson is among the members of the class of
discretionary beneficiaries.

Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart’s corporate interests in
the Company arise from the fact that he owns 50%
of the share capital of Executive Plaza Limited, which
holds 4,270,975 shares of the Company.

These shares are held by Ms. Wong Lui Kwok Wai,
the wife of Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart.

These shares are held by Dr. Lam Chat Yu jointly with
his spouse Ms. Lam Elizabeth Mona.

The percentage is calculated based on the total
number of issued shares of the Company as at 31
March 2021 (i.e. 1,102,124,676 shares).

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

BAEERETARANBEEZNBEREAM
BHAPZEE -

FHERERERBDZABDRDEREBHE
B ERERRATNS0%RAMER » &%
REFHEARNATL,270,9758 815 ©

ZERMBATHFEEZRBEERZ XL
BH-

ZEROBMEFELIRAERMBEMHNLZ L
HEFAB-

BALDREARBDNR _ZE_-_—%F=H
=+—BHBE%TIRM4% (B11,102,124,676
BEARS) 5T & -
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(ii) Share options

Directors’ interests in share options are set out in
the section headed “Share Option Scheme” above.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, none of
the directors and chief executive of the Company or
their associates held any interests or short positions in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code, or which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 352 of Part XV of the SFO.

ARRANGEMENTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” above, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to
acquire benefits (including debentures) of the Company
or any other body corporate and none of the directors
or their spouses or children under the age of 18, had any
rights to subscribe for securities of the Company, or had
exercised any such rights during the year.
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(i) Fshate

EENBEBREZEDEN X ERE
stEI—He

BREXFIIRBEEN R-_ZT_-_—F=AH
Z+—B FRAEERESITHRAEHK
FZBMBEAMERAQBHE BB EER
(EERBHRIEEMIBEXVED Z M 18
BN REEETHEARERETIEANS
KRB RIS # I AN A B IRIBRE 5 K
MG KRB EXVERE352E BEFEE 2 EF L MR
ZEAREmERE -

MBE Ry NEEEZ 2 H

bR EXCTRERRHEST B —BAFTIREE SN XA
FERAEAERE AQFHEEAME QT
WERERERARBEZEING UL A AT E
ENRERFHEMEMAB 27 m (B
E#E  TEEFHRFZEB/BIRMHT/\
RZFREAARDBERQB BT ZEAER
R ERBITREEMZSER -

BILJbs A PE R A BR A F] 2020/20214F #)
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INTERESTS OF SHAREHOLDERS
DISCLOSEABLE UNDER THE SFO

So far as is known to the Company, as at 31 March
2021, in addition to those interests of the directors and
chief executive of the Company as disclosed above, the
interests of the shareholders in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of
Part XV of the SFO were as follows:

Long position in the shares of the Company

Wi%E s REAG IR HI A F IR ERIAR
R

BAERBRAN - KR _B2_—F=A=+—H"
BREXFIRBEARRDEZTARSITRAEZ
ZEEmI RRNR A AB RN KBRS
hEA BRI ABRBES RAERNE
XVERF3I36IRAFEZE Mz RN T ¢

RERBRMBZEE

Approximate
percentage of
issued share capital

Number of (Note vi)
ordinary HERTRE
Name Capacity shares held BABESL
%18/ 1% P gERHE (Htatvi)
CCM Trust (Cayman) Trustee 487,702,041 44.25%
Limited EETN (Note i)
(“CCM Trust") Interest of controlled corporations (Hizti)
TEEEZ R
Mingly Beneficial owner 104,243,301 9.45%
BELEEA (Note ii)
Interest of controlled corporations (Hztii)
SEEEZ R
CCM Capital Beneficial owner 78,866,272 7.15%
BHBEEA (Note ii)
(Wiatii)
LBJ Trustee 67,829,571 6.15%
FsEA (Note jii)
Interest of controlled corporation (Wi aiii)
SEEEZ R
Cha Mou Sing, Payson Beneficial owner 65,346,427 5.92%
(Deceased) BHBEEA (Note iv)
EHE Interest of controlled corporations (Hiztiv)
(BHt) SEEEZ R
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Approximate
percentage of
issued share capital

Number of (Note vi)
ordinary HERTRE
Name Capacity shares held BABESL
%iE/ 515 FrfsEiER# B (Hiz2vi)
Wong Lui Kwok Wai Beneficial owner 58,460,619 5.30%
FEEZ BEEEEA (Note v)
Interest of controlled corporation (Htztv)
TEEB 2R
Interest of spouse
FofEtE s
Notes: Mk -
(i)  These share interests comprise 383,458,740 shares directly () ZHERGEZGIEAHCM TrustEERFE

(i)

(iii)

held by CCM Trust and 104,243,301 shares held indirectly
through Mingly and its wholly owned subsidiaries. CCM
Trust is interested in 87.5% equity interest in Mingly. CCM
Trust is holding the 383,458,740 shares as the trustee of
certain but not identical discretionary trusts of which
members of the Cha Family (comprising, inter alios, Mr.
Cha Mou Daid, Johnson (the Chairman of the Company))
are among the discretionary objects.

These share interests comprise 3,732,928 shares directly
held by Mingly and 78,866,272 shares and 21,644,101
shares held indirectly through CCM Capital and Mingly
Asia Capital Limited, respectively. CCM Capital and Mingly
Asia Capital Limited are direct wholly owned subsidiaries
of Mingly.

These share interests comprise 61,022,931 shares directly
held by LBJ and 6,806,640 shares held indirectly through
Bie Ju Enterprises Limited, its wholly owned subsidiary. LBJ
is holding the 61,022,931 shares as the trustee of certain
but not identical discretionary trusts of which members of
the Cha Family (comprising, inter alios, Mr. Cha Mou Daid,
Johnson (the Chairman of the Company)) are among the
discretionary objects.

(i)

(iii)

B [

AIEEPER A IR ZA T 2020/202168

2383,458, 740 KRBBRHNIREERE
KB AT RIEIFE 2104,243,301 88 8% 1% ©
CCM Trusti#EBE % 7187.5% Z R - CCM
TrustAEsE A BN ABETARANBEFERE
5383,458, 740 17 » 2 EEFE 2 ER =
AEFEERRERE (EPEEEMELE
(EABERE)) ©

ZERMEZERHLNEERFEZ
3,732,928 15 K IBEBCCM Capitalk
Mingly Asia Capital Limited® BIfSEIFE
278,866,272 iR 17 221,644,101 IR AR 17 ©
CCM Capital&Mingly Asia Capital Limited
RBNZEEZERBRR

ZEROMEZSEHLBIEERFAZ
61,022,931 RN KREBEEZENE A FBie
Ju Enterprises Limited1%#55 26,806,640
IG5 o LBIESEA B R AETFARNIERE
FE3FE61,022,93 1010 2 EEEZWE
T AEPFEERRERE (EREEERM
mRE (BRAERE)) ©
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(iv) These share interests comprise 37,446,925 shares
(including 10,909,000 underlying shares under equity
derivative) beneficially owned by the late Mr. Cha Mou
Sing, Payson and 14,189,502 shares and 13,710,000
shares held indirectly through Accomplished Investments
Limited and Kola Heights Limited, respectively. These two
companies are directly wholly-owned by the late Mr. Cha.

(v) Ms. Wong Lui Kwok Wai is the wife of Mr. Wong Sue Toa,
Stewart and is deemed under the SFO to be interested
in 48,704,157 shares beneficially owned by her spouse.
Ms. Wong is personally interested in 5,485,487 shares and
owns 50% equity interest in Executive Plaza Limited which
is holding 4,270,975 shares of the Company.

(vi) The percentage is calculated based on the total number
of issued shares of the Company as at 31 March 2021 (i.e.
1,102,124,676 shares).

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, the
Company has not been notified by any persons (other
than the directors and chief executive of the Company)
who had any interests or short positions in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company which were recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO.

(ivy ZERMEZCHEBERERELREES
VR 237,446,925 1 (BIERATET
H.210,909,0008& 18R (7) » UKk 2 BIiE&
Accomplished Investments Limited/zKola
Heights Limitedf#%#F %5 2 14,189,502/% %
752 13,710,0008% f2 {5 - sZ M E A S HE &
EREEEZERE

(v) TEHREL4TATHEIEEZERSE LIRE
EERPERAMEANBERBERE
B5248,704, 157 RMH hEEEE TR T
8 AFFHE5,485,487 % B% 15 » M A tHiEHR
BEERARNS0%IRZ  ZABIFELAAR
4,270,975 815 °

(ivy BOLEDREBERAATR_ZEZ—F=ZAH
=+—HB%TRH 4% (B11,102,124,676
BRB&AR) Bt & -

BREXFREEIN RZZT_-_—F=H
=+—B > FRFAEFABTEAMAL (FRF
EERERBTHRAERN REQBRKRNG KR
BRI PR A QB RIEE ST R ERG
B336FAFEZELCMZEMERIOKRE ©

N2 HANISON CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021



DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year, the interests of the directors (not
being the independent non-executive directors) of the
Company in businesses which compete or were likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the principal
businesses of the Group as required to be disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules were as follows:

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS #HH & #i &

or

EFNRPFEB R 2D

FEERARABDES BIUFRTESR
SMRBEAERTEEFERNHEZARS
M AERRIM MRBELHRAATIK
BzEMEBTHEAEZEZNT -

Name of
Name of director (Note i) company Nature of interest Competing business (Note /i)
ExRh W) RETE EaENE RBMER W2i)
Cha Mou Daid, Johnson HKRI Director of HKRI and a member of the class of (@) Property development
e EHREE discretionary beneficiaries of certain but not and investment
identical discretionary trusts of which the NEBRRIKRE
trustees are deemed substantial shareholders
of HKRI under Part XV of the SFO (b) Property management, leasing
ERAREEERETIRANEGETIZREZEA and marketing services
ARz S MREE S RIAERGIEXVE % MEERE HERTHHEERS
ZEAZETANERATEALIERR
Notes: Bk -

(@)

(if)

Mr. Cha Mou Daid, Johnson is a non-executive director
of the Company, who is not involved in the daily
management of the Group. Accordingly, the Company is
capable of carrying its businesses independently of, and
at arm’s length from the abovementioned competing
businesses.

In addition, Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart held share
interests and directorships in certain private companies
(“Private Companies”) which engage in property
investment and serviced apartment or hotel operation.
As the Board of the Company is independent of the
boards of the Private Companies and has a different
board composition to the respective boards of the Private
Companies (the Board of the Company comprises three
executive directors, three non-executive directors and
three independent non-executive directors), the Company
operates its businesses independently of, and at arm’s
length from the businesses of the Private Companies.

Such businesses may be made through subsidiaries,
affiliated companies or by way of other forms of
investments.

() BHEEERFADEATES BLES
s R ER T Hib> A5
RS EBEBTR DR ARB I ERL
AT R -

Iesh > EHBAEREFRERR (EFN
ERB REMERBERRBAAEES
BB FARERETESHE -BANARR
EFERIUNZSENEQRNEFTTHES
GZHEMAZENERATNEEESTEEHH
(FRABEFEH=-LRITEF =% IFH
TEFER=RBEILFPTESRER) > xAFH
BEBINZENERATANEFLRATEE
EHER

(i) ZEEBUEBMBRARDNHBMBELARLE
HEBEMKESAIEL -
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts that are
significant in relation to the Group’s business to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries, its parent
company or any subsidiary of its parent company was
a party and in which a director of the Company or his
connected entities had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or
at any time during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION AND
INSURANCE

The Company’s articles of association provides that every
director or other officer of the Company shall be entitled
to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by
him as a director or other officer of the Company in
defending any proceedings, in which judgment is given
in his favour, or in which he is acquitted. Such permitted
indemnity provision is in force during the year ended 31
March 2021 and at the date of this annual report.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and

officers’ liabilities insurance coverage for directors and
officers of the Company.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
Save for the share option scheme described above, the

Group has not entered into any equity-linked agreements
during the year.

14

J/

EFENRB RGNz

ERBHEEAMBLAR -EBATNEE
RE)ZEFIMBAB BT AR E B ER
B B RRESZHHAEERNAESYE
ByHEEEEAaMNAFEEREZAH
HAFERERBFEMDAERZEMERR
AR 37 A=V

EESFRERSI R R

ARBZEBERMUEE > FRADVKES
HEMBRBEEEBRABEEFMEF
AEABDEFRHHEHMBRBEEEFIBFHH
EHEFZEARFAPETRARMELERR
RZ-UBANEEESRE-RBEE_ZF
—_—F=A=+—HLEEEARRKEERH
H AREESRERX—EAR-

AARBATARNEERERBEREES
WESRBRBEETRBIFARE-
Re R D R

bR LR ARE ST BISh > AE BN ER L T
SR AR SR H R 170 5% o
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contract for undertaking the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of
any business of the Company was entered into or existed
during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the five largest customers of the Group
accounted for about 78% of the revenue of the Group
and the largest customer is an independent third party,
accounted for about 35% of the revenue of the Group.
Aggregate purchases for the year ended 31 March 2021
attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers were less
than 30%.

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors, their
respective close associates, or any shareholders (which to
the knowledge of the directors own more than 5% of the
Company'’s issued share capital) has any interest in the
five largest customers and suppliers of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2021.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group strictly complies with the requirements of the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance in making
mandatory contributions for its staff. Details of charges
relating to the retirement benefits schemes are set out in
note 44 to the consolidated financial statements.
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BESY

RER> XRABLEE|T LN FEEAERE
AEEMHAEFEAETEZHRIEBZEER
TG

FEERRMLERS

RER ZEBZAAZTREEEBRKRALY
78% > MERABRABIBE=H  GAEEK
A% HE_E_—FE=HA=+—HL
FE > AEBRLAMEMEGAARERE IR
30%°

BREXFREEN BE_T_—F=A
Z+—HLEFE BEEE - RESAZER
BMBAHEARE REEMAEEERAE
BETRAS%UL) REAEERAETR Kt
FER PR AR -

BRI EHE
7 £ [ R AR 8 P SR B M AT 5 BIR G 247

T mEES FL A SR - BREBRAER
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DISCLOSURE UNDER RULE 13.22 OF
LISTING RULES

The financial assistance to affiliated companies of the
Company, and guarantees given for banking facilities
granted to affiliated companies of the Company named
in the first column in the table below, in aggregate
amounted to approximately HK$2,392,355,000 which
represented approximately 29.4% of the total assets of
the Company at 31 March 2021. Details of which are as
follows:

RIE LR AE13.220F L 2 %

i

RIEZ—F=RB=+—H ' AFE2TH
BABREBZUEENERMIBEFRITERE
WZEARBEZHMBABZIRITHEMFHZE
{R4AZAEL A 78182,392,355,0007T » HARE 7
RATIZHBEEN29.4% BREFBEWT :

Total amount of financial
assistance given to,
committed capital injection

Company'’s to and guarantees given
equity interest for facilities granted to,
in affiliated affiliated company

company MEBARIRMZAEER
FAF AERHBAREHZIERK
REBEBARZ MEFHBASDZMEMFELHZ

Name of affiliated company L NSIRY fe 1 EfriazE
HK$'000

EEFT

Haining Jiafeng Real Estate BERERMERRAR 49% 107,355
Development Limited (M%) (Note 1)
(“Haining") (Hiz£1)
Great Splendor Enterprises Limited Great Splendor Enterprises 50% 250,000
("Great Splendor”) Limited (T Great Splendor J) & (Note 2)
and its subsidiaries HitB AR (Htat2)
Flourishing Stable Limited BEARAR (TRE)) & 50% 1,000,000
(“Flourishing Stable") HiftBAE (Note 3)
and its subsidiaries (H1z£3)
Honour Advent Limited ZHRARLAE (T8 & 50% 535,000
(“Honour Advent”) HIE A E] (Note 4)
and its subsidiaries (Hi524)
Protic Limited (“Protic") BEEARRE (TEE) 50% 500,000
(Note 5)

(H152£5)

2,392,355
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Notes:

The Group has guaranteed to a bank in Hong Kong for
securing the standby letter of credit of HK$107,355,000
for the period from 12 March 2021 to 11 September 2021
issued by a bank in Hong Kong to a bank in PRC which
granted a bank loan to Haining.

The total capital commitment shall be contributed by
the Group in proportion to its equity interest in the joint
venture in respect of any funding need arising from any
payment obligation of the Great Splendor concerned.

The total capital commitment shall be contributed by
the Group in proportion to its equity interest in the joint
venture in respect of any funding need arising from any
payment obligation of the Flourishing Stable concerned.

The total capital commitment shall be contributed by
the Group in proportion to its equity interest in the joint
venture in respect of any funding need arising from any
payment obligation of the Honour Advent concerned.

The total capital commitment shall be contributed by
the Group in proportion to its equity interest in the joint
venture in respect of any funding need arising from any
payment obligation of the Protic concerned.
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sk :

The proforma combined statement of financial position

AEBERAEERTRITERZ —MPE
RITBEHZERERER—BMEBHRTRE
(R B 1107,355,00070 HAIlEBR S = —&F
=B+-BEZE-_—HhB+—H-

A fGreat SplendorfT S EfRIMREREESE
ZRAEEREZERRERERIZENRS
EhERELENBAERLE-

ERRBFSENIREEEEZERNES
REZEAKEBERREANGEREZRK
PR AEREE-

ERBBASEAMRETEEZERNES
REZEFAKEBERREANGEREZRK
PR AEREE-

ERERATEAMREEEEZERNES
REZEAKEBERREANGEREZRK
PR AEREE-

BB ARR _E-_—F=A=+—HZ

of the above affiliated companies at 31 March 2021 is as BEEZESHBMERAENT
follows:
HK$'000
BT
Current assets REEE 1,957,848
Current liabilities Bt N=KE (2,474,394)
Non-current assets ERHEE 685,374
Net assets BEEFE 168,828
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DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable and other
donations amounting to HK$98,463 (2020: HK$376,790).

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of its directors, as
at the date of this report, the Company has maintained
sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the number
of the Company’s issued shares as required under the
Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under
the Company’s articles of association, or the laws of
the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company to re-appoint Messrs.
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Wong Sue Toa, Stewart
Managing Director
16 June 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
HANISON CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Hanison Construction Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) set out on pages 128 to 290, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2021, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position
of the Group as at 31 March 2021, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the "HKICPA"”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

Py 37 A% SR

=2

ZHANISON CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS
LIMITED (E 5Bl B R AR 2R
(HREEEEAMAELZHRALE)

BER

AIZHE (U THBIEM) BB H
R 128E %290EHanison Construction
Holdings Limited (Ef5EIEZERERAT)
UATEBIEAT) RERBAE A T4H
BATEEE)) NRaMBHRE ILMBERE
BERSE—F=BA=1+—HWHEEWE
RKAREEEZHEFENGEEERR T
FREREMEZERER SKEEREER
MizEREMERUKREGEAVHRERM T
BIEFEEBERME -

BARD ZFGRaMBBRREREETES
SHEIAGRMHN(EBMBREERNNAEE
MAEtKRRTY BEER-FT_—F=8
Z+—BNGREMBERAABEZALEE
NGREMBRAKGEREMAE LEER
BEER(REMFEAN) NIRBERZ S HE -

LIPS A 2 PR 5 R A ] 2020720214 8 1o



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT %8 v/ A% ¥ i 3 5

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA’'s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgment, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

120
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

FEEZEE @

Key audit matter

RRELSIIE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BANESHMAIEIERREEZEE

Valuation of investment properties

REYFEZIGE

We identified the valuation of investment
properties as a key audit matter due to the
significant unobservable inputs and significant
judgements associated with determining the fair
value.

EREEATFESIREATTEROABEREKX
Fh > AR BEYE 2 GEHRN SAREREE

As disclosed in note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group’s investment
property portfolio comprised commercial,
industrial and residential properties and was
stated at fair value of HK$4,943,560,000,
accounting for approximately 60.8% of the
Group’s total assets as at 31 March 2021 with a
gain on change in fair value of HK$57,874,000
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss for the year then ended.

MG EMBHRRINE16PTIRE > BSEEKREY
FECEEBE - ITEREFEMEBHERATERSB
#4,943,560,00070 > 16 SEENR_-_T_—F=A
=+—HBEBEN0.8% REEZBILEEZRS
HERAEE R FEEE 2 W E A A 1E57,874,000
ITo

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of the
investment properties included:

HRPIMREYEZ HERITHEFEE

o Obtaining an understanding from the
Valuers and management of the Group
about the valuation techniques, the
performance of the property markets,
significant assumptions adopted, critical
judgmental areas, key inputs and data used
in the valuations;

THREEMR BSEEEEERFHGERFT
RzEERT - MEHTSRE-RAZETER
BABRHEHR - TEWASHREIE

e Assessing the integrity of information
provided by the management to the Valuers
by comparing details of rentals on a sample
basis to the respective underlying existing
lease agreements;
BEMERRESFFEREMBEAEE R
1TEEE MEHEEER RS EMA R ZE R
SR ;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

FAREZEIE @

Key audit matter

RRELSIIE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BANESHMAEIERREEZEE

Valuation of investment properties (Continued)

REWZEZIGE (B)

All of the Group’s investment properties are
measured using the fair value model based on
valuation conducted by independent firms of
professional valuers (the “Valuers”). As disclosed
in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements,
in determining the fair values of the Group’s
investment properties, the Valuers applied a
market value basis which involves, inter-alia,
significant unobservable inputs and significant
judgements, representing appropriate market
rent, capitalisation rate and adjusted market price
that has taken into account of property-specific
adjustments including location, land quality and
timing of referenced transactions.
BEEERREMENREBBEILIEXEGERR (M
B FHZERATFEELFE WA SE
BIMKRMFTAPTKRE  REE EEEREVMEZA
TER (HEMEATERE  ERF Rk (HPaE)
EATAEHEHABBEMERHE > BNEEHISHE
F BN RRERABEDIZER (BEZREEWEMN
BT MERKRAISERG LR ZRERE) o

o Evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the Valuers; and

AHMEGEMZEEN A REREERN ; &

o Evaluating the reasonableness of significant
unobservable inputs by comparing the
market rent estimated by the Valuers against
market data or rental of existing lease,
benchmarking capitalisation rate against
market data and comparing adjusted market
price with comparable market transactions
for comparable property in similar location
and condition on a sample basis.
ZBMRIERMAEMGESt zHIBHEESE T A
MIBBEHIREEEZHE - ERCXETH
15 85 ~ A B IS E R B LU R K&K R
ZALEBENAILER TSR 5 UFHEEXK
FABEEBABRBHNSE -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report, but does not
include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements
does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements
that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

Hith{s 2

BERREFEHHMEEARE -HMEEE
BEHENEFRANGEE  BEXEEGREMH
AR K FFImL UL 3 B9 A% BB R 5 o

BAHFEEMHERERNVNERLENREAEME
B RATAHZFHMEREREALR
BYEEEE AT oM

BERMEEEMHERRNES > RANE
ERFEBEMES  FUBEFR  EEEME
BREARSUBHRRAKMESBRETF
Ry BEBERFEEEREENELUTFEE
REEREAAY ST - BB PIBAITHI TR
MRHEFADAEMESFEEAHERRL
HABREREREE -EEHE KMREE
EES=g

EFRAEEMSAMBRREAR
ENRE

BAREFRHAESREBEFTRAGHMATEM
B(ERHBHRSER) REBB(QBEGDEY
REZREFEEMPENGEIMBRE
THERAREEEMBERRNBEAFE
R EREFFE i R M E RV E KRB R R R E
NAEREFI& T
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.
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EERAEBEMFEAMBERRAK
ENEE®

TREFEUBRRF -EFAHTIML &
ERFEKCENEN UEBERBR TRE
BRFECEARNER URERFELE
AEER IRIFEEAER EEEFR
HFLEEE JREEMBRNERS SR

BEEENMBEHRESE

LM E 5T & M B R IEAY
B

HANER EHGEEMBERABERSH
FHEBRRIEENRERMERNEARRERL
BREERE IRBRHABENEBIE
FERERNEZERREASERMASRNZH
BMER S o BRUELASN » PR S A A B IEE M
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ATAEEAEEHERENEE - GERF
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control
relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.

ZEMMBi S M FEHRBRIEN
51T ®

ERB(EAEHER ) ETHBFNBRED
RMERTEEHE  FETEXEREE-
AR -

o R R 5T Ak BB A BR BE B8R SR T B BUAR
BMBRERFEEAERRAYRLR
Rt RPITEAEFUEHEERR
URERTERMNBENERE A
HPITROER - A EFF R BE 4 K &R
A RE -BRER ERRL EE
RAERES Z £ o F IR AE 3 IR A EREF
035 B BY 58 K #5552 PR 220 B9 LB 12 S SR e
BIPAERME R E KRB E A

oo O
AN

o  THRRBSHEMBIRERER > UREE
ENEFEF EENLIFY S5£E
REERINBEREERER -

o FHMEEEZEMERATSIERIGERRE
HEFHE st A ER KRR SR -
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR

THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cContinued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date
of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities
or business activities within the Group to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.
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ZEMMBi S M FEHRBRIEN
51T ®

HESRARFECETHERNBEMR
E 455 o IRIRFTEINBY B 51 /R8>
EREBHFAHEFENBERAMNEASR
HEEM RMAIEERY S£EENF
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fi¥R & RiRRERE IR AR A MB|RE
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with
a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged
with governance, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the
independent auditor’s report is Wong Lam Ching.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

16 June 2021

ZEMMBi S M FEHRBRIEN
51T ®

HAZRGEERXEHR RAKRMETE
ERBIMHERERERER IR M
BEANUECEMKEA TR ERMBIL
MRFT A REREMEER UkAHRRE
MR BB FRERER 1T BV B S8 48 I (N %@
) e

WEREREBEENETEY RMBEWES
EHRARRSUBRERNEFRRER
B AREZEE HATZBMKRSED
HIEEEE  [RIFEREZRAAFLRK
BEEFH HEBHEERNBERLT WRE
ERAERMARSTEERFRERNEH
BREBELENARADE  RFAREFEE
WERBBEZER

HEXBIZBMBENEFEEEBAR

=& o
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127

BLJps R PR A PR A W] 2020/202148 5



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

%/T SR
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HE_ZT-—F=HB=1+—HIFE

2021 2020
B —F “BCBF
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
M 5 BT T BT T
Revenue WA 5 1,451,560 958,245
Cost of sales THE R A (1,314,320) (796,200)
Gross profit EF 137,240 162,045
Other income Hilg A 7 50,584 20,616
Other gains and losses Hihm g8 8 (1,556) 31,509
Gain (loss) on disposal of property, BE¥ % B R &HH 22U
plant and equipment = (B518) 199,618 (308)
Gain (loss) on disposal of HEWHB AT 2 (B538)
subsidiaries 38 116,497 (1,235)
Impairment losses under expected FEHAEEBIEER T2 RE
credit loss model, net 5185 %8 9 (24,849) (3,992)
Marketing and distribution costs TISHER D HER (4,334) (43,435)
Administrative expenses THEREX (191,091) (212,478)
Change in fair value of KREMEZ N TFEEE
investment properties
— Realised gains on disposals —HERZEEREIKRE 137,425 68,786
— Unrealised (losses) gains —REIH (F548) IR (79,551) 114,480
Share of profit of an associate G E A B 3,226 404
Share of (loss) profit of DMEEE T () &5H
joint ventures (31,971) 130,042
Finance costs MBER 10 (38,048) (34,682)
Profit before taxation FRAR A E F) 11 273,190 231,752
Taxation #HR1E 13 1,796 (10,376)
Profit for the year KEERH 274,986 221,376
Earnings per share sREA
Basic (HK cents) B (FBAL) 15 25.2 20.3
Diluted (HK cents) #E (B 15 25.2 20.3
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
it S LA 2 T U 2k 7%

MT I:I

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

HE-Z-—F=BA=+—HILFE

2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$ 000
BT BT
Profit for the year KEEGEH] 274,986 221,376
Other comprehensive income Htzmitm ZH) ¢
(expense):
Items that may be subsequently B REEM D EEEm ZEE !
reclassified to profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising MEBIMNERELEZERERR
on translation of foreign
operations 189 32)
Share of exchange differences DMERELEZERELE
of a joint venture 7,111 (6,520)
7,300 (6,552)
Total comprehensive income XFEEZEINELLEE
for the year 282,286 214,824
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

A MBS IR LR

AT 31 MARCH 2021
RZZZ—H=A=+—H

31.3.2021 31.3.2020
% “ETTHF
=B=+—H | =B=+—H
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
M 5 BT T BT T
Non-current assets EREBEE
Investment properties KEYE 16 4,943,560 2,858,773
Property, plant and equipment ~ ¥J¥ - ERRZHE 17 366,036 1,114,411
Right-of-use assets FREEE 18 2,855 5,957
Interest in an associate NI 19 10,740 7,514
Interests in joint ventures BEREZER 20 148,030 373,458
Loans to joint ventures EETEEN 21 560,231 701,959
Deferred tax assets RIERIEEE 35 2,836 2,508
6,034,288 5,064,580
Current assets TMENEE
Properties under development BRERPZHFEME
for sale 23 879,489 329,689
Inventories =zE8 24 12,857 16,695
Contract assets BHNEE 25 264,800 270,177
Debtors, deposits and FEWTRIE 32 E K
prepayments FEIFRIE 26 164,171 100,739
Amounts due from joint ventures FEURE & HEHIE 27 32,610 17
Financial assets at fair value ERETRATEFEZ
through profit or loss MBEE 28 438 319
Taxation recoverable AR [OFRIE 5,042 7,501
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRARIRE 29 706,389 246,140
2,065,796 971,277
Assets classified as held for sale D EAZEEHESE 30 30,077 483,587
2,095,873 1,454,864
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION & & M Btk i 2% F

AT 31 MARCH 2021
WIEZ—F=B=+—H

31.3.2021 31.3.2020
—E—F _ECERF
=B=+—H | =B=+—H
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
M sE BT T BT T
Current liabilities mEaE
Trade and other payables FE 15 TR 18 e HL th FE < =R 1B 31 640,536 646,038
Provisions BE 32 13,613 70,727
Lease liabilities HEAaR 33 3,370 6,270
Taxation payable FETIRIE 68,515 65,346
Bank loans — amounts due RITEF-—MN—FR
within one year [ ANENEE] 34 3,184,500 1,666,350
3,910,534 2,454,731
Net current liabilities mEaEREE (1,814,661) (999,867)
Total assets less current liabilities 42EERAHIAME 4,219,627 4,064,713
Non-current liabilities ERHER
Provisions BE 32 70,609 119,442
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIERE 35 8,120 16,758
Lease liabilities HEaE 33 3,793 4,867
82,522 141,067
4,137,105 3,923,646
Capital and reserves BARRK#E
Share capital &2 36 110,212 109,092
Reserves M 4,026,893 3,814,554
4,137,105 3,923,646

The consolidated financial statements on pages 128 to  $128EEFH290EMFIZAREMBRE &
290 were approved and authorised for issue by the board EEZFER_EZ—FA+NHRZEKREE
of directors on 16 June 2021 and are signed on its behalf > THTIEFLREE :

by:

Wong Sue Toa, Stewart Tai Sai Ho
FittE it
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EE EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HE_ZT-—F=HB=1+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARARBAES
Share-
based Property
Share  Contributed Special compensation revaluation  Translation  Goodwill Accumulated
capital surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total
L k3] S )
RE  BABE  BAEE  MERE  EMEE  MEEE  BEEE  BmEd At
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Agtn  ABTn  E&Tm  E%Tn BBTn A%Tn B%Tn BETn BETn
(Note 37) (Note 37)
(a3n)  (&31)

At 1 April 2019 RZE-h%mA-A 10908 404848 21,94 2428 26,554 (2452) (18) 327120 3779444
Profit for the year FEEHT - - - - - - - 21376 21,376

Exchange differences arising on translation of REENERREZERER
foreign operations - - - - = (32) = = (32
Share of exchange differences of a joint venture MIRELEZERER - - - - - (6,520) - = (6,520)
Total comprehensive (expense) income for the year ~ AFERME (i) KEHE - - - - - (6,552) - 21376 214,824
Dividends paid (Note 14) BftZRE () - - - - - - - (81,819) (81819)
Issue of shares upon exercise of share options ERREmETZRG 9 93 - 13) - - = = 89
Share options lapsed BIRERY - - - (228) - - = 4 =
Recognition of equity-settled share-based payments ~ BZLIEREERMURAR T 238 - - - 11,108 - - - - 11,108
At 31 March 2020 RIEZTE=F=1-H 109,092 404,941 21,94 13299 26,554 (9,004) (78) 335,901 3,923,646
Profit for the year REEHR - - - - - - - 274,986 274,986

Exchange differences arising on translation of HEBNABEL ZERER
foreign operations - - - - - 189 - - 189
Share of exchange differences of a joint venture MIRELEZEREE - - - - - 7111 - = 7111
Total comprehensive income for the year FEERANGLE - - - - - 7300 - 274,986 282,286
Dividends paid (Note 14) Bz () - - - - - - - (81,819) (81,819)
Issue of shares upon exercise of share options ERREmRTZRR 1,120 14,24 - (2370 - - - - 12,992
Share options lapsed BRELN - - - (92) - - = 9 -
At 31 March 2021 RZE=-F=B=1-H 110212 419183 21,94 10,837 26,554 (1,704) (78) 3,550,160 4,137,105
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
BATE RS

2021 2020
ZE-F —EIEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Operating activities EEXER
Profit before taxation BR#R Az A 273,190 231,752
Adjustments for: FHEE .
Share of profit of an associate panl=t A =YNCIbE (3,226) (404)
Share of loss (profit) of MEEERE
joint ventures E518 (EF)) 31,97 (130,042)
Dividend income i BUA (7 (9)
Interest income F2UA (17,488) (5,679)
Interest expense FEZH 38,048 34,682
Depreciation of property, ME--BERREZ
plant and equipment e 26,141 29,195
Reversal of provision for B ClmEREE A
indemnity - (8,400)
Depreciation of EREEEZINE
right-of-use assets 5,466 5,866
Impairment of FERESEZRE
right-of-use assets - 2,151
Net provisions (reversed) made (8B5[0]) ST H 3R (8,159) 965
Equity-settled share-based U mEE RS
payments Xt Z;IA - 11,108
Revaluation gain on properties REREREYEE
held for sale upon transfer to FEREMEZ
investment properties Rl - (31,859)
(Gain) loss on disposal HEME - BE K
of property, plant and ®Ez (W) B8
equipment (199,618) 308
Gain on change in fair value of KREMEZ AT EEH
investment properties 2z W (57,874) (183,266)
(Gain) loss on disposal of HERBATZ
subsidiaries (Y #) B518 (116,497) 1,235
(Gain) loss on change in fair EREm R AT EHE
value of financial assets at fair ZHBEEATEE
value through profit or loss Bz (Ww=) 518 (119) 200
Write-down for inventories WoREE 892 1,242
Reversal of write-down for BOEFESEMR
inventories (687) -
Impairment losses under FEHEEREERXTZ
expected credit loss model, EREFRE
net 24,849 3,992
Gain on disposal of joint HESSEEZWE
ventures (9,098) =
Revaluation loss on property, REREIEEY R
plant and equipment upon ME-BEREZHEZ
transfer to investment B(hEEE
properties 11,267 -
Gain on disposal of assets HEIEARELE
classified as held for sale BEZWE (249) -

BLJps R PR A PR A W] 2020/202148 5
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS %: & B

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HLEE

St
i

B

2021 2020
—E_—F g S35
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT o
Operating cash flows before EEESEHRIZ
movements in working capital EEIEER (1,198) (36,963)
Decrease (increase) in inventories FE R (Em) 3,633 (2,580)
Increase in properties under BRAPZHEWMELM
development for sale (639,070) (7,093)
(Increase) decrease in debtors, FEWRFRIE & K
deposits and prepayments FE{IFRIE (B n) R (69,172) 18,940
Decrease (increase) in contract BNEBE QEFE
assets/liabilities, net > (B ) 5,256 (2.823)
Utilisation of provisions Eph=ske i (97,788) (98,732)
Decrease in trade and & {5 R 3 e HL fth P& {3 7RIE
other payables e (5,027) (140,734)
Increase in amounts due from FEUR & & 1 2 RRIEE N
joint ventures (193) -
Cash used in operating activities AREEEHZRE (803,559) (269,985)
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid B EENER (1,542) (8,673)
Interest paid BFHE (39,313) (34,682)
Net cash used in operating activities RN EEFE RS FEE (844,414) (313,340)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS % & Bl i & 7=

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

BE_Z-_—F=—A=+—HILEFE

2021 2020
b b3 ZEIEE
NOTE HK$'000 HK$'000
M zE BETT BT
Investing activities KREEH
Interest received BUFI 2 822 3,356
Dividend received from financial BUWEBEREATE
assets at fair value through AEZMBEEZRE
profit or loss 7 9
Purchase of investment properties ~ HREREYE (28,465) (556,291)
Purchase of property, REME -BERSE
plant and equipment (7,297) (15,438)
Proceeds on disposal of HEKRBEYERENRIE
investment properties 234,463 61,800
Proceeds on disposal of property, HEME - -KBEK
plant and equipment R EFT1SRIE 500 318
Proceeds on disposal of assets HEDEARELE
classified as held for sale BEMSNRIA 452,231 -
Deposits received from disposal of ~ BUWHEDEAIFEHE
assets classified as held for sale BEZ RS 10,930 23,243
Net cash outflows on acquisitions HERB AT Z
of subsidiaries HEMHFEE 38 (276,109) (1,466,085)
Net cash inflows on disposals of HHERBATZ
subsidiaries WEMAFEE 38 178,501 426,374
Proceeds on disposal of HESEREMRENRIE
joint ventures 20,176 -
Direct attributable costs paid for MBEBHESERE
disposal of joint ventures [SERPA=E::3/ 3 L% (325) -
Loans to joint ventures SETEER (3,500) (529,217)
Repayments of loans to AEETEEEEEN
joint ventures 177,605 342,911
Dividend received from BREETEZRR
a joint venture 5,346 148,250
Capital injection to a joint venture ~ HEEERHEIE - (1,202)
Repayment from a related party RA AN LB - 24,364
Net cash from (used in) investing ®E (AR KEEH 2
activities BE38 764,885 (1,537,608)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS % & Bl i

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HLEE

B

2021 2020
—EZ-F “EFF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT o
Financing activities =
Dividends paid BNZEE (81,819) (81,819)
New bank loans raised HERITER 2,063,000 2,174,400
Repayment of bank loans EBEIRITENR (1,448,050) (859,050)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHREARE (6,338) (6,042)
Proceeds from issue of shares upon  {T{EEE IR T 21T IR 1D
exercise of share options FrigsI8 12,992 89
Net cash from financing activities REMBEXR ISR 539,785 1,227,578
Net increase (decrease) in cash and  IRERIVELEIL M Gr-)
cash equivalents FEE 460,256 (623,370)
Cash and cash equivalents at FURERIREEE
the beginning of the year 246,140 869,514
Effect of foreign exchange EXEH B
rate changes )] (4)
Cash and cash equivalents FRFEERAETEB>
at the end of the year, RR|ITHEBRRIRE
representing bank balances
and cash 706,389 246,140
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Hanison Construction Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
is an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with limited liability under the Companies
Law (2001 Second Revision), Chapter 22 of the Laws
of Cayman Islands. Its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
The addresses of the registered office and principal place
of business of the Company are disclosed in the corporate
information section of the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional
currency of the Company.

The Company is an investment holding company and the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are construction,
interior and renovation works, supply and installation
of building materials, property investment, property
development, provision of property agency and
management services and sale of health products.

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

Amendments to Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs") that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual
Framework in HKFRS Standards and the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for
the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the
annual period beginning on or after 1 April 2020 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:
Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material
and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

wre B R MY R
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HE-Z-—F=BA=+—HILFE

1. —REH

Hanison Construction Holdings Limited (&2
BRIZZERBRAR) ((RAE) RIEFSE
EERE T ZERAE(CEET—FFEZ
EEThR) » EHESHEEMMIIA—HEH R
BIRAE HRIITNEBAMERBFBRAR
(TBt3ZFRY) EH o ARRBI Z MM ER R E
EEEMB U ERN AT ER —E
"o

REMBREUBEZRY BETRAEAT
ZIMBEE -

ERAB D —RKREZERAB -EMEBATZ
TEEBRRER R REEIRE HERR
REEME MERE - MELR -WEAE
REBRBZREMBRERZHE

2. FAEEIEREMBHRSE

RAFERFERZEETERME
wEER

REFE - AEEERRXAHEBGEARQ
ERHER S _TFNA—HHZERMAK
ZEERBERE ERZH EEYFIREER
RS HERE 5| FHAIIEFT R T O REIERT BB
MR EER > LURNIGEMBRE

EBGHENE R
EBGHERE/\R
(CHE)

EBMBREER
B ERAEE
HAE=FNRERK
EBMBREEL
B (1B5T4)

EXRNER

FIREENE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HILEE

Except as described below, the application of the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual
Framework in HKFRS Standards and the other
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8 “Definition of Material”

The Group has applied the Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8 for the first time in the current year. The
amendments provide a new definition of material that
states “information is material if omitting, misstating or
obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements, which provide financial information about a
specific reporting entity”. The amendments also clarify
that materiality depends on the nature or magnitude
of information, either individually or in combination
with other information, in the context of the financial
statements taken as a whole.

The application of the amendments in the current year
had no impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 B %5 i 2R b 5

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are
not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the
related Amendments®
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual

Framework*
Amendments to Interest Rate Benchmark
HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, Reform — Phase 2?2
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and
HKFRS 16
Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets
HKFRS 10 and between an Investor and its
HKAS 28 Associate or Joint Venture®
Amendment to Covid-19-Related Rent
HKFRS 16 Concessions'
Amendment to Covid-19-Related Rent
HKFRS 16 Concessions beyond 30 June
20213
Amendments to Classification of Liabilities as
HKAS 1 Current or Non-current and
related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(2020)°
Amendments to Disclosure of Accounting
HKAS 1 and HKFRS Policies®

Practice Statement 2

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=—A=+—HILEFE

ERMERRERZHTREETE
A RS ER

AEHTEREFZEAUTERMBERKREN
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BAMBRSERE %R
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ERMBEREENETHRE REEHAKE
ERGHENE /5 ATHEE DR
(CRED) ¥BNEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %¢ & M B 2R bt 5E
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HILEE

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting ERGHERE/\R (BTA) Bt ZERS
Estimates®
Amendments to Deferred Tax related to Assets ERGHERNE I (B:T4d) HE-XXZMEE
HKAS 12 and Liabilities arising from a ZBER&EME
Single Transaction® 1ERR Z 3R
s
Amendments to Property, Plant and Equipment SR ENE AT (BTE) WE-BRERR
HKAS 16 — Proceeds before Intended B—ERERTE
Use* &R Z RS
;i
Amendments to Onerous Contracts — Cost of ERGHENE=1T15% (BTF) BEEEHN-ET
HKAS 37 Fulfilling a Contract* BN Z A
Amendments to HKFRSs  Annual Improvements to ERMBRELER (BFTE) EEMFREER
HKFRSs 2018 — 2020 —E-N\EE
ZTITFY
FEBUE
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June g R ZEZTFEB—HHAZEMRBHNEER
2020 RIEX
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 2 B —F—RB—HY 2R BEBNEREL
January 2021 Sl
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 3 A ZE - —FOB—HH 2 EBMBBHNEER
2021 RIEX
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 4 A ZE - ZF—B—HHZEMREHNEER
January 2022 Sl
5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 3 R ZE=F—B—HHAZEMENEER
January 2023 Sl

6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date 5 REEENEBAHZ BRARNEERREX
to be determined

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs P& TRt Fi] R RIEETE B FFIRES £
mentioned below, the directors of the Company G AT ESTEAN O B RERRAE
anticipate that the application of all other new and TR KBTS BRI REEDN RS iz
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on SRR REREASZE

the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable

future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %5 o 15 e 2R B i

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS
4 and HKFRS 16 “Interest Rate Benchmark Reform -
Phase 2"

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS
4 and HKFRS 16 “Interest Rate Benchmark Reform -
Phase 2" relate to the modification of financial assets,
financial liabilities and lease liabilities, specific hedge
accounting requirements and disclosure requirements
applying HKFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures” to
accompany the amendments regarding modifications and
hedge accounting.

o Modification of financial assets, financial liabilities
and lease liabilities. A practical expedient is
introduced for modifications required by the reform
(modifications required as a direct consequence of
the interest rate benchmark reform and made on an
economically equivalent basis). These modifications
are accounted for by updating the effective interest
rate. All other modifications are accounted for using
the current HKFRSs requirements. A similar practical
expedient is proposed for leasee accounting
applying HKFRS 16;

o Hedge accounting requirements. Under the
amendments, hedge accounting is not discontinued
solely because of the interest rate benchmark
reform. Hedging relationships (and related
documentation) are required to be amended to
reflect modifications to the hedged item, hedging
instrument and hedged risk. Amended hedging
relationships should meet all qualifying criteria to
apply hedge accounting, including effectiveness
requirements; and

o Disclosures. The amendments require disclosures
in order to allow users to understand the nature
and extent of risks arising from the interest rate
benchmark reform to which the Group is exposed to
and how the entity manages those risks as well as
the entity’s progress in transitioning from interbank
offered rates to alternative benchmark rates, and
how the entity is managing this transition.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-A=+—HILEFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HILEE

As at 31 March 2021, the Group has several Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR") bank loans which may
be subject to interest rate benchmark reform. The Group
expects no significant gains or losses should the interest
rate benchmark for these loans change resulting from the
reform on application of the amendments.

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current and related amendments
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)”

The amendments provide clarification and additional
guidance on the assessment of right to defer settlement
for at least twelve months from reporting date for
classification of liabilities as current or non-current,
which:

o specify that the classification of liabilities as current
or non-current should be based on rights that are
in existence at the end of the reporting period.
Specifically, the amendments clarify that:

(i) the classification should not be affected by
management intentions or expectations to
settle the liability within 12 months; and

(ii) if the right is conditional on the compliance
with covenants, the right exists if the
conditions are met at the end of the reporting
period, even if the lender does not test
compliance until a later date; and

o clarify that if a liability has terms that could,
at the option of the counterparty, result in its
settlement by the transfer of the entity’s own
equity instruments, these terms do not affect its
classification as current or non-current only if
the entity recognises the option separately as an
equity instrument applying HKAS 32 “Financial
Instruments: Presentation”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 B %5 i 2R b 5

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a
consequence of the Amendments to HKAS 1 to align the
corresponding wordings with no change in conclusion.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31
March 2021, the application of the amendments will not
result in reclassification of the Group’s liabilities.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1. Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decisions made by primary users.
In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing
Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements,
the directors of the Company have given careful
consideration to the future liquidity of the Group in
light of the fact that the Group’s current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by HK$1,814,661,000 as at 31
March 2021 and the Group also has bank loans totaling
HK$3,184,500,000, which were classified as current
liabilities on the same date. Based on past experience
that the Group has successfully renewed its borrowing
facilities, the directors of the Company are confident that
the Group will be able to renew the borrowing facilities
upon expiry.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=—A=+—HILEFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HILEE

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that,
taking into account of the unutilised and available
banking facilities, the internally generated funds of
the Group and the Group'’s ability to renew borrowing
facilities as described above, the Group has sufficient
working capital for its present requirements for the next
twelve months from 31 March 2021. Accordingly, the
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
a going concern basis.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the
investment properties and certain financial instruments,
which are measured at fair values at the end of each
reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a
liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset or liability if market participants would
take those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that
are within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”,
leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 16 “Leases”, and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such
as net realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in
use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %5 o 15 e 2R B i

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties
which are transacted at fair value and a valuation
technique that unobservable inputs is to be used to
measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation
technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition the
results of the valuation technique equals the transaction
price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of
the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety,
which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-A=+—HILEFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HILEE

3.2 Significant accounting policies
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control
the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses

and cash flows relating to transactions between members
of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %5 o 15 e 2R B i

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets
and liabilities of that subsidiary are derecognised. A gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated
as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair
value of the consideration received and the fair value
of any retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount
of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the
subsidiary attributable to the owners of the Company. All
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as
if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date
when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9
“Financial Instruments”, or when applicable, the cost on
initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a
joint venture.

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
Optional concentration test

The Group can elect to apply an optional concentration
test, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, that permits
a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of
activities and assets is not a business. The concentration
test is met if substantially all of the fair value of
the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single
identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets.
The gross assets under assessment exclude cash and
cash equivalents, deferred tax assets, and goodwill
resulting from the effects of deferred tax liabilities. If
the concentration test is met, the set of activities and
assets is determined not to be a business and no further
assessment is needed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HILEE

Asset acquisitions

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities
that do not constitute a business, the Group identifies
and recognises the individual identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed by allocating the purchase price
first to investment properties which are subsequently
measured under fair value model, the remaining
balance of the purchase price is then allocated to the
other identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis of
their relative fair values at the date of purchase. Such
a transaction does not give rise to goodwill or bargain
purchase gain.

Business combination

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values
of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Except for certain recognition exemptions, the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
must meet the definitions of an asset and a liability in
the Framework for the Preparation and Presentation
of Financial Statements (replaced by the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting in October 2010).

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or
liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements
are recognised and measured in accordance with
HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” and HKAS 19 “Employee
Benefits” respectively;
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o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree or
share-based payment arrangements of the Group
entered into to replace share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree are measured in
accordance with HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”
at the acquisition date (see the accounting policy
below);

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations”
are measured in accordance with that standard; and

o lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the
present value of the remaining lease payments (as
defined in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were
new leases at the acquisition date, except for leases
for which (a) the lease term ends within 12 months
of the acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset
is of low value. Right-of-use assets are recognised
and measured at the same amount as the relevant
lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or
unfavourable terms of the lease when compared
with market terms.

Interests in an associate and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint control over
those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have
rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of
an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
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The results and assets and liabilities of an associate or
joint ventures are incorporated in these consolidated
financial statements using the equity method of
accounting, except when the investment is classified
as held for sale, in which case it is accounted for in
accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current Assets Held for
Sale and Discontinued Operations”. Any retained portion
of an investment in an associate or joint venture that
has not been classified as held for sale continues to be
accounted for using the equity method. The financial
statements of an associate and joint ventures used for
equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform
accounting policies as those of the Group for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under
the equity method, an investment in an associate or a
joint venture is initially recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit
or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate
or joint venture. Changes in net assets of the associate/
joint venture other than profit or loss and other
comprehensive income are not accounted for unless such
changes resulted in changes in ownership interest held
by the Group. When the Group’s share of losses of an
associate or joint venture exceeds the Group's interest in
that associate or joint venture (which includes any long-
term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s
net investment in the associate or joint venture), the
Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate or joint
venture.
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An investment in an associate or a joint venture is
accounted for using the equity method from the
date on which the investee becomes an associate or a
joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an
associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost of the
investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee
is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after
reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss
in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate or a joint
venture may be impaired. When any objective evidence
exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing
its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair
value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount.
Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to
any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the
carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS
36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HILEE

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over
an associate or joint control over a joint venture, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in the
investee with a resulting gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss. When the Group retains an interest in
the former associate or joint venture and the retained
interest is a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9,
the Group measures the retained interest at fair value
at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair
value on initial recognition. The difference between the
carrying amount of the associate or joint venture and
the fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds
from disposing of the relevant interest in the associate or
joint venture is included in the determination of the gain
or loss on disposal of the associate or joint venture. In
addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to
that associate or joint venture on the same basis as would
be required if that associate or joint venture had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a
gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive
income by that associate or joint venture would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or
loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) upon disposal of the relevant associate or
joint venture.

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a
joint venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes
an investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement
to fair value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an
associate or a joint venture but the Group continues to
use the equity method, the Group reclassifies to profit or
loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had previously
been recognised in other comprehensive income relating
to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of
the related assets or liabilities.
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When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from
the transactions with the associate or joint venture are
recognised in the consolidated financial statements only
to the extent of interests in the associate or joint venture
that are not related to the Group.

Interests in joint operations

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have
rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities,
relating to the joint arrangement. Joint control is
the contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

The Group accounts for the assets, liabilities, revenues
and expenses relating to its interest in a joint operation
in accordance with the HKFRSs applicable to the
particular assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.

When a group entity transacts with a joint operation in
which a group entity is a joint operator (such as a sale
or contribution of assets), the Group is considered to be
conducting the transaction with the other parties to the
joint operation, and gains and losses resulting from the
transactions are recognised in the consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of other parties’ interests in
the joint operation.

When a group entity transacts with a joint operation
in which a group entity is a joint operator (such as a
purchase of assets), the Group does not recognise its
share of the gains and losses until it resells those assets to
a third party.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
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Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their
carrying amount will be recovered principally through
a sale transaction rather than through continuing use.
This condition is regarded as met only when the asset
is available for immediate sale in its present condition
subject only to terms that are usual and customary
for sales of such asset and its sale is highly probable.
Management must be committed to the sale, which
should be expected to qualify for recognition as a
completed sale within one year from the date of
classification.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving
disposal of an investment, or a portion of an investment,
in an associate or joint venture, the investment or the
portion of the investment that will be disposed of is
classified as held for sale when the criteria described
above are met, and the Group discontinues the use of the
equity method in relation to the portion that is classified
as held for sale from the time when the investment (or a
portion of the investment) is classified as held for sale.

Non-current assets classified as held for sale are measured
at the lower of their previous carrying amount and fair
value less costs to sell except for investment properties
which continue to be measured in accordance with the
accounting policies as set out in respective sections.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same.
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Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance
as the Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the
same contract are accounted for and presented on a net
basis.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
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Over time revenue recognition: measurement of
progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis of
direct measurements of the value of the goods or services
transferred to the customer to date relative to the
remaining goods or services promised under the contract,
that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring
control of goods or services.

As a practical expedient, if the Group has a right to
consideration in an amount that corresponds directly
with the value of the Group’s performance completed
to date, the Group recognises revenue in the amount to
which the Group has the right to invoice.

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on input
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis of
the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a
performance obligation relative to the total expected
inputs to the satisfaction of that performance obligation,
that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring
control of goods or services.

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts
the promised amount of consideration for the effects
of the time value of money if the timing of payments
agreed (either explicitly or implicitly) provides the
customer or the Group with a significant benefit of
financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer. In those circumstances, the contract contains a
significant financing component. A significant financing
component may exist regardless of whether the promise
of financing is explicitly stated in the contract or implied
by the payment terms agreed to by the parties to the
contract.
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For contracts where the period between payment and
transfer of the associated goods or services is less than
one year, the Group applies the practical expedient of
not adjusting the transaction price for any significant
financing component.

Contract costs

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those
costs that the Group incurs to obtain a contract with a
customer that it would not have incurred if the contract
had not been obtained.

The Group recognises such costs (sales commissions) as
an asset if it expects to recover these costs. The asset so
recognised is subsequently amortised to profit or loss on
a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to
the customer of the goods or services to which the assets
relate. The asset is subject to impairment review.

The Group applies the practical expedient of expensing
all incremental costs to obtain a contract if these costs
would otherwise have been fully amortised to profit or
loss within one year.

Costs to fulfil a contract

The Group incurs costs to fulfil a contract in its
construction contracts. The Group first assesses whether
these costs qualify for recognition as an asset in terms of
other relevant standards, failing which it recognises an
asset for these costs only if they meet all of the following
criteria:

(@) the costs relate directly to a contract or to an
anticipated contract that the Group can specifically
identify;
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
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(b) the costs generate or enhance resources of
the Group that will be used in satisfying (or in
continuing to satisfy) performance obligations in the
future; and

(c) the costs are expected to be recovered.

The asset so recognised is subsequently amortised to
profit or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with
the transfer to the customer of the goods or services to
which the assets relate. The asset is subject to impairment
review.

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after
the date of initial application or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one
or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to
each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-
alone price of the lease component and the aggregate
stand-alone price of the non-lease components, including
contract for acquisition of ownership interest of a
property which includes both leasehold land and non-
lease building components, unless such allocation cannot
be made reliably.
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The Group applies practical expedient not to separate
non-lease components from lease component, and
instead account for the lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease
component.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of plant and machinery and shops
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. Lease payments on short-term leases are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another
systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by
the terms and conditions of the lease.

Except for those that are classified as investment
properties and measured under fair value model, right-
of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HILEE

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the
lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet
the definition of investment property or inventory as
a separate line item on the consolidated statement
of financial position. Right-of-use assets that meet
the definition of investment property and inventory
are presented within “investment properties” and
“properties under development for sale”, respectively.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost of
right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the

lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.
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After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

° the lease term has changed, in which case the
related lease liability is remeasured by discounting
the revised lease payments using a revised discount
rate at the date of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes in
market rental rates following a market rent
review, in which cases the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

e the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

o the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability,
less any lease incentive receivables, based on the lease
term of the modified lease by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the
effective date of the modification.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %5 o %5 e 2R B

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HILEE

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified contract
contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price
of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone
price of the non-lease components.

The Group as a lessor
Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term except for investment properties measured
under fair value model.

Rental income which are derived from the Group’s
ordinary course of business are presented as revenue.

Refundable rental deposits
Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.

Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments from lessees.
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Sublease

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts
for the head lease and the sublease as two separate
contracts. The sublease is classified as a finance or
operating lease by reference to the right-of-use asset
arising from the head lease, not with reference to the
underlying asset.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were
not part of the original terms and conditions are
accounted for as lease modifications, including lease
incentives provided through forgiveness or reduction of
rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating
lease as a new lease from the effective date of the
modification, considering any prepaid or accrued lease
payments relating to the original lease as part of the
lease payments for the new lease.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at
that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that
are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value
was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HILEE

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at
the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses
items are translated at the average exchange rates for
the period, unless exchange rate fluctuate significantly
during that period, in which case the exchange rates at
the date of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
translation reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation,
or a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal
of an interest in a joint arrangement or an associate
that includes a foreign operation of which the retained
interest becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange
difference accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added
to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
For properties under development for which revenue
is recognised over time, the Group ceases to capitalise
borrowing costs as soon as the properties are ready for
the Group's intended sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after
the related assets is ready for its intended use or sale is
included in the general borrowing pool for calculation
of capitalisation rate on general borrowings. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deductible from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %5 o 15 e 2R B i

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support
to the Group with no future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable. Such grants are presented under “other
income”.

Employee benefits
Retirement benefits cost

Payments to the Group’s defined contribution retirement
benefits schemes, state-managed retirement benefit
scheme and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
services entitling them to the contributions.

Termination benefits

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at
the earlier of when the Group entity can no longer
withdraw the offer of the termination benefit and when
it recognises any related restructuring costs.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another HKFRS requires or permit the inclusion of
the benefit in the cost of an asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HILEE

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries and annual leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term
employee benefits are measured at present value of the
estimated future cash outflows expected to be made by
the Group in respect of services provided by employees
up to the reporting date. Any changes in the liabilities’
carrying amounts resulting from service cost, interest and
remeasurements are recognised in profit or loss except to
the extent that another HKFRS requires or permits their
inclusion in the cost of an asset.

Share-based payment arrangements
Equity-settled share-based payment arrangements

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based
payments determined at the grant date without taking
into consideration all non-market vesting conditions is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments
that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase
in equity (share-based compensation reserve). At the end
of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate
of the number of equity instruments expected to vest
based on assessment of all relevant non-market vesting
conditions. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that
the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate,
with a corresponding adjustment to the share-based
compensation reserve. For shares/share options that vest
immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of the
shares/share options granted is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share-based compensation reserve
will be transferred to share capital and contributed
surplus. When the share options are forfeited after
the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry
date, the amount previously recognised in share-based
compensation reserve will be transferred to accumulated
profits.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before
taxation because of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HILEE

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries, and interests in an associate and joint
ventures, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse
in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of the reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

For the purpose of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model,
the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed
to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the
presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted
when the investment property is depreciable and is held
within a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in
the investment property over time, rather than through
sale.
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For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable
to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” requirements to the leasing
transaction as a whole. Temporary differences relating
to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are assessed on
a net basis. Excess of depreciation on right-of-use assets
over the lease payments for the principal portion of lease
liabilities results in net deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxation entity by the
same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
in which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity respectively. When current tax or deferred
tax arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.
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Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties also include leased properties
which are being recognised as right-of-use assets and
subleased by the Group under operating leases.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are measured at fair value, adjusted to exclude any
prepaid or accrued operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for
the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected
from its disposals. A leased property which is recognised
as a right-of-use asset is derecognised if the Group as
intermediate lessor classifies the sublease as a finance
lease. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
property (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset)
is included in the profit or loss in the period in which the
property is derecognised.

If there is a transfer from investment property carried
at fair value to owner-occupied property evidenced by
the commencement of owner occupation, the property’s
deemed cost for subsequent accounting shall be its fair
value at the date of change in use.
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Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that
are held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services, or for administrative purposes. Property, plant
and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

If a property becomes an investment property because
its use has changed as evidenced by end of owner-
occupation, any difference between the carrying amount
and the fair value of that item (including the relevant
leasehold land classified as right-of-use assets) at the date
of transfer is recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in property revaluation reserve. On
the subsequent sale or retirement of the property, the
relevant revaluation reserve will be transferred directly to
accumulated profits. If the carrying amount decreased as
a result of a revaluation, the decrease shall be recognised
in profit or loss.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method
are reviewed at the end of the reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use
of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on disposal or
retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the net proceeds
and the carrying amount of the assets and is recognised
in profit or loss.
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Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets to determine whether
there is any indication that these assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if
any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be established, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash generating units
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can
be established. The recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating
units to which the corporate asset belongs, and is
compared with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.
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If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units,
including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group
of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount
of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit or the group of cash-generating units. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest
of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its
value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of
the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other
assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit
or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating
units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Inventories
Properties under development for sale

Properties under development for sale which are
intended to be sold upon completion of development are
classified as current assets. Except for the leasehold land
element which is measured at cost model in accordance
with the accounting policies of right-of-use assets,
properties under development for sale are carried at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined
on a specific identification basis including allocation
of the related development expenditure incurred and
where appropriate, borrowing costs capitalised. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price for
the properties less estimated cost to completion and costs
necessary to make the sales.

Properties under development for sale are transferred to
properties held for sale upon completion.

Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are completed properties and
are classified under current assets. They are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs relating to
the development of properties, comprising land costs
and development costs, are included in properties under
development for sale until such time when they are
completed. Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price less all anticipated cost to be incurred in
marketing and selling.

The Group transfers a property from inventories to
investment property when there is a change in use to
hold the property to earn rentals or/and for capital
appreciation rather than for sale in the ordinary course
of business, which is evidenced by the inception of an
operating lease to another party. Any difference between
the fair value of the property at the date of transfer and
its previous carrying amount is recognised in profit or
loss.
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Others

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are calculated using
the weighted average method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories less
all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to
make the sale.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, it is probable that the Group will be required to
settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made
of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking
into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding
the obligation. When a provision is measured using the
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows
(where the effect of the time value of money is material).

Provisions for the expected cost of rectification work
under the relevant construction contracts, interior
and renovation contracts and installation of building
materials contracts are recognised at the date of
rendering the respective contract work, at the directors’
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the
Group’s obligation.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the market place.
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Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15 “Revenue
from Contracts with Customers”. Transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial
assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid
or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset
or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

e  the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to

cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a financial
asset, the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment
in other comprehensive income if that equity investment
is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to
which HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations” applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at the
amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing
so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch.

(i)  Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting period. If the
credit risk on the credit impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting
period following the determination that the asset is no
longer credit impaired.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
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(ii)  Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain
or loss recognised in profit or loss excluded any dividend
or interest earned on the financial asset and is included in
the “other gains and losses” line item.

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets
(including trade debtors, loans to joint ventures, amounts
due from joint ventures, other receivables and bank
balances), and other items (including contract assets and
loan commitments), which are subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated
at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as
well as the forecast of future conditions.
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The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
debtors, contract assets and lease receivables. The Group
uses collective assessment to determine the ECL for
the trade debtors and contract assets, except for trade
debtors and contract assets receivable from departments
of The Government of HKSAR and credit-impaired which
are assessed for ECL individually.

For loan commitments and all other instruments, the
Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL,
unless when there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of
whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in
the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for
the debtor;
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o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor; and

e an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a debt instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the debt instrument is
determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date.
A debt instrument is determined to have low credit
risk if (1) it has a low risk of default, (2) the borrower
has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term and (3) adverse changes
in economic and business conditions in the longer term
may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the
borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

For loan commitments, the date that the Group becomes
a party to the irrevocable commitment is considered to
be the date of initial recognition for the purposes of
assessing impairment. In assessing whether there has
been a significant increase in the credit risk since initial
recognition of a loan commitment, the Group considers
changes in the risk of a default occurring on the loan to
which a loan commitment relates.
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The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

(ii) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including
the Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider; or

(d) itis becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.
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(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over three years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss.

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition. For a lease
receivable, the cash flows used for determining the ECL
is consistent with the cash flows used in measuring the
lease receivable in accordance with HKFRS 16.
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For undrawn loan commitments, the ECL is the present
value of the difference between the contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group if the holder of the loan
commitments draws down the loan, and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive if the loan is drawn
down.

For ECL on loan commitments for which the effective
interest rate cannot be determined, the Group will
apply a discount rate that reflects the current market
assessment of the time value of money and the risks
that are specific to the cash flows but only if, and to the
extent that, the risks are taken into account by adjusting
the discount rate instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls
being discounted.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables and contract
assets are considered on a collective basis taking into
consideration past due information and relevant credit
information such as forward looking marcoeconomic
information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

o Past-due status;

° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by the management
of the Group to ensure the constituents of each group
continue to share similar credit risk characteristics.
Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset

is credit impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.
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Except for loan commitments, the Group recognises an
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial
instruments by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade debtors and contract assets where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.
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Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities, including trade and other payables
and bank loans are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, the directors of the
Company are required to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.
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Critical judgement in applying accounting
policies

The following is the critical judgement, apart from those
involving estimations, that the directors of the Company
have made in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies and that have the significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purpose of measuring deferred tax liabilities
arising from investment properties that are measured
using the fair value model, the directors of the Company
have reviewed the investment property portfolio of the
Group'’s subsidiaries, associate and joint ventures and
concluded that the investment properties of the Group,
associate and joint ventures are not held under a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all
of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
properties over time, rather than through sale. Therefore,
in determining the Group’s deferred taxation on
investment properties, the directors of the Company
have determined that the presumption that the carrying
amounts of investment properties measured using the
fair value model are recovered entirely through sale is
not rebutted. The Group has not recognised any deferred
taxes on changes in fair value of investment properties
as the Group, associate and joint ventures are not subject
to any income taxes on the fair value changes of the
investment properties on disposal.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end of the reporting period that may have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year.
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Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties are carried in the consolidated
statement of financial position at 31 March 2021 at their
fair value of HK$4,943,560,000 (2020: HK$2,858,773,000)
(note 16) based on valuation of these properties
conducted by Colliers International (Hong Kong) Limited
(“Colliers”) and Jones Lang LaSalle Limited (“JLL")
(2020: Colliers and JLL), independent property valuers
(the “Valuers”). In determining the fair values of the
Group’s investment properties, the Valuers applied a
market value basis which involves, inter-alia, significant
unobservable inputs and significant judgements,
representing appropriate market rent, capitalisation rate
and adjusted market price that has taken into account
of property-specific adjustments including location, land
quality and timing of referenced transactions.

In relying on the valuation report, the directors of
the Company have exercised their judgement and are
satisfied that the method of valuation is reflective
of the current market conditions. Changes to these
assumptions, including the potential risk of any market
violation, policy, geopolitical and social changes or
other unexpected incidents as a result of change
in macroeconomic environment, travel restrictions
implemented by many countries, changes in policy
direction and/or mortgage requirements, or other
unexpected incidents would result in changes in the fair
values of the Group’s investment properties and the
corresponding adjustments to the amount of gain or loss
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income. The directors of the
Company have performed internal assessment on the
risks of change in marcoeconomic environment through
performing sensitivity analysis in relation to the Group’s
investment properties.
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Provisions

Significant management estimates are involved in the
determination of the cost of work to be incurred during
the defect liability period. Accordingly, management
exercises considerable judgment in determining whether
there is a present obligation as a result of a past event
at the reporting date, whether it is more likely than
not that such rectification work will result an outflow
of resources and whether the amount of the obligation
can be reliably estimated with reference to the relevant
correspondences and contracts with customers. The
management estimates the cost for rectification work
with regard to the Group’s experience in addressing
such matters. As at 31 March 2021, the Group recognised
provision related to rectification work amounting to
HK$84,222,000 (31 March 2020: HK$190,169,000) (note
32).

Provision of ECL for trade debtors and contract
assets

Trade debtors and contract assets receivable from
departments of The Government of HKSAR and with
credit-impaired are assessed for ECL individually. The
Group uses collective assessment to determine the ECL
for the remaining trade debtors and contract assets by
grouping debtors based on the Group’s internal credit
ratings.

As at 31 March 2021, the carrying amounts of trade
debtors and contract assets were HK$109,923,000 and
HK$264,800,000 (31 March 2020: HK$67,165,000 and
HK$270,177,000) (net of allowance for credit losses
of trade debtors and contract assets of HK$5,307,000
and HK$617,000 (31 March 2020: HK$109,000 and
HK$496,000)), respectively. The provision of ECL is
sensitive to changes in estimates. Due to greater financial
uncertainty triggered by the Covid-19 pandemic, the
Group has increased the expected loss rates in the current
year as there is higher risk that a prolonged pandemic
could led to increased credit default rate. Details of
impairment assessment are set out in note 48.
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Provision for ECL for loans to joint ventures

Management regularly reviews the impairment
assessment and evaluate the ECL for the loans to
joint ventures. Appropriate impairment allowance is
recognised in profit or loss.

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group regularly
monitors the business performance of the joint ventures.
The Group's credit risks in these balances are mitigated
through the value of assets held by the joint ventures. In
making this assessment, the loans to joint ventures are
assessed individually by the management of the Group,
based on the financial background, the risk of default
occurring on the loans to joint ventures and forward-
looking information that is reasonable, supportable and
available without undue cost or effort.

As at 31 March 2021, the carrying amounts of
loans to joint ventures were HK$560,231,000 (2020:
HK$701,959,000) (net of allowance for credit losses
of HK$28,162,000 (2020: HK$9,168,000)). Details of
impairment assessment are set out in note 48.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-A=+—HILEFE

BEREEMHNAREEHIRRRE

EEEEHEEREN LG SERER
MZAHEERE -BERERENEDE

=5
e ©

REEERBREEFEARETRE LA
i AEEERERGEEENEFRRE &
ERENZSERNEERRBBSEREM
RHEENBERE RETZIGLR 581
FENHFAEREERREMBER 62
CEERBELEENZRABURBANEBE
A B AR AT S S AT B AYRTME 1%
BRETE RIS -

MRZEZ—F=B=1+—H 88 XEM
R BR I (B 2 74 1£560,231,00070 (C B T4 :
71£701,959,0007t) (NPREEEBEERE
28,162,000t (Z T T4 : #H%9,168,000
7)) © BB Z F IE B AL MisEA8 o

189

BLJps R PR A PR A W] 2020/202148 5

-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4% AR5 3 2 B 51

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HILEE

5. REVENUE

Revenue represents the aggregate of the amounts
received or receivable from construction contracts,
interior and renovation contracts, installation of building
materials, sales of health products, provision of property

5. A

WATEFRBEREIRSGH
R ZEREMH REERZHE VR
HYEREREERS BEESEURME
REZHEWRABKEEKR

SRR AMEET

THREER > 7

agency and management services, hotel operations and T -
lease income from property investment during the year,
and is analysed as follows:
Disaggregation of revenue KA 735
2021 2020
B —ETF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Recognised over time: Fefi S o
Revenue from construction BETESOZWA
contract work 1,147,285 600,251
Revenue from interior and KR EETIESOZEA
renovation contracts 167,736 211,677
Revenue from installation of TR EME Z WA
building materials 36,905 38,207
Revenue from hotel operations BEEEIRA 773 2,798
Property management MEBEERBUA
service income 5,792 13,030
Recognised at a point in time: TE R B R R R RESD
Sales of health products BREERZIHEESEE 32,180 50,279
Property agency service income MERERFUA 5,227 3,429
Revenue from contracts REEXEREHNZIA
with customers 1,395,898 919,671
Lease income from property MEREZHEWRA
investment 55,662 38,574
1,451,560 958,245
Geographical market: MEME -
Hong Kong 5% 1,451,560 958,245
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Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

Revenue from construction contracts, interior and
renovation contract, and installation of building
materials

The Group provides construction contract work, interior
and renovation contract work and installation of building
materials contract work under long-term contracts with
customers. Such contracts are entered into before the
services begin. The Group’s contract work enhances an
asset that the external customers control as the Group
performs. Revenue from provision of such contract work
is therefore recognised over time. The revenue from the
contract work, except for the revenue from provision of
supply and installation of ceiling system (without a direct
measurement of value of performance completed to
date), is recognised using output method, i.e. based on
surveys of the relevant services completed by the Group
to date as certified by independent surveyors appointed
by the customers in relation to the work completed by
the Group. The directors of the Company consider that
output method would faithfully depict the Group’s
performance towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligations in these contracts under HKFRS
15. The revenue from provision of supply and installation
of ceiling system is recognised using input method.
The measures of the progress is determined based on
the proportion of specific costs incurred to-date to the
estimated total costs for each contract.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-A=+—HILEFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HILEE

Sales of health products

Revenue from health products is recognised at a point
in time when control of health products is transferred
to the customers, being at the point that the customers
obtain the control of the health products and the Group
has present right to payment and the collection of the
consideration is probable.

Property agency income

For revenue from provision of property agency
service, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
customers execute a legally binding agreement from its
counterparty and performance obligations are satisfied.
Payment of the transaction is due immediately when
performance obligations are satisfied.

Property management service income

The provision of property management services is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligations, as the customers simultaneously
receive and consume the benefits from the Group's
performance.

Revenue from hotel operations
For revenue from hotel operations mainly comprised of

hotel accommodation income, which is recognised over
the time of occupancy.
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Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with

customers

The transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied) as at 31 March 2021 and 2020 and the

expected timing of recognising revenue are as follows:

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HE_Z-—HF=-A=+—HIEFE

AEERTERANNBHEHEZX
S8

RIBE-_—FR-_EBE_EF=H=+—A8H"
PEEBRTARTRIABAIARTRBEANEZFTZ
R EREDWANTELRRRMT !

Revenue from  Revenue from

Revenue from interior and installation
construction renovation of building
contracts contracts materials

B RETRAEE RREEME

BHKA BHWA WA
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BETT BAETT

As at 31 March 2021

R-F_—-%#=A=+—-H

Within one year —ERN 959,864 128,346 80,031
More than one year but not —FEH EERENR
more than two years 504,597 16,146 133,340
More than two years MEMN £ 19,164 12,000 86,342
1,483,625 156,492 299,713
As at 31 March 2020 RZE-FE=RA=+—H
Within one year —&ER 929,954 179,120 40,768
More than one year but not —EL EERENR
more than two years 542,366 47,802 28,751
More than two years MEMN L 598,329 = =
2,070,649 226,922 69,519
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HILEE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is organised into seven operating divisions:
construction, interior and renovation works, design,
supply and installation of building materials, sales of
health products, property investment (including lease
income from property investment and revenue from
hotel operations), property development and provision
of property agency and management services. These
divisions are the basis on which the Group reports
its financial information internally and are regularly
reviewed by the executive directors of the Company,
being the chief operating decision makers, for the
purpose of allocating resources to segments and assessing
their performance.

(@) Segment revenues and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and
results by operating and reportable segment:

For the year ended 31 March 2021

fo o A S R AR B R

6. SEAER

FEFTECERR OB/ TR BE KK
MELRR BEEMBRF - HERZE BE
EmZHE - MERE (BEVNEREAER
ARBEEEBWA) MEZRRMERLER
EERBZRHE FEERBLEIDERE
BEREHABHHFER LHESATRITE
E RIELEREE) THERAUDEED
SRz ERKREDERZRE -

(a) DHEWMAKREE

UTHREERREERAZ2RIBFZRAR
FREZDM:

HE_S_—S=B=1+—HLHEE

Property
Interior and Building Health Property Property  agency and Segment
Construction  renovation materials products investment  development  management total  Eliminations  Consolidated
NERE
BE RHREE  BEME REER NERE  MEER REE  pESH i &8
HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
AMTn  ERfn  ERfn ERfn BRTn ERTn ERTn ERTn ERTn EETn
REVENUE KA
External sales HIMAE 1,147,285 167,736 36,905 32,180 56,435 - 11,019 1,451,560 - 1,451,560
Inter-segment sales HRERMZHE 955 77,925 11,954 16 7288 - 6218 54,416 (54,416) -
Total o 1,148,240 195,661 48,859 32,1% 63723 - 11,297 1,505,976 (54416) 1,451,560
RESULTS ]
Segment result NELE 3712 1811 1346 2537 2410 265,561 349 307,786 - 307,786
Unallocated expenses KR (34,5%)
Profit before taxation FiaEAl 213,19
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For the year ended 31 March 2020

Interior and Building
Construction  renovation materials

BE RHREE  BEMH
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
EBTr  EBTn  ABTR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=—A=+—HILEFE

BE_Z_TFE=-RB=+—HLFE

Property

Health Property Property  agency and Segment

products investment development management total  Eliminations Consolidated
NERE

REER  MERE  WRER REE  SEg fis &8
HKFO00  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000
ATn  ARTm  EETn B¥Tm BETm BETn ENT¢

REVENUE WA

External sales HiMEE 600,251 211,677 38,07 50,279 430 - 16,459 958,245 - 958,245
Inter-segment sales NEEBHZHE 4718 2,62 3,769 69 6,815 - 1671 39,726 (39,726) -
Total it 605,029 234,301 #1976 50,348 43,187 - 18,130 997,971 (39,726) 958,245
RESULTS 5

Segment result NELE 3,463 7945 730 (8,583) 99,329 132,730 353 264,967 = 264,967
Unallocated expenses RS (33215)
Profit before taxation R aTER 21752

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies described
in note 3. Segment results represent the results from
each segment without allocation of administration costs
incurred by head office and the inactive subsidiaries. This
is the measure reported to the chief operating decision
makers for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.

Inter-segment sales are charged by reference to market
prices.

BREENERZ Gt BRE M 3R A
EEZEFBR R - DEXERAERESED
REEZER TRDPEEBBREHEER
EEZMBAT ZITEAZ o I T A E B
ERAREERUFERSRRREFEZE
By

SREFEZHE2EHEFE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HILEE

(b) Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and

fo o A S R AR B R

(b) NEEELER

UTATERRSEERAZRNEZEER

liabilities by operating and reportable segment: BED:

31.3.2021 31.3.2020
=B=+—H | =ZB=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
AT T BT

Segment assets FEEEE
Construction ek 751,766 560,963
Interior and renovation B e 4E(E 145,533 123,092
Building materials EEME 51,899 22,877
Health products R E fh 32,265 38,752
Property investment YMIEKRE 5,271,947 4,654,112
Property development MEZRE 1,503,261 936,615
Property agency and management MEREBEREE 40,686 41,581
Total segment assets DIEEELELE 7,797,357 6,377,992
Unallocated assets RO EE 332,804 141,452
Consolidated assets EEBE 8,130,161 6,519,444

Segment liabilities SHEEE
Construction B 489,566 561,473
Interior and renovation B R 4E(E 35,172 49,205
Building materials BEEME 5,810 6,505
Health products EEEMR 3,780 8,077
Property investment YIEKRE 2,733,702 1,684,910
Property development MERRE 545,936 119,931
Property agency and management MEREREIE 911 1,007
Total segment liabilities DEEEREE 3,814,877 2,431,108
Unallocated liabilities Ko EE 178,179 164,690
Consolidated liabilities meaf’E 3,993,056 2,595,798

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance
and allocating resources between segments:

o all assets are allocated to operating segments other
than central bank balances and cash of head office
and other inactive subsidiaries, certain self-used
properties, taxation recoverable and deferred tax

assets; and

o all liabilities are allocated to operating segments
other than other payables of head office and the
inactive subsidiaries, taxation payable and deferred

tax liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 424 B % 2 b 5 (/—
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HE_ T —S=-A=+—HILEE J

(o HER

(c) Other information

Year ended 31 March 2021

BE_T_—F=ZA=+—HLEFE

Property
Interior and Building Health Property Property  agency and
Construction ~ renovation materials products  investment  development management  Unallocated  Consolidated
NERE
BE  RBREE BEMH BRER NERE NELR REE KR ga
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
A¥Tn  BBTn ERTR TR TR TR ERTR ABTR EBTn
Amounts included in the measure HRNRREINEEERTAZE
of segment results or segment assets: 8
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment % BERZEZE 5282 666 32 87 6471 - 1828 11,845 2,14
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 2623 530 575 1738 - - - - 5,466
Revaluation loss on property, plant and equipment REBERENZR
upon transfer to investment properties N BERREZERER - - - - 11,267 - - - 11,267
Gain on change in fair value of investment properties RENEZATEEH NG - - - - (57,874) - - - (57.874)
Gain on change in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL BERERATENEZ
HBEEZATELH I UE (19) - - - - - - - (119
Write-down of inventories WAzES - - - 892 - - - - 892
Reversal of write-down of inventories BEEENE - - - - - - (687) - (687)
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment HENE BRRZEZEHE (08 112 - - - 12 (199,742) - - (199,618)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HERBARZKE - - - - - (116,497) - - (116,497)
Impairment losses (reversal of impairment losses) BHEEREEATZ
under ECL model, net REGE BERERR 38 525 ® 2 - 5316 18,994 - - 24,849
Gain on disposal of assets classified as held for sale HEMBARELEREZ NG - - - - (249) - - - (249)
Gain on disposal of joint ventures HEREARZ NG - - - - - (9,098) - - (9,098)
Interest income HISKA (498) (147) (29 - (124) (16,666) [0} ®) (17.488)
Share of profit of an associate HMEREATER - - - - (3,226) - - - (3,226)
Share of loss of joint ventures HMERELEEHE - - - - 28353 3618 - - 31,97
Finance costs MHER 185 30 3 101 23,505 14,194 - - 38,048
Additions to non-current assets (Note) FEFRHEE () 1211 - - 133 3,854 - 1,498 - 35,762
Interest in an associate BEATZER - - - - 10,740 - - - 10,740
Interests in joint ventures RELRER - - - - - 148,030 - - 148,030
Loans to joint ventures RECEER - - - - 132,203 428,028 - - 560,231
Amounts regularly provided to FaETHENEEERRHERS
the chief operating decision makers but not included IBMERREL SR
in the measure of segment results:
Income tax expenses (credit) Fiigi% GHA) 1519 ®3) (202) - (3320 - 50 - (1,7%)
Note: Non-current assets exclude deferred tax assets, right- Mzt : ERHBEADIEBIERIESE (EHRE
of-use assets, interest in an associate, interests in joint BE - BEATI TS DRSS
ventures and loans to joint ventures. RS,
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BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HILEE

Year ended 31 March 2020

HEECE

FZR=+—HLEE

Property
Interior and Building Health Property Property  agency and
Construction  renovation materials products investment development management  Unallocated  Consolidated
NERE
BE  EBREE  BEME  BRER  WERE  YEER KER AAR k&
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
AbTn  AbTn  B%Tn A%Trn B%Trn B%Trn BETrn AETrn TR
Amounts included in the measure FENBRENNYEEERTAZ
of segment results or segment assets: 28
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment NE BERRBEZINE 6,052 130 - 588 9,700 - 1,426 11,299 29,195
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERREEZIE 1,774 79 781 259 = = = = 5,866
Impairment of right-of-use assets EREEEZAE - - - 2,151 - - - - 2,151
Revaluation gain on properties held for sale upon REBERENER
transfer to investment properties BERENEZ KNG - - - - (31,859) - - = (31,859)
Gain on change in fair value of investment properties  RENEZ ATELHZKE - - - - (183,266) - - - (183,266)
Write-down of inventories HiRFS - - - - - - 1,202 - 1,242
Loss on change in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL ~ EiBEHFATENEZ
UBEEZATEEHIER 200 - - - - - - - 200
(Gain) loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment ~ H£#% BE kRt (k) B
B (108) - - 448 - - (32 - 308
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HERBATZER - - - - 1,235 - - - 1,235
(Reversal of impairment losses) impairment losses BHEEFREATZ
under ECL model, net (BEHESR) AESEE (4,920) (30) (178) (40) 3 9,168 (1) - 3992
Interest income FIEHKA (2,605) (161) (91) ®) (27) 2303) 0} (463) (5,679)
Share of profit of an associate HMEBEATER - - = = (404) = = = (404)
Share of loss (profit) of joint ventures MEGEREFH (57 - - - - 20,847 (150,889) - = (130,042)
Finance costs HBER 35 16 17 206 32,091 2317 - - 34,682
Additions to non-current assets (Note) REFRBEE () 676 1,263 - 685 657,778 - 1,792 = 662,194
Interest in an associate NGRS - - - = 7514 = = = 7514
Interests in joint ventures REGEZEL - - - - 121,658 251,800 - - 373458
Loans to joint ventures RELEER = = = = 479,711 22,48 = = 701,959
Amounts regularly provided to the chief operating FRETHENELAETRER
decision makers but not included in the measure BITLEARELEE.
of segment results:
Income tax expenses (credit) FifgiRs GTA) 5,446 1,216 91 - 5,566 - (1,983) - 10376

Note: Non-current assets exclude deferred tax assets, right-
of-use assets, interest in an associate, interests in joint

ventures and loans to j

oint ventures.

Mzt : JERBBEEABEELERESE LHE

BE -MEQRZEm-

REEEEEM-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS % &

S 15 i 2 B

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=—A=+—HILEFE

Geographical information & &
The Group’s revenue which is generated from customers
located in Hong Kong, the Company’s place of domicile,
amounted to HK$1,451,560,000 (2020: HK$958,245,000).
Accordingly, no further analysis of the Group’s revenue
by geographical market based on geographical location — S Do
of customers has been presented.

The analysis of the Group’s non-current assets by

s &£ E AU A B #1,451,560,0007T (ZF
I A18958,245,0007T) KRB EFH (KA
BFEME) WEF  MAEELRIBEBEES
ZHIBME2F LI E IS D ENR A (EE

rEEFRBEERBEEZHMEBUEDN

geographical location of assets is presented as follows — Z2IRIIT (i) :
(Note):
31.3.2021 31.3.2020
—E—F —ECIE
=B=+-8 | =B=+-H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Hong Kong (place of domicile) &8 Fret&) 5,372,282 4,265,429
The People’s Republic of China (“PRC") hEE AR HEME (TPEL) 98,939 94,684
5,471,221 4,360,113
Note: Interest in an associate and interests in joint ventures Mizt: MEARZEmREEEEZEFIDR

are analysed by geographical location of their respective
operations.

Non-current assets excluded loans to joint ventures and
deferred tax assets.

MIEEE-

BLJps R PR A PR A W] 2020/202148 5
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HILEE

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years

W =

RREEERZEN

RERAEER EMBEAERBUIA10%

individually contributing over 10% of the total revenue  ZfEBIZEFR ZUWAMT :
of the Group is as follows:
2021 2020
—_E_—F —_E_E
HK$'000 HK$'000
AT BT T
Customer A (Note a) EF R (Mizka) 508,247 271,883
Customer B (Note a) 2R Z (Mizta) 246,661 281,867
Customer C (Note b) ZEEA (Hzkb) 150,483 N/A 7E B3 *
Customer D (Note a) R T (Mizta) 145,318 N/A RiE R *
Notes: M5E ©

(@) The revenue is income from construction contracts within
the construction segment.

(b) The revenue is income from interior and renovation
contracts within the interior and renovation segment.

€5 The corresponding revenue does not contribute over 10%
of the total turnover of the Group in the respective year.

200

(a)

(b)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

BHE_Z_—F=A=+—HLEE
7. OTHER INCOME 7. HthlgA
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT AT
Government grants recognised T 58 2 B A i
(Note a) (MfzEa) 28,164 -
Interest income from a joint venture FKEGELEZFEWA
(Note b) (Ff¥5Eb) 16,666 2,323
Bank interest income RITHIEUA 822 3,356
Building management fee income BFEEEEKRA 1,658 791
Dividend income from financial assets EBEFBRATEAEZ
at FVTPL MBEEZREIRA 7 9
Rental income from other properties ~HM¥EZHESUA 32 48
Reversal of provision for indemnity BElmERERE
(Note ¢) (P 5Ec) - 8,400
Others Hth 3,235 5,689
50,584 20,616
Notes: MisE -

(@)

(b)

(@]

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group
recognised government grants amounting to
HK$28,164,000 (2020: nil) which is related to Anti-
epidemic Fund provided by the government in Hong
Kong.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group
earned interest income on a loan granted to a joint
venture, which is engaged in property development in
Hong Kong. As at 31 March 2021, the loan amounting
to HK$297,882,000 (2020: HK$479,711,000) net of
loss allowance amounting to HK$28,162,000 (2020:
HK$9,168,000) is unsecured, interest bearing at 4.25%
(2020: 4.25%) per annum and repayable on demand.

Amount represented the reversal of provision made for
indemnity in relation to the disposal of a wholly owned
subsidiary of which the major assets held were properties
under development for sale located in Hong Kong in
prior years. The directors of the Company consider that
the reversal of provision is appropriate as the disposal
was completed in prior years and the crystallisation of
such potential claims was remote upon the end of the
indemnity period.

(a)

(b)

(9]

BLJps R PR A PR A W] 2020/202148 5

REE—_E-_—F=B=+—HLEEE &
EERIEMEABTFRENEREES
Z BUFT #R B 75 1528,164,0007T (B T4 :

=)o

REE—_E-_—F=B=+—HLEEE &
EEMBETFT—RHNREENESYWEREZS
ErECERESMNERA - RZE-—%F
=—HB=+—H >&z#1297,882,0007T (=
BFLF  HH479,711,0007T) R ESE
P55 H5128,162,0007T (Z BT F : BiK
9,168,0007T) BHEIKIF » IEE4.25% (ZF
B 4.25%) SR RBREREER

ZEEEMNBEEEHE-—REEWBQ
B (ARFAZTEEERMURERZERT
ZHEYH ZRERBFRZBERE KX
AEEFERR ARHEFRRENBREFE
TR AR BEAEHEREOEEMETR
ERRRMF AN SEOEEREE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B B3 b 5k
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HE_Z_—S=-A=+—HILEE

8. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 8. HithWa=KkE18

2021 2020
% ZEISHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Revaluation loss on property, REBREREYHEEYE
plant and equipment upon transfer  RERBHEHZ ELEE
to investment properties (11,267) -
Gain on disposal of assets HEDBEAREHEEEZ Wa
classified as held for sale 249 -
Gain on disposal of a joint venture HESEEEZKRE 9,098 —
Net exchange gains (losses) ERWm (B518) /$58 245 (150)
Gain (loss) on change in fair value of FEREZRATEHHEZ
financial assets at FVTPL MBEEZATEESHZ
Wi (B518) 119 (200)
Revaluation gain on properties REREREMEREEGE
held for sale upon transfer to MEZ BN
investment properties - 31,859
(1,556) 31,509

9. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER

9. FHAERABHRBEATZHERS

EXPECTED CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET 5B EE
2021 2020
s —ECEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
AT T BT T
(Impairment losses) reversal U T ZIERESE (R{ERE)
of impairment losses, net, B OIREREFEE -
recognised on:
Trade debtors FE Y FRIE (5,734) 4,902
Contract assets SHNEE (121) 274
Loans to joint ventures GEREER (18,994) (9,168)
(24,849) (3,992)

Details of impairment assessment for the years ended 31
March 2021 and 2020 are set out in notes 21, 25, 26, 27

and 48. 2774480
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A
A

S 5 A B

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

HE_Z-—HF=-A=+—HIEFE

10. FINANCE COSTS 10. B ER
2021 2020
—E-—& | —E-E&
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Interest on bank loans RITEFZFE 38,600 34,404
Interest on lease liabilities HEaRZAR 713 278
39,313 34,682
Less: Amount capitalised W BRPEEMEZ
in properties under development BEXRICEER
for sale (1,265) -
38,048 34,682
11. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 1. R ATER
2021 2020
—E-—f& | —E-EHE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Profit before taxation has been arrived B&#EEFI B0 Gt A) -
at after charging (crediting):
Salaries and other benefits e R EHMER 254,105 263,548
Retirement benefits scheme BRREER ETEIHTR
contributions 16,761 17,235
Equity-settled share-based payments MR EE RURG ZFZHE - 11,108
Staff costs incurred (including BEEZEBIRA (BIEESEHE)
directors’ remuneration) 270,866 291,891
Depreciation of property, plantand  ¥¥ -BEKRREZIFE
equipment . B 26,141 29,195
Less: Depreciation expenses included & : @ FRHERETHNITEZ H
in the cost of sales (1,867) (2,562)
24,274 26,633
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERREEZINE o 5,466 5,866
Less: Depreciation expenses included & : B ERHEREANINES H
in the cost of sales (2,712) (1,774)
2,754 4,092

B fbs A PR A BR A F] 2020/20214F #2
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HILEE

2021 2020
—E_—F ZEIEHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T
Impairment of right-of-use assets ERAEEEZRE - 2,151
Auditor’s remuneration ZEREMEN = 3,500 3,580
Short-term leases expense in respect BRAABAYEZEHHAESH
of rented premises - 1,619
Contract costs recognised as expenses & &M Zs 5 A S5 & Al 4
in cost of sales 1,264,371 744,224
Costs of inventories recognised as FERAT AHE AR
expenses in cost of sales 27,616 32,972
Write-down of inventories in cost of  HBSHERAFTHNES
sales 892 1,242
Reversal of write-down of inventories 13[a]$4 & B% 4~ th B9 72 S R
in cost of sales (687) -
Gross rental income under operating #&EFHEAS IR ALRLE
leases on:
Investment properties KREYE (55,662) (38,574)
Other properties Hth43 (32) (48)
Less: Direct operating expenses A REAREEBESWAT
that generated rental income SIENEEEEZH
during the year 7,382 2,635
(48,312) (35,987)
Expenses included in cost of sales: BERHEEREANZ T H
Depreciation of property, plantand  ¥¥ - -EKRREH ZITE
equipment 1,867 2,562
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEEZINE 2,712 1,774
Short-term leases expense ERBERESRZEHAEES Y
in respect of plant and machinery 17,549 13,426
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID

()

EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ emoluments

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant
to the applicable Listing Rules and Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and the emoluments paid or payable to each
of the eleven (2020: nine) directors were as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2021

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HE_Z-—HF=-A=+—HIEFE

12.EFRTHAREHALIME

(i) EFiM=E
REFE - REBBZ ELHRAUKREEBAT

RAMEZESHE  REMAHELTF+—%
(CEZZFE AR EFZEZMENT

BE_Z_—F=-HA=+—HLFE

ItE  EER  EZRE BREw gt
HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
AbTn  ERfn ENTn  ERTR EWTR

Executive directors (Note a) Non-executive directors (Note b) Independent non-executive directors (Note ¢)
HTEE (Hita) FHITES (Hith) BIFHTES (i)
Wong ChaMou  Cha Mou Lam Lau
Sue Toa, Tai LoKai  Chow Ka Sing, Daid, Zhang Chat Chan Tz Yiu, Sun Total
Stewart SaiHo  Cheong*  Fung***  Subtotal Payson**  Johnson Wei Yu***  Subtotal  PakJoe Peter  Tailun  Subtotal emoluments

shEge  EhE RE HER Nt Rt BFR AR [
HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
ERTn  ERTn ENTn  ERTm  BWTn  ERTR BWTn  ARTRn ERTn  ARTn

Fees HE 2402 1552 100 8 4,062 300 300 300 900 4,962
Other emoluments Eftie

Salaries and other benefits EeREMEN 3m 2131 98 126 7258 - 7,258
Performance related incentive payments (Note d) IfeRRREE

((GE:2)] 5000 750 8130 - 3060 - 80

Retirement benefits scheme contributions BREAHUER 566 356 ] 19 1011 - 1011

Ex-gratia payment (Note ¢) REE (Hike) - - 870 - 870 - 870

19338 10228 10,058 145 39,769 2402 1552 100 8 4,062 300 300 300 900 4131

* %

* k%

Mr. Lo Kai Cheong passed away on 18 July 2020.

Mr. Cha Mou Sing, Payson passed away on 6 November
2020.

Mr. Chow Ka Fung and Dr. Lam Chat Yu were appointed as
an executive director and a non-executive director of the
Company, respectively, on 3 March 2021.

*  EMEARERZZEZFELA+/\BEtE-

> BRBRER-_ZEZFE+—ABHE.

ok BRERERMEFELININNR T -_—F
ZR-HEZERERABRATEEFRIFNT
=
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HILEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020

fo o A S R AR B R

BE_Z_TF=-HRB=+—HLEFE

Executive directors (Note a) Non-executive directors (Note b) Independent non-executive directors (Note ¢)
HTEE (Hia) FEHITEE (5h) BUEATEE (o)
Wong ChaMou  Cha Mou Lau
Sue Toa, Tai Lo Kai Sing, Daid, Zhang Chan  TzeYiy, Sun Total
Stewart SaiHo  Cheong  Subtotal Payson  Johnson Wei*  Subtotal Pak Joe Peter Tailun  Subtotal emoluments
THE R £HE it S EiE Rig* it Rl A7z N it aMe

HKE000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
ERTn  ENTn  EMTn  ERTn  BETn

HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$000  HKS'000  HKS$'000
ARTn ERTn AN EMTn  E%Tn  B%Tn  ERTn  ERTn

Fees ik = = - - 4,000 100 77 417 300 300 300 900 5077
Other emoluments Hiti<
Salaries and other benefits B REMER 3713 2313 1,560 7,706 - - - - - - - - 7,706
Performance related incentive payments (Noted) ~ T{ERBiEE
(Hzd) 20000 10,000 5000 35000 - - - - - - - - 35000
Retirement benefits scheme contributions RIREREE
3 566 356 34 1,156 - - - - - - - - 1,156
Equity-settled share-based payments MEREERY
Rkirsfiz
HE 2312 1,156 693 4,161 2312 1,156 21 3489 231 192 231 654 8304
26,651 13,885 7481 43,023 6312 1,256 9% 7,666 531 49 531 1,554 57,243

@ Dr. Zhang Wei was appointed as a non-executive director
of the Company on 25 June 2019.

Notes:

(@) The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
for their services in connection with the management of
the affairs of the Company and the Group.

(b) The non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were for their services as directors of the Company.

() The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were for their services as directors of the
Company.

(d) The performance related incentive payments are
determined based on the performance of the individual
and the Group’s performance and profitability for the
year.

(e) The ex-gratia payment is to recognise the long service and
contribution by the director of the Company to the Group.

There was no arrangement under which the directors
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments for both
years.

* REEIR-_F-NAEFAETHAEZRE
BEREFRTES-

Bk

(a) EHATEEMNSABEFREHEATREE
EEEERREEM-

(b) ERIFERITEENEBREEALEATES
ZBR# -

(0 ERBIFNTESHESAREIERELAT
BEZR%

(d) IFREZEBSEREBZFENBAZERR
RAEEEZ ZERBFEDMERE

() RWERERXRBFIARNEFZHEIEENRE
AR RERR °

KMEFEE TEEHEFREXRTHR
BN R % Bk
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During the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to any directors as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, 39,183,000 (2021:
nil) share options were granted to certain directors in
respect of their services to the Group under the share
option scheme of the Company. Details of the share
option scheme and the share options granted to the
directors are set out in note 39.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group
recognised equity-settled share-based payments
amounting to HK$8,304,000 (2021: nil) in relation to
share options granted to directors of the Company
pursuant to the share option scheme by the Company.

(ii) Five highest paid individuals

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the five highest
paid individuals included five directors (2020: four
directors and one employee). Other than the emoluments
of the newly appointed director (the “New Director”)
during the year ended 31 March 2021, details of the
other four (2020: four) directors’ emoluments are set out
above. Before appointment of the New Director on 3
March 2021, he was also an employee of the Group. The
emolument of the New Director (2020: one employee)
during the year ended 31 March 2021 was as follows:

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=—A=+—HILEFE

RBE_T_—FR-_B_BF=-A=1+—
HiEFE ¢$ﬁmﬁ&ﬂ§$i‘iﬁmﬂ$’
ERABBMASERLMALEEZ LR/
BN BE R AR E o

REBEE-E-EHE=A=+—HILFEE R
BEAATRBRESE EMETESHEE
B 2 AR#5 B8 F % H139,183,00014 (ZE=—
FE BRE-EHABREAIRBETES
ZRBRGHE 2 SR 1B A B sE39

ERRBAADEREFEBETIEAATE
EVERE AEEARBE_S_-_ZSE=A
=+—HLEEERIBZUESEERIURKRG
X 4z FRIE A # 188,304,000 (ZE - —4

") o
(i) ABESHAL

RB&E_T_—F=-A=+—HLEFE A
LPREHFATEEIREF (CTEEF !
MEEER—HES) BFMEEES (HE
E)RBE_E_—FZA=1+—HLFE
ZMiESN s (T2 22F 1 m4) &
EZWEFBHNEX-R-T_—F=AH
ZHEZENEFN RTSEEEREE T
BE_Z_—F=-A=+—HILFE -#HER
(CEIZ2F . —%EE ZHMEWT -

2021 2020
—E-—f | —BC-E

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT BT T

Salaries and other benefits e REMEF 1,565 1,548

Performance related incentive payments T {ERIFIEEE 5,000 6,000

Retirement benefits scheme contributions RKIEF] 53R 235 232
Equity-settled share-based payments Lx%m,.u%&uﬂﬂﬁs‘zﬁz

I - 380

6,800 8,160
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HILEE

The emolument of the New Director (2020: one

fo o A S R AR B R

MEFE(CZ-ZTF ! —2ES) 2HME=BR

employee) was within the following bands: T54E 5

2021 2020
—E=—- —EIEE
Number Number
of employee of employee
BEZ#E EE#E

HK$6,500,001 — HK$7,000,000 7&1%6,500,00175—
75 #7,000,0007T 1 -

HK$8,000,001 — HK$8,500,000 78 1%8,000,0017c—
78 #8,500,0007T - 1

During the year ended 31 March 2020, an aggregate
of 1,898,000 (2021: nil) share options were granted to
the remaining one highest paid employee (2021: nil) in
respect of their services to the Group under the share
option scheme.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group
recognised equity-settled share-based payments
amounting to HK$380,000 (2021: nil) in relation to the
share options granted to the remaining one highest paid
employee (2021: nil) pursuant to the share option scheme
by the Company.

RBE_E_ZEHFE=-A=+—HLEE R
BEREASE ERER—SRREHEER
T —F 8\ OrEEREZREMEES
$$2H1,898,00013 (Z T - —F : iE) BB -

ERARBALBDBREAIBTIHG 2R
BHEE (TS —F 8 Z2ERE &
BER8E_E_TF=-HA=+—HLFER
RWZUEREERURMD I ZRIBEA B
380,0007C (T -_—4F : ) o

13. TAXATION 13. 1A
2021 2020
—E—F _ECESE
HK$'000 HK$'000
AT T BT T

Hong Kong Profits Tax BEHEFER

Current year KEE 8,816 10,532
Overprovision in prior years BEFEBEEE (1,646) (1,210)
7.170 9,322
Deferred taxation (note 35) IRERIE (BffE35) (8,966) 1,054
(1,796) 10,376
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Hong Kong Profits Tax for both years is calculated
at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profits for the
year, except for the group entity which is a qualifying
corporation under the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime. For this group entity, the first HK$2 million of
assessable profits are taxed at 8.25% and the remaining
assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax
(“EIT”) and Implementation Regulation of EIT Law, the

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=—A=+—HILEFE

MEFEENE BT SREZEBFEEMLE
RREF Z216.5% B M ARFIER
MEFNEETHNEERZIENEEE B
ShoMZEBEBERMS > B48%2,000,00075T
ZFER R HF IR ES.25% HHR > R FHER
R B3R 16.5% 7 o

RBPEEEFRERZE (REMERE) &
EEFREBEBERIGS > FEMB RSN

tax rate of the PRC subsidiary is 25% for both years. EFEENRETZH25%
Taxation for the year can be reconciled to the profit FEMRBHREZSEZRZBRAIEFHIRM
before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit 3o
or loss as follows:
2021 2020
—E-—5F —ETF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Profit before taxation BR#R 7z ) 273,190 231,752
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of Ezti{tﬁﬁ’afﬁﬁ%m.m
16.5% (2020: 16.5%) —ETTF 16.5%) Z*ﬁIE 45,076 38,239
Tax effect of share of profit of DMEEEABRR 2R &
an associate (532) (67)
Tax effect of share of loss (profit) of ﬁﬁﬁAfé}ﬁE%Eﬁﬂ Cad) z
joint ventures MR B 5,275 (21,457)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible EAﬁFHETE{mHZiHﬂZ
for tax purpose MBLE 26,411 27,925
Tax effect of income not taxable for Fﬁ?ﬁﬁﬂi?ﬁﬁﬁzl&lz
tax purpose BB (82,044) (38,215)
Utilisation of tax losses previously EHEZAIRER ZRIEEE
not recognised (1,546) (171)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised KRR ZIRIBERBIRZRIEHE 7.264 5,419
Tax effect of different tax rates of MiEB AR EAE ifé@ E1EW
subsidiaries operating in other FRMEFZMBEE
jurisdictions (34) 12
Overprovision in prior years B FEBREEE (1,646) (1,210)
Others Hith (20) (99)
Taxation for the year FERIE (1,796) 10,376

BLJps R PR A PR A W] 2020/202148 5
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HILEE

14. DIVIDENDS 14. B2
2021 2020
B —EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Dividends recognised as distribution ~ FERERIBAEDRKZKREMNT :
during the year:
Ordinary shares: T ERG
2021 first interim dividend TET—FE—RE
— HK2.5 cents per share FRHEARG B — S iR 2.5
(2020: 2020 interim —ECEF IR
dividend - HK2.5 cents ARG B — SRR A 1E2.51l)
per share) 27,273 27,273
2020 final dividend - HK5.0 cents _ﬁ_ﬁfﬁﬂiﬁﬂﬂﬁu—
per share %HX%MS ol (C2ZF
(2020: 2019 final F I ZZ-NERERE—
dividend - HK5.0 cents @HQ?%%S.ONJ)
per share) 54,546 54,546
Sub-total st 81,819 81,819
Proposed second interim dividend and BEHE_Z_—F
final dividend for the financial year =B=+—HLMEFEEZ
ended 31 March 2021 of HK5.0 cents 55— RAHARR B R KHAR 2
per share and nil, respectively DR B ERABLES. OTIJJ73'Zﬁ
(2020: final dividend for the financial (CEZZTF . HE_ZT_-_ZTF
year ended 31 March 2020 of HK5.0 =BA=+—HIEHHBEEZ>
cents per share) RAARE S AR A HES.01L) 55,106 54,546
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15. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

HE_Z-—HF=-A=+—HIEFE

15. SREF

TABBEAEANBEESFESRENREER

share for the year attributable to owners of the Company  FIJ3RIBMU FTEIEH !
is based on the following data:
2021 2020
S-S —EIEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T
Earnings beeg ]|
Earnings for the purpose of basicand R EESRERKRBEERFIM
diluted earnings per share & 274,986 221,376
2021 2020
—ET—F —EIEHF
‘000 ‘000
Tig T
Number of shares bk 4=
Weighted average number of RUGTESREREFN
ordinary shares for the purpose of BRI TI9E
basic earnings per share 1,091,444 1,090,899
Effect of dilutive potential BEBTTERNTE
ordinary shares:
Adjustment in relation to MARFRHVEREELRN
share options granted by BE
the Company - 171
Weighted average number of RUGESkREERTIR
ordinary shares for the purpose of iR T I98
diluted earnings per share 1,091,444 1,091,070
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HILEE

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group leases out various offices, service apartments,
warehouses and retail stores under operating leases with
rentals payable monthly. The leases typically run for a
fixed period of one to three years (2020: one to three

years).

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as
a result of the lease arrangements, as all leases are
denominated in the respective functional currencies
of group entities. The lease contracts do not contain

fo o A S R AR B R

16. REWMFE

ZK$I$E$F..%M$HEH:ﬁﬂ%ﬂil?iﬁ’&?*H[ﬁ%
AAB -EERTEEH HERBRAXR -
%H%’\J—EIEIE?%,HH—EEE (CEZ2F —
E=5) -

AEBLFRABELHFMARZINE R
RRARFRAREHUEERBERZIEGR
SHE-HESHNILESRERGREEERR
SAEARERERFEEY ERIERE-

residual value guarantee and/or lessee’s option to

purchase the property at the end of lease term.

For the year ended 31 March 2021, HK$240,000 (2020:
HK$160,000) was paid for leased properties under sub-

BE_ZE_—F=A=+—HLEE 7
HETHHEEYEEEHE1E240,0000T (ZF

leases. —TF : B1160,0007T) ©
HK$'000
BT T
FAIR VALUE NEE
At 1 April 2019 S ZE—HFMA—H 2,228,775
Additions =1 646,756
Change in fair value NFEEE) 183,266
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 38) W EEMt B AT (sE38) 726,063
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 38) HEMEAT (MiE38) (420,000)
Transfer from properties held for sale (note a) i BIFIEFEYE (Mizta) 39,300
Disposals HE (61,800)
Transfer to assets classified as held for sales ERENEAFFHESE (fF:E30)

(note 30) (483,587)
At 31 March 2020 A\ ZTEZZEF=H=+—H 2,858,773
Additions nNE 28,465
Change in fair value NFEEE) 57,036
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 38) URBE Rt B A T (FfizE38) 1,599,849
Disposals HE (234,463)
Transfer from property, plant and equipment EEEY%  -KEKRZH (fistb)

(note b) 724,400
Transfer to assets classified as held for sales EREQEAFFHESE (fH:E30)

(note 30) (6,300)
Transfer to property, plant and equipment EREYE - -WEREE (i)

(note ¢) (84,200)
At 31 March 2021 W-B-—F#=A=+—H 4,943,560
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Notes:

(@)

(b)

(0

During the year ended 31 March 2020, properties
with total carrying value of HK$7,441,000 at date of
transfer were transferred from properties held for sale
to investment properties, which is evidenced by the
observable actions taken to support the change in use.
The difference between the fair values of the properties
and the carrying values at date of transfer was recognised
in profit or loss amounting to HK$31,859,000.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, properties with
total carrying value of HK$735,667,000 at date of transfer
was transferred from property, plant and equipment
to investment properties, which is evidenced by the
observable actions taken to support the change in use.
The difference between the fair value of the properties
at date of transfer amounting to HK$724,400,000 and
the carrying value was recognised in profit or loss which
amounted to HK$11,267,000.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, properties with fair
value of HK$84,200,000 at date of transfer was transferred
from investment properties to property, plant and
equipment, which is evidenced by the observable actions
taken to support the change in use.

All of the Group’s property interests held under
operating leases to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation purposes are measured using the fair value
model and are classified and accounted for as investment
properties.

FisE :

(@)

(b)

(9]

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-A=+—HILEFE

RBE_Z-_TE=A=+—HILEE ®
EHRE HARRMERB7,441,0000 24
EYHFESEVEEREREYE HAES
TRHEXAEMERZ IBHRTEHER -
ENERERZ AT EEREEZ ZEAEK
31,859,0007t B R IB & FEST ©

RBE_ZSZ-_—E=A=+—HILEE ®
EHREHEREEAB735,667,000T2
MEBRVE BEASBEREREME
HERAIRHENARMERZ 0 HR{TEE
BH - M) ¥R 872 E H A F(E 8 1724,400,000
THRMmMEZ Z2E/8111,267,0007T E Y18

=== =7
AR o

RBE_ZSZ-_—E=A=+—HILEE ®
HREEHRFEAE84,200,0007T 2%
HEEMEERBREYE - BERSRE HA
AEBFENARMKRZ A RRTEER

FEBFRARBEEREFAFERIVES
BERBERRZYEERERATERER
TR D ERARSREDNE-

BLJps R PR A PR A W] 2020/202148 5
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HILEE

The Group engages third party qualified valuers to
perform the valuation. The management works closely
with the qualified external valuers to establish the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the
model. The management reports the findings to the
board of directors of the Company every half-year to
explain the cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the
property.

In estimating the fair value of the property, the highest
and best use of the property is the current use.

The fair values of the Group’s investment properties at
31 March 2021 have been arrived at on the basis of a
valuation carried out on the respective date by Colliers
and JLL (2020: Colliers and JLL), independent property
valuers not connected with the Group. The Valuers
have appropriate qualifications and recent experience
in the valuation of similar properties in the relevant
locations. The valuation of properties amounting to
HK$2,281,800,000 (2020: HK$1,455,513,000) was arrived
at by reference to market evidence of transaction
prices of similar properties. The valuations of other
properties amounting to HK$2,661,760,000 (2020:
HK$1,403,260,000) were arrived at by reference to the
income capitalisation method which is based on the
capitalisation of the net income potential by adopting
an appropriate capitalisation rate, which is derived
from analysis of sale transactions and interpretation of
prevailing investor requirements or expectations.

214

Ao o B 5 R B

FEBEERE =SS ERMGEMETHEE
EEBASERINBEEMBIISE &%
BRABIBENGEERTABARE -2
BE¥FRAEQARNEFTTRERAEER &
BYMEATFERBNRE -

RIESH LN ATER ML BEREBE
s RS-

rEBZREYEN _SE_—F=/B=+—
BZAFENEHARER L EBEZEILY
¥HEMEIRFERT(CEIZEE . 5
HRWEKT) ZEMBHZHEEE &
EMEESBES BRI S EHEREAMNERR
FEMEETHE - 2ETREVEZTER
SERGEZYEEESRAE2,281,800,000
TT(ZE T4 #181,455,513,0007T) ° 1%
BUWAEREXRSEHEZHMYMEEE
% #182,661,760,0007c (Z T T 4F | B
1,403,260,0007T) ° b ERIRIFRMABE SR
BRGLEERZBETVRAFEEERLE B2
HIHEXZOMMERREE 2 ERFTEH
RIS B 2R Ay o
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Summary of fair value hierarchy and Level 3 fair
value measurements

All investment properties of the Group are valued by
reference to a Level 3 fair value measurement.

There are no transfers between different levels within
the fair value hierarchy during both years.

Level 3 valuation methodologies

Below is a table which presents the significant
unobservable inputs:

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=—A=+—HILEFE

AFESFHRE=RLATEFEZMHE

FrEEMBKREMENDSEF=RAFE

EfffEe

RmEEERLEATESRERBRB
Ve

B=ZREESZE

TREFEXRFABRRHMAZR:

(CEZEE : #H66,100,0007)

Commercial Direct comparison method HK$782,800,000
[ ERLSTE (2020: HK$116,413,000)
#14782,800,0007

(CEZZE 1 E116,413,0007)

Industrial Direct comparison method HK$973,000,000
1% BRERE (2020: HK$751,000,000)
71%973,000,0007

(ZEZZE  E751,000,0007)

Residential Direct comparison method HK$526,000,000
% BRLEE (2020: HK$522,000,000)
7 1526,000,0007

(CEZZE 522,000,007

Investment properties Valuation method Fair value Significant unobservable inputs (Note a)
REME fhfERA® NYE EXTHRRBAZY (Ha)
Adjusted market price per square foot (Note b)
BRENSTASRHE (Hib)
Agricultural Direct comparison method Nil N/A
=it BRI (2020: HK$66,100,000) (2020: HK$378.0 - HK$483.0)
g FER

(CECBE 378,00 H1483.07)

HK$18,424 - HK$18,612
(2020: HK$18,919)
A18 44— A18,6127
(—7 VE %“‘m’z189 97]:)

HK$3,415 - HK$6,277
(2020: HK$5,750 - HK$6,302)
B3 45— B 16,2777
(CEZEE S, 750 -5 16,3027)

HK$19,187
(2020: HK$19,041)
19,1877
(CEZEE:EK190417)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HILEE

Significant unobservable inputs (Note a)

(CEZTH : #1681,430,0007)

(CEZTE: 250%—450%)

EXTTRRBAZY (ia)
Investment properties Valuation method Fair value Capitalisation rate Monthly market rent
(per square foot)

k&M fhfERs % RFfE ERfbitE §RmERE BTHR)
Commercial Income capitalisation HK$1,978,640,000 2.80% - 4.50% HK$14.5 to HK$66.0
[ approach (2020: HK$721,830,000) (2020: 2.70% - 4.50%) (2020: HK$15.0 to HK$75.0)

WAERGE 71%1,978,640,00070 2.80%—4.50% 114,57 —B1866.07T

(CZTTEAEND18300007) | (CEZTE270%—450%) (CBCBF  BK5.0n-AlE75.07)

Industrial Income capitalisation HK$683,120,000 2.50% - 4.00% HK$7.30 to HK$21.9
1% approach (2020: HK$681,430,000) (2020: 2.50% - 4.50%) (2020: HK$7.0 to HK$20.5)

WAERGHE 7#1%683,120,0007 2.50%—4.00% B17 30— A9

(CEZEE B0 - #120.57)

Notes:

(@) The relationship of unobservable inputs to fair value are (i)
the higher the capitalisation rate, the lower the fair value;
(ii) the higher the market rent, the higher the fair value;
and (iii) the higher the adjusted market price, the higher
the fair value.

(b) Adjusted market price has taken into account of property-
specific adjustments including location, land quality and
timing of referenced transactions.

Bk

(@) AABERGASHAQTERZBARROE
FELERES > AFERE ;(HEAS®
B ATEED ; R(iEAEHEES A

T

(b) EHABHENDHETREIMENTEHE  BF
UE s DMERRAISERZ 2B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 424 B % 2 b 5

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HE_Z-—HF=-A=+—HIEFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. ¥ -BERSE

Leasehold Furniture
land and Plant and and Leasehold Motor
buildings  equipment fixtures improvements vehicles Total
HELME
BF BERZBE GRREE ®E RE st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AR AR AETT AR BB AETT

CosT WA
At 1 April 2019 RZE-NENAE—H 416,812 35,950 19,939 24,937 10,456 508,094
Exchange adjustments ERFE (306) - - - (18) (324)
Additions NE 10,271 1,263 531 905 2,468 15,438
Disposals HE = (1,406) (940) (2,087) (1,149) (5,582)
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 38) KERBAR (H38) 731,663 - 616 4,836 = 737,115
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 38) HENBAT (Hiz38) - - (3,527) (475) = (4,002)
At 31 March 2020 RZEZEE=A=+-H 1,158,440 35,807 16,619 28,116 11,757 1,250,739
Exchange adjustments ExRAE 333 - - - - 333
Additions HE - - 2,287 2,235 2,775 7,297
Disposals HE = (3,792 @1) (361) (1,267) (5,441)
Transfer from investment properties BYEARENE 84,200 = = = = 84,200
Transfer to investment properties BUEZRENE (741,934) - - (5,695) - (747,629)
Transfer to properties under BRERRTZGENE

development for sale (92,355) - - - - (92,355)
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 38) BB B AR (Hi:E38) - = 301 - - 301
At 31 March 2021 RZE-_—%=F=+—H 408,684 32,015 19,186 24,295 13,265 497,445
DEPRECIATION e
At 1 April 2019 RZB—-hEMNA—H 43,706 32,923 13,763 16,860 7,123 114,975
Exchange adjustments ExRAE (107) - - - (12) (119)
Provided for the year EERE 20316 1,491 1575 4,022 1,791 29,195
Eliminated on disposals i E B8 - (1,406) (814) (1,674) (1,062) (4,956)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 38) HENBAR (Hiz38) - = (2313 (454) = (2,767)
At 31 March 2020 RZE-FF=A=1+—H 63,915 33,008 12,211 18,754 8,440 136,328
Exchange adjustments EXHE 134 - - - - 134
Provided for the year FERE 18,373 1,174 1,585 3,167 1,842 26,141
Eliminated on disposals i E R - (3,698) (9) (361) (749) (4,817)
Transfer to investment properties BRERENE (9,892) - - (2,070) - (11,962)
Transfer to properties under BRERRPZGENE

development for sale (14,415) - - - - (14,415)
At 31 March 2021 RZE-—-%£=A=1+—H 58,115 30,484 13,787 19,490 9,533 131,409
CARRYING VALUES IREE
At 31 March 2021 RZE-_—%=B=+—H 350,569 1,531 5,399 4,805 3,732 366,036
At 31 March 2020 RZE-FF=A=1+—H 1,094,525 2,799 4,408 9,362 3317 1,114,411
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HILEE

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates

per annum:

Leasehold land and
buildings

Leasehold
improvements

Other assets 2 to 5 years

Over the unexpired term of the
relevant lease period from 20
to 50 years

Over the shorter of the term of
the lease period or 5 years

The carrying value of leasehold land and buildings
comprises properties in Hong Kong except for

fo o A S R AR B R

UEME- -BERRBEEDEREERE

AEEDGTHEITE  FHNT

HELH
RigF

e

Hth&EE

BB KREMELH
e [ i T

BERENERFREAE
(AEFZE 2 %)

_ERE

FRANBRE B 75 152,487,000C (CE_Z4F . &
#2,412,0007T) (UM P ENETFIEFINTHE

certain buildings amounting to HK$2,487,000 (2020: T RIEFHEBNYEMAR -
HK$2,412,000) which are located in the PRC.
18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 18. EAIEEE
2021 2020
—E—F “EEEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Leased properties, carrying amount MEYZE  REE 2,855 5,957
Depreciation charge EER 5,466 5,866
Additions to right-of-use assets REFRAEEE 2,364 7,251
Impairment of right-of-use assets FRAEEEZRE
(note) (Ffd=E) - 2,151
Expenses relating to short-term leases ARLMRIEFZ
of land and building AERRTHE MR X - 1,619
Expenses relating to short-term leases HRMERESZ
of plant and machinery SHRHERIMAX 17,549 13,426
Total cash outflow of leases HERESMHELE 24,600 21,365
Note: During the year ended 31 March 2020, impairment Mz : RBEZZZHF=A=+—HLEE"

of right-of-use assets amounting to approximately
HK$2,151,000 (2021: nil) had been recognised and

included in administrative expenses.
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The right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the
lease term.

For both years, the Group leases office and retail
shops for its operations. Lease contracts are entered
into for fixed terms ranging from 1 to 3 years without
any extension and termination option. Lease terms
are negotiated on an individual basis. In determining
the lease term and assessing the length of the non-
cancellable period, the Group applies the definition
of a contract and determines the period for which the
contract is enforceable.

The Group owns several properties including the
underlying leasehold lands. Lump sum payments were
made upfront to acquire these property interests. The
leasehold land components of these owned properties
are presented separately only if the payments made can
be allocated reliably.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for
land and buildings and plant and machinery. As at 31
March 2021, the portfolio of short-term leases is similar
to the portfolio of short-term leases to which the short-
term lease expense disclosed above.

In addition, lease liabilities of HK$7,163,000 (2020:
HK$11,137,000) are recognised with related right-of-
use assets of HK$2,855,000 (2020: HK$5,957,000) as at 31
March 2021. The lease agreements do not impose any
covenants other than the security interests in the leased
assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not
be used as security for borrowing purposes.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-A=+—HILEFE

EREEER LG EAEBRESR (0L
BURE A LE) BN E o

RmEEE  AEEBEERLERTEER
AREE -HESHNENF—EZFNEE
FHAST AL > BE AR (AR AE Re A% LE IR 424 - 7R A
Y9428 B 15 50 ek 75 o 7 R H HA K 5T A4 AR A
HARHNRER  AEERASNERILE
E 7] SR HI 1T S AIRVHARR

FEEEEZRYE (BEEMAEELH) -
FEFEERBBERZSMERD N —RIEE
I - EERES A e D ECE I RIRRIIE R
T AERIETREERMENHEE LM
D

AE B EHFT 1L L3t K48 F LA B B Be i 2%
NEREE- R -2 _—F=A=+—H"%
HAEEEEE ESORERNIERE SR
FEREHATA EAH S AL

oy M —ZE-—F=H :—i-—EI izl
BEBE7,163,000 0 (ZE_FF | &
#11,137,0007c) B ERAERAEEEBE
2,855,000 (ZE - Z 5 : H¥5,957,0007T)
—HER - BRUEMAARENEEE EVIKE
SN HE BB LREMEAZE - HEE
ET FET’ETET)\E'HE_HEFHE"
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HILEE

19. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

19. BEQAF ZiEm

31.3.2021 31.3.2020
—EZ—F —ECE
=A=+-8 | ZA=+-A
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Cost of unlisted investment in REERARIELHREZ N
an associate 6,618 6,618
Share of post-acquisition profits, DMEWEER ZiEF
net of dividends received (0RBEWZERE) 4,122 896
10,740 7,514

Details of the Group's associate as at 31 March 2021 and RIZE-—FrR-“ZE"_ZF=FA=+—8"

2020 are as follows:

FEBBEAT ZFBNOT !

Attributable
Place of interest and
Form of incorporation proportion of
business and principal Class of voting power
Name of associate structure place of operation shares held held by the Group Principal activity
‘ AMMUNER ARG FRERERSEDR
VNG P ERRENS TEEEME 5 BRREZILA TEEH
2021 2020
5% ZEIEE
Hoi Bun Godown Company Limited Limited liability Hong Kong  Ordinary 50% 50% Property investment
("Hoi Bun Godown") company
BERRERAR (NEEER)) BRAR &8 LER NERE

Summarised financial information in respect of the
Group’s associate is set out below. The summarised
financial information below represents amounts shown

in the associate’s financial statements, prepared in

accordance with HKFRSs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & BA %5 3 2 bt 5

The associate is accounted for using the equity method in

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=—A=+—HILEFE

BMEARERAEDRENZEREMBRERA

these consolidated financial statements. o
2021 2020
S S ZEISEHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Total assets mEE 21,480 15,042
Total liabilities Y= R - (14)
Net assets BEFE 21,480 15,028
Group's share of net assets of KERMEBEATNEERE
the associate 10,740 7,514
Revenue WA 175 240
Profit for the year KEEEF] 6,451 808
Group's share of profit and KEBMMEBEARNRFE G
other comprehensive income of REMEEHWE
the associate for the year 3,226 404

The financial information of Hoi Bun Godown relating FEMBREMFAMBE_T_—FR_

to the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 included in
the consolidated financial statements do not constitute
Hoi Bun Godown's statutory annual financial statements
for those years but is derived from those financial
statements. Further information relating to these

statutory financial statements required to be disclosed
in accordance with section 436 of the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance is as follows:

T ERFE-RA-+—HIEFEZBEEGRY
BERNLABHAEFESE
EFHHRT BREZEMHRER ARAEAR
BEBABTRGIBEI6IETUREZZFE
EMBHRRZE—TERNT :

BZEESE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HILEE

W

(i) As Hoi Bun Godown is a private company, Hoi Bun () HREBEEAA—RBMAAT EEE
Godown is not required to deliver its financial BEBEEIRBHMBBRRERAGF
statements to the Registrar of Companies, and will MEER -
not do so.

(i) Hoi Bun Godown'’s auditor has reported on the (i) BEERNZEMEMEEEREE
financial statements of Hoi Bun Godown for the —EEF=A=+t—HLEFEZW®
year ended 31 March 2020. The auditor’s report BRERFHBE - ZBENR S L ERRE
was unqualified; did not include a reference to BRROUIEHEZRHMNEARGRER
any matters to which the auditor drew attention RHNBERT RFEIREMSIM 258
by way of emphasis without qualifying its reports; EEH;, "ERERESERTMRAE
and did not contain a statement under sections 406(2) ~ 407(2) 3% (3)1& 1F tH B9 BRk o
406(2), 407(2) or (3) of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

(iii) Hoi Bun Godown’s auditor has yet to report on (i) BEEREREEIMAMBE_S_—F
these financial statements for the year ended 31 ZSA=E+—HIEFEZZEUBHRRE
March 2021. HERE o

20. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 20. SEERZEL

31.3.2021 31.3.2020
—_E—F —ECE
=B=+-8 | ZA=+-A8
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Interests in joint ventures comprise: BECEIHEEIE
Cost of unlisted investments in joint M EAEEEIEEHREZHA
ventures 200,427 434,064
Share of post-acquisition profits and D {5UKEER 2 HFI &
other comprehensive expense, HMEmEmZH
net of dividends received (HNpREW Z RS (52,397) (60,606)
148,030 373,458
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for o A B AR B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

HE_Z_—F=B=t+—HLEE
Details of the Group's principal joint ventures as at 31 B FRIEZEF=H=+—H">
March 2021 and 2020 are as follows: FEETESELEZFBUT
Attributable
Place of interest and
Form of incorporation proportion of
business and principal Class of voting power
Name of joint venture structure place of operation  shares held held by the Group Principal activities
, EMMUMER  FAERG FERRGRAELR
RELRZAH ES RS S TREEHY £ REEZILH TEER
2021 2020
5% E°%
Haining Jiafeng Real Estate Limited liability The PRC  Registered 49% 49% Property development in
Development Limited (“Haining company HE capital Haining, the PRC
) Jiafeng") BRAR AMER RS EEST
BEESRHERRAT NERRER
(E%EE))
AG Acquisition M (BVI) Limited liability  British Virgin Islands/  Ordinary 25% 25% Investment holding in
Limited company Hong Kong Lk Hong Kong
BRAR EJ&E#%‘%/ é% REBETRELEREH
AG Acquisition O (BVI) Limited” Limited liability ~ British Virgin Islands/ ~ Ordinary - 25% Investment holding in
company Hong Kong LER Hong Kong
BIRAR EE#%%/&SF& Fé%iﬁﬁ&ﬁ%ﬁ#?
Acquisition O Il (BVI) Limited liability  British Virgin Islands/ ~ Ordinary 25% 25% Investment holding in
Limited company Hong Kong LBk Hong Kong
BRAR  EBRZBEE/ER H"*%@ﬁ&ﬁ?"ﬁ#?
Eltara Limited® Limited liability HongKong  Ordinary - 25% Property development in
company o Lk Hong Kong
BRAR ﬁ%%iﬁﬁ%#’*ﬁ%“
Mount Vienna Limited Limited liability Hong Kong  Ordinary 25% 25% Property development in
company &5 LER Hong Kong
BIRAR REBETNERERER
Gallant Elite Enterprises Limited* Limited liability  British Virgin Islands/  Ordinary - 50% Investment holding in
BRELERAT* company Hong Kong LBk (Note 38) Hong Kong
BIRAT EE#%%/ §F§ (M5£38) ﬁ"*%@ﬁ&ﬁ?"ﬁ#?
Nimble Run Limited* Limited liability  British Virgin Islands/ ~ Ordinary - 50% Investment holding in
ANBRA company Hong Kong L@k (Note 38) Hong Kong
BRAR EJ&E#%‘%/ é% (Mi5£38) ﬁ%%iﬁﬁ&:ﬁ?’“ﬁ#?“
Trillion Mart Development Limited* Limited liability Hong Kong  Ordinary - 50% Property investment in
company &5 LER (Note 38) Hong Kong
BRAR (Hf5E38) ﬁ"@%iﬁﬁ%¥&ﬁ¥?
Victorious Troops Limited Limited liability  British Virgin Islands/ ~ Ordinary 50% 50% Investment holding in
company Hong Kong LBk Hong Kong
BRAR  EBRZBEE/ER REBETREERES
Great Splendor Enterprises Limited Limited liability  British Virgin Islands/ ~ Ordinary 50% 50% Investment holding in
company Hong Kong Lk Hong Kong
BRAR EJ&E#%‘%/ é% REBETRELEREH

L Js 1) 7 2 R A PR 2

YA| 2020/20214F #i
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BHE_Z_—F=A=+—HLEE

Attributable

Place of interest and

Form of incorporation proportion of

business and principal Class of voting power

Name of joint venture structure place of operation shares held held by the Group
SMELER kG FEERMERARGR

RELFZAHE ERRERS TEEENE 5 BRREZLA

2021 2020

_EI-E —E_EF

Principal activities

TRER

Ideal League Limited Limited liability  British Virgin Islands/ ~ Ordinary 50% 50%
company Hong Kong LiER
BRAR  EBRZBEE/ER
Grace Universe Limited Limited liability ~ British Virgin Islands/ ~ Ordinary 50% 50%
BFERAT company Hong Kong LER
BRAT  ABELBE/ER
Super Plus Limited Limited liability Hong Kong ~ Ordinary 50% 50%
company &5 Lk
BRAR
Flourishing Stable Limited Limited liability  British Virgin Islands/ ~ Ordinary 50% 50%
ERERAT company Hong Kong LR
ERAR EE#%%/?%
Fortunate Benefit Limited Limited liability ~ British Virgin Islands/ ~ Ordinary 50% 50%
#HARAH company Hong Kong EER
BRAR Eﬁ#ﬁ%/é%
Fortune Creation Developments Limited liability  British Virgin Islands/ ~ Ordinary 50% 50%
Limited company Hong Kong BER
BIRAE  EREZEHE/ER
Harbour Sky (BVI) Limited Limited liability  British Virgin Islands/ ~ Ordinary 50% 50%
company Hong Kong LR
BRAR  EBRZBES/ER
Honour Advent Limited* Limited liability ~ British Virgin Islands/ ~ Ordinary 50% -
BRERAT company Hong Kong LER (Note 38)
BRAR  ABELBE/ER (GEE)
Prime Success Global Limited* Limited liability ~ British Virgin Islands/ ~ Ordinary 50% -
BRRRARAF company Hong Kong Lk (Note 38)
BIRAR) Eﬁﬁﬁé/ﬁﬁ (Miz38)
Capital Green Holdings Limited* Limited liability  British Virgin Islands/ ~ Ordinary 50% -
company Hong Kong LiER (Note 38)
BRAR  EBRZBEE/ER (Mi338)
Fortune Shiner Development Limited*  Limited liability Hong Kong  Ordinary 50% -
EBERBRAR company &5 LBk (Note 38)
BRAR (GEE)
Protic Limited? Limited liability Hong Kong  Ordinary 50% -
EEBRAR company Y Lk (Note 38)
BIRAR (i5E38)
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Investment holding in
Hong Kong
ﬁ%?&fﬁﬁ&ﬁi"ﬁ&?

Investment holding in
Hong Kong

ﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%xﬁ%ﬁxﬁ’

Property investment in
Hong Kong
REBETNEREEH

Investment holding in
Hong Kong

RERES &ﬁi"ﬁx%?

Investment holding in
Hong Kong

REBES &ﬁ%ﬁxﬁ’

Property development in
Hong Kong
RE#ES %%%E%ﬁ

Investment holding in
Hong Kong

ﬁ%?&iﬁﬁ&ﬁ?‘ﬁx%?

Investment holding in
Hong Kong

REBETRELRER

Investment holding in
Hong Kong

REBES &ﬁ?"ﬁx%ﬁ

Investment holding in
Hong Kong
ﬁ%?&fﬁﬁ&ﬁi"ﬁ&?

Property development in
Hong Kong

E%%ﬁﬁ%%?éﬁﬁ“

Property development in
Hong Kong
REBETNEERES
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2 Joint ventures which were disposed of during the year
ended 31 March 2021.

& Upon exercise of put option by the joint venture partner
during the year ended 31 March 2021, Gallant Elite
Enterprise Limited became a wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company.

# Upon disposal of 50% interest of Honour Advent Limited
and Protic Limited during the year ended 31 March 2021,
Honour Advent Limited and Protic Limited became joint
ventures of the Group.

The above table lists the joint ventures of the Group
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results or assets of the Group. To give details of other
joint ventures would, in the opinion of the directors,
result in particulars of excessive length.

All joint ventures are accounted for using the equity
method in these consolidated financial statements.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-A=+—HILEFE

AN RBEZ_—HFZHA=+—HLEFEWHE

ZEERE-

* BHEELREBARBE_ZET_—FZ=A
=+—HIEFETEREHE BREXAR
RABMREATREZEWBE AR -

# BR&E_Z_—F=-A=+—HILFEH
EERARARMRERARAT Z50%#
B ERAERARNKBEEAERATDMAEE
EeEhE-

EREINEEA /B EEREANEERE

REZAEEGELE -EFERR FHIH
thEEEENER RLFHBR TR

FrEGEEEERAEREINZRTHREMHR
RARRe
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4% B % 2 b 5t

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HE-_ZT-_—H=-HB=1+—HItFE

Summarised financial information in respect of the
Group’s joint ventures as at 31 March 2021 and 2020 is

set out below:

TEEGE

R_E - FR-E_EF=R=+—8"
TEZHEERNBEEHINWT :

2021 2020
ZEZ—F “EIEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT AT
Current assets REEE 1,957,848 1,596,125
Current liabilities mEaR (2,474,395) (3,247,981)
Non-current assets JERBMEE 685,374 2,373,796
Non-current liabilities SERBEE - -
Net assets BEERE 168,827 721,940
Group's share of net assets KEESEZEEFE 148,030 373,458
Net (loss) profit for the year KEEZF (F518) 57 (119,784) 206,338
Other comprehensive income AEEHMEEKE ZH)
(expense) for the year 14,514 (13,305)
Group's share of (loss) profit for FEEDMGZEAEE (B8 &
the year F (31,971) 130,042
Group's share of other comprehensive KEBDMEZAFEEHM
income (expense) for the year 2EE () 7111 (6,520)
Dividend received from a joint venture BWREELERE 5,346 148,250
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=—A=+—HILEFE

2021 2020
—_E—F —ECE
HK$’'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
The unrecognised share of loss of KEERBEIRDEEE
joint ventures for the year EEE 27,189 26,743
Cumulative unrecognised share of Rt kBRI EEERERSIE
losses of joint ventures 65,307 38,118
21. LOANS TO JOINT VENTURES 21. BEEFREM
31.3.2021 31.3.2020
—E-—f5 | —F-FF
=B=+—H | =B=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Loans to joint ventures BEBEER 560,231 701,959
Analysed for reporting UHREABNZ D :
purposes as:
Non-current assets EREBEE 560,231 701,959

As at 31 March 2021, a loan amounted to
HK$297,882,000 (2020: HK$479,711,000) (net of
loss allowance amounting to HK$28,162,000 (2020:
HK$9,168,000)) granted to a joint venture engaging in
property development in Hong Kong. The amount is
unsecured, interest bearing at 4.25% (2020: 4.25%) per
annum and repayable on demand. The remaining loans
to joint ventures are unsecured, non-interest bearing
and have no fixed terms of repayment. The Group has
no intention to request for repayment of the loans
amounting to HK$560,231,000 (2020: HK$701,959,000)
within the twelve months from the end of the reporting
period. Accordingly, the loans are classified as non-
current assets.

RZE-_—F=ZR=+—H ' x&EBK
F—HEREENEVEEREZEELE
B #H#297,882,000T (BB F :
A1%479,711,0007T) (MNPREEBHERE
28,162,0007TC (ZZE - Z £ : #189,168,000
70)) cZMIEBREIRE > ER4.25% (ZF
TEF 14.25%) st ERBEREREE &R
TRIAELEZERTERR - FstE X
EETERP - AEMEENREPRES
+ZEBNEREREABE560,231,0007T (=
T T4 #HH701,959,0007T) 2 Ee
It ZEERE D BEAIERSEE-
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The Group assessed the ECL with reference to the internal
credit rating of the counterparties. An impairment loss of
HK$18,994,000 (2020: HK$9,168,000) was recognised in
profit or loss for the year ended 31 March 2021. Details
of impairment assessment are set out in note 48.

22. JOINT OPERATION

The Group and independent third parties (“Joint
Operator”) were interested in various lots of land
adjacent and/or near each other. The Company, a
subsidiary of the Company and the Joint Operator
entered into a development agreement dated 20
December 2005 and a supplemental agreement date 8
February 2010 in respect of the joint development of
a residential development project in Hong Kong (the
“Project”). On 19 January 2021, the Group entered
into a second supplement agreement with the Joint
Operator. Pursuant to the agreements, the Group and the
Joint Operator contributed the lots of land owned and
executed of a deed of exchange to merge the ownership
of the lots of land and owned in the ratio of 24.82% and
75.18%, respectively, in the merged land and the Project.
A gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment
amounting to HK$199,700,000 was recognised during
the year ended 31 March 2021. The details of the second
supplement agreement were disclosed in the Company’s
announcement dated 19 January 2021.
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SEBBEHA AP EETRFETEBHE
BFEE-B8E-_T-_—F=A=+—HLHE
> B {E RSB 1518,994,0007c (CE T4 .
7 1£9,168,0007T) RIBEHESD o BT (¥ 1A
A HIsE48 0

A
22. [ ERE

FEERBIFE=S ((MELEE) NS
EHR%R R SUAR TR R R A s o A A
EAABZMBARRMEGKEEMNE
*}%E’JE%’E,"‘E}EIEE (MZE\EB)) MBS 8RR
—(BEA_ETEET_A-+HD
?é%’rﬁ%- MBS —ZF-ZFE_F/\BNME
AHBE-R-T_—F—B+hB T~&EH
B AEEETILE M HE RIEZ
FWE AEBAMSKEERRMAERRD
HhER b 28 3T R FLIE M S B R R R
WA IR R ZEE RO HEE24.82%
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The aggregate amounts of assets and liabilities, revenues
and expenses recognised in the consolidated financial
statements in relation to the Group's interest in the joint
operation are as follows:

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HE_Z-—HF=-A=+—HIEFE

REGZEMBREPERIEMEERNHGE
EPNEENEERERE - WARBAXEGH
TERMT ¢

2021

HK$'000

AT T

Assets BE 879,175
Liabilities aE (314)
Revenue WA -
Expenses (52 (33)

23. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT
FOR SALE

At the end of the reporting period, total cumulative
borrowing costs capitalised in the properties under
development for sale were HK$1,265,000 (2020: nil).

The properties under development for sale located in
Hong Kong, is classified under current assets as it is
expected to be realised in the Group’s normal operating
cycle. The entire amount is expected to be recovered
after twelve months from the end of the reporting
period.

23. ERPZHEEME

RIREHR BERDPIFEYEELALZR
sHE AL A< 4858 A& 7B 151,265,000 (Z B =
TE ) o

HARURERNZERPZHFEMERBPAN
FEBEEEEEMRNER RO EL RS
BEE -2 HEBEMANBSHAREST+ =@
B&7arug(a]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B4 %5 8 2R bt 5
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HE_Z_—S=-A=+—HILEE
24. INVENTORIES 24. 8
31.3.2021 31.3.2020
% _ECEHE
=A=+—8 | =B=+—H
HK$"000 HK$'000
T 5T BT 5T
Health products - finished goods BEER—HAS 10,269 14,096
Others - finished goods Hith— Sl 2,588 2,599
12,857 16,695
The movement of the write-down of inventories is as FEMBREEWT
follows:
2021 2020
B -5 —ECEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Opening HAT) 1,242 -
Write-down W 892 1,242
Reversal of write-down 5 [C] R (687) -
Ending HAR 1,447 1,242

230 HANISON CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 B %5 i 2R b 5

25. CONTRACT ASSETS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=—A=+—HILEFE

25. 8N BE

31.3.2021 31.3.2020
—E—F —E-F
=B=+-B | =A=+-A8
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T
Construction contracts BEIRESY 264,800 270,177

As at 1 April 2019, contract assets amounted to
HK$267,080,000.

The Group has rights to considerations from customers
for construction contract, interior and renovation
contract and installation of building materials contract.
Contract assets arise when the Group has right to
consideration for completion of construction contract,
interior and renovation contract and installation of
building materials contract and not yet billed under
the relevant contracts, and their right is conditioned
on factors other than passage of time. Any amount
previously recognised as a contract asset is reclassified to
trade debtors when such right becomes unconditional.

Included in carrying amount of contract assets
comprises retention money of HK$134,690,000 (2020:
HK$147,113,000) as at 31 March 2021. Retention
money is unsecured and interest-free and represented
the monies withheld by customers of contract works
fully recoverable within 1 to 2 years from the date of
completion of construction contracts, in accordance
with the terms specified in the relevant contracts. Upon
satisfactory completion of contract work as set out in
the contract, the architect for the building project will
issue a practical completion certificate. Generally, upon
the issuance of the practical completion certificate, half
of the retention money of such contract work will be
released to the Group, while the remaining half will be
released to the Group upon the issuance of the certificate
that identified defects in respect of the entire building
project have been made good.

RZEBE-—NEHE—B GNBEEAEE
267,080,0007T °

FEBEEMNEREIRSH K REET
RENRZEREMHIEZSOEE R I
RE-ENEERTEERTHREEIRZGH
RMEEIRSORZEREMBIRES
L A I E R EF M A R E R KRR
BHEEASORERDNBEE MEKEESHE
BREMBURNREBEBUINNEE - A E
ERBAENEENEARIAL N ARERN K
ABRGRARERSBRERWKRIE

RIEZ—F=BA=+—H ' aNEENEE
HESERESAEK134,690,0007T (ZEZ
TF : A15147,113,0007T)  REE A EIKH
ReB  BERREAFMAHNITIRFEEHNR
B> HARBAMESARE ZERINERT
EEAOTHREHRE —EMEAZEKE -
RENFRIHZEHNTIRERTRE 1EF
BEEHZEEMBGRHERBITES - — KM
BORHBEREBTIHEESR LBESNIREZ—
FREEHERFEAER MEG—FER
ERENEFEEMBRZBREEERBEZ
EERHBENTAER-
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HILEE

The retention money would be settled, based on the
expiry of the defect liability period, at the end of the
reporting period as follows:

fo o A S R AR B R

RES IR RS R E R BRI TR T
% BIENT

31.3.2021 31.3.2020
—E--® | CZEZEF
=A=+—-A | =A=+—H

HK$'000 HK$'000

AT AETT

Amount receivable within one year —ERNERESEE 19,018 61,561
Amount receivable after one year —FREKRSEE 115,672 85,552
134,690 147,113

Included in the above contract assets are amounts due
from related parties of trading nature as follows:

UEEHNEERNBERBABATRES T
BZRIATIBRMT :

31.3.2021 31.3.2020
“E-—f | —EB-EF
=ZA=+—8 | =B=+—~8
HK$'000 HK$'000

AT AETT

Joint ventures SEDE

670 4,531

As part of the internal credit risk management, the
Group applies internal credit rating for its customers in
relation to construction contract, interior and renovation
contract and installation of building materials contract.
The exposure to credit risk and ECL for contract assets
are assessed based on collective assessment, except for
contract assets receivable from departments of The
Government of HKSAR and with credit-impaired which
are assessed individually.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 48.

FARBEERREERZ -5 AEEM
BEIREGN B REEIRSOREE
BEMHIREGHNAETRRAARBEET
Ro-MENBEEMKIEZEERRKRERE
BEEENERTGETIE  EEKRER
FRITHERMNSMPINGNEEREFEREE
RERSHE EETER R -

EAEER R AN T
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26. DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND

22 /N

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #: &

A 5 2R B A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=—A=+—HILEFE

26. [EUTRTE - & R FEGRIE

PREPAYMENTS
31.3.2021 31.3.2020
—EZ—F —_EE
=B=+—H8 | =Z=B=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Trade debtors FE U =R IE
— contracts with customers —EBREH 101,746 63,148
— lease receivables — A EEWRIE 13,484 4,126
Less: Allowance for credit losses o EEEREE (5.307) (109)
109,923 67,165
Other receivables HthpE U zIa 7,898 1,328
Escrow deposits for investment DEAFEHEREMEN
properties classified as held for sale TEEE 23,319 -
Deposits BE 6,246 12,095
Prepayments S NENEE] 16,785 20,151
164,171 100,739

As at 1 April 2019, trade debtors from contracts with RIE—HAENBE—H ' RBEERGHZE

customers amounted to HK$86,076,000.

U shI8 4 7 186,076,0007T ©

For the business of construction services and others, the EREERBREMER  xEB—KHG
Group generally allows a credit period of 30 to 90 days FEEEZH=+ZFEAT+HEAZKA+H
and not more than 90 days (2020: 30 to 90 days and not (ZEZEBF =4+ EATHEARZRAL
more than 90 days), respectively, to its customers. Before H) ZEEH -EEMAMTER 2 AERE
accepting any new customer, the Group will internally HEEEFRZEEERFRIT LET
assess the credit quality of the potential customers and ~ AEEEREE c HIEUFRIETBIEF &8
define appropriate credit limit. Other receivables are =~ RN EREF{EE

unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

BB AR A IR AT 2020202148 233



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HILEE

Management closely monitors the credit quality of trade
debtors. 81% (2020: 76%) of the trade debtors that are
neither past due nor impaired to be of a good credit
quality based on their historical repayments. Included
in the trade debtors balance are trade debtors with
aggregate carrying amount of HK$12,742,000 (2020:
HK$6,482,000) which are past due over 90 days at the
end of the reporting period for which the Group has
not provided for impairment loss as the directors of the
Company considered there has no default occurred as
these trade debtors are still considered fully recoverable
due to long term/on-going relationship and good
repayment record from these debtors. The Group does
not hold any collateral over these balances. There are
no balances included in other receivables which are past
due.

The aged analysis of trade debtors net of allowance
for credit losses presented based on the invoice date
or agreement date, as appropriate, at the end of the
reporting period is as follows:

fo o A S R AR B R

CEEGREYERERREBEZEEER H
F81% (CE-ZHF : 76%) EUFIEEE&EA
B rEpE MRBREEZEREEMS
EEEZERF B8R EWRIBELGRIREE
MEEBENE12,742,000 T (ZE-ZF | B
6,482,0007T) Z FEWFRIEN SR SRR BB HA
BATHmMAEE &R ERERBIBEL#
B BEERAXAREERA BNEZEER
ANERE HERGRERIFNERGCE
W ERWFEIEN# R A 2 8uk(E - Fit
TEBEEMEN NEEMEIMZELEER
FETAEFR HMEKRRELEGED
Bz ko

FEWRIR GORREE B IRERE) ZRE DT
REBERSHRZERBANBRB R (0B
) IRZFMT :

31.3.2021 31.3.2020
—EZ—F _EEF

=B=+—8 | =B=+—H

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT BT

Within 30 days =t+HA 92,872 50,620
31 - 60 days =+—ZF/+H 2,883 8,645
61 - 90 days ~T—ZEA+H 1,347 1,418
Over 90 days #eht+a 12,821 6,482
109,923 67,165
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Included in the above trade debtors are amounts due
from related parties of trading nature as follows:

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=—A=+—HILEFE

EULERRERNSERKRABALREES
MEZRIRTIBBWMT -

31.3.2021 31.3.2020

“E—F _ECEHE

=B=+—B | =A=+—8

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT BT

Joint ventures BERHE - 8,162
Subsidiaries of Million Hope ETBEXEERABRAR
Industries Holdings Limited (ME=)) 2MB AT

(“Million Hope”) (Note) (FF5E) 5 =

Note:  Million Hope is regarded as a related company in which
CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited, a substantial shareholder
of the Company, and certain discretionary trusts, of
which certain directors of the Company are among
the members of the class of discretionary beneficiaries,
have beneficial interests.

As part of the internal credit risk management, the
Group applies internal credit rating for its customers in
relation to construction contract, interior and renovation
contract and installation of building materials contract.
The exposure to credit risk and ECL for trade debtors are
assessed based on collective assessment, except for trade
debtors receivable from departments of The Government
of HKSAR and with credit-impaired which are assessed
individually.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 48.

Mzt . ESWRAMBAT MAATDEERR
CCM Trust (Cayman) LimitedB& FE15
Bt ZRAETESAENEZEAE
MEPZRE) REPESEmER -

ERARBEERREEREZ —85  REBEM
BREIEGH B REEIRSOREE
BEMHIRBRSGHNRHEZRRARNEET
#R o FLEE WK IEFR KR 2 (E B AR KR FEERE
EERENERMEETIGL ERKEE
HRITHERFSPINREBEREEEERE
BOTRIEEE 1T ME B ST (4 RSN o

BT 5 15 B A I 5E48 °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HILEE

27. AMOUNTS DUE FROM JOINT
VENTURES

The amounts are unsecured, interest-free, non-trade

nature and repayable on demand.

The Group assessed the ECL with reference to the internal
credit rating of the counterparties. Details of impairment
assessment are set out in note 48.

28. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL

The amounts represent investments in equity securities
listed on the Stock Exchange whose fair value amounted
to HK$438,000 (2020: HK$319,000) as at 31 March 2021.

29. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances and cash represent cash held by the Group
and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity
of three months or less at interest rate at a range from
0.01% to 0.15% (2020: 0.01% to 1.60%) per annum as at
31 March 2021.

At 31 March 2021, bank balances and cash of HK$900,000
(2020: HK$942,000) were denominated in Renminbi
(“RMB™) which is not a freely convertible currency in
the international market. The exchange rate of RMB is
regulated by the PRC government and the remittance
of these funds out of the PRC is subject to exchange
restrictions imposed by the PRC government.
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ZERBADNERP - RS FEZEERRE
KREFEE

FEESERHZABEETRTETRBE
B8 - M E T L B R M 5E48

28. BRPmMBATFEN T ZME

BE

zﬁ RIEIER R L ZRAESRE
——&=ZA=+—H HATERHS
mng 38 0007C (ZZE 24 : ##319,0007T) °

=;

29. SRITH R RIE
RZEZ—F=B=+—H8 RITHEGFKHA
SHEAERFAEZRERERIPRAA=
BAX LR =EE ZEHRRTER  FH =X
T F0.01%ZE0.15% (ZE_FF : 0.01%E
1.60%) ©

RIEZ—F=H=+—H#1900,0007T
(ZZE-ZF : #¥942,0007T) Z IRITLEER
RREBAREIE ARERERBEES
BEHERR AREEXZHEBFHRER
RPEEHEMAESAST PEBH BN
B PR i KR PR ©
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The Group’s bank balances that are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currencies of the
relevant group entities are set out below.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=—A=+—HILEFE

FEBUERERBRZMEGEUINZE
WIEZRITHERHIIW T -

31.3.2021 31.3.2020

—EZ—F —_EE
=B=+-8B | =A=+-H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Euro Bi 7T 26 1,605
Macau Pataca (“MOP") Pl Lz 46 90
RMB AR 862 824
United States Dollar (“USD") ST 18 38

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 48.

30. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR
SALE

During the year ended 31 March 2021, an indirect wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company entered into a sale
and purchase agreement with an independent third
party to dispose of its 25% interest in a joint venture,
AG Acquisition M (BVI) Limited together with its wholly
owned subsidiaries. The directors of the Company
considered that the held-for-sale criteria as set out in
HKFRS 5 were met, by taking into account the fact that
the subject equity interest was immediately available
for sale, and the conditions to be met to complete
the disposal as set out in the terms of the relevant
agreement. The carrying amount of 25% interests in
the joint venture of HK$14,577,000 as at 31 March 2021
was reclassified from interest in a joint venture to assets
classified as held for sale.

B ET L ¥ 1B B A MY 5148

30. PERFHELESRE

REE_S_—E=H=+—HLEE"-
KABIZHEEE2ENBAREBIFE=,
SIUBEEWE UHEHERSEE R EAG
Acquisition M (BVI) Limited EEHEZE
B AT Z225% s o K5t K 5% B R BN B 7]
HEE REMABEAAMTERZIELE R
REZEGE KAABESRATEETEUR
REEERRAHEFELERE RIS
T—F=ZBA=+—H REEREP2%E
w2 BREEB14,577,000cEHEE %
ZHEGRENMDTBREDBRARELEEE-
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HILEE

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group
launched certain car parking spaces located in Hong
Kong for sale in the market. For the car parking spaces
without sale and purchase agreements and offered for
sales as at 31 March 2021 with carrying value amounting
to HK$6,300,000, the directors of the Company
considered that the held-for-sale criteria as set out in
HKFRS 5 were met, by taking into account the fact that
the subject investment properties were immediately
available for sale, and the sale is to be highly probable
as appropriate level of management had committed to
a plan to sell the investment properties. Accordingly, the
subject investment properties were classified as assets
held for sale as at 31 March 2021.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group
launched a block of residential investment properties
located in Hong Kong with carrying value amounting to
HK$483,587,000 for sale in the market. As at 31 March
2020, the Group has entered into sale and purchase
agreements with independent third parties to dispose of
certain units at a total consideration of HK$286,281,000.
For the units without sale and purchase agreements
and offered for sales as at 31 March 2020 with carrying
value amounting to HK$197,306,000, the directors of the
Company considered that the held-for-sale criteria as set
out in HKFRS 5 were met, by taking into account the fact
that the subject investment properties were immediately
available for sale, and the sale is to be highly probable
as appropriate level of management had be committed
to a plan to sell the investment properties. Accordingly,
the subject investment properties were classified as assets
held for sale as at 31 March 2020. During the year ended
31 March 2021, the Group has entered into sale and
purchase agreements with independent third parties to
dispose of all residential units. The remaining 1 unit to
be handed over with carrying value of HK$9,200,000 was
presented as assets held for sale as at 31 March 2021.
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FEFEBEHUREBNEFEURTS L
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SEEMBREEENEM REEAEE
6,300,0007T > €5t sz iR B = BB AJ (4 i
ERABERINNEEBEAELEREY
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ERRT BBV BREEN S IR
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REE_ZE_ZEF=-A=+—HILEFE &K
EEHELE—EBAREENEESREWERST
1% EHE  BREE % 8 15483,587,0005T ° 7
—ECEF=-R=+—H ' xEEEEHE
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As at 31 March 2021, fair value of the investment
properties classified as held for sale amounting to
HK$15,500,000 (2020: HK$483,587,000) were determined
by Colliers, an independent property valuer, with
reference to the contracted selling price, if any. Change
in fair value of investment properties amounting to
HK$838,000 (2020: nil) is recognised in profit or loss
during the year ended 31 March 2021.

31. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=—A=+—HILEFE

RIEZ—F=B=+—H'2EAFEH
EREWEZ QA FEA5500,0007T (ZF
T4 A18483,587,0007T) T B I (L
B NR2RINERE WA) BEE-INE
EE_—F=-RB=1+—HIEEE KEY
¥ AT (EEFHABL838,000 Tt (CTFF:
®) BRiam R

31. BRI K H th & {3 7R 1A

31.3.2021 31.3.2020
—E—F =Sl

=B=+—H | =B=+—H

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT AT

Trade payables FE(TFRIE 91,677 33,325
Retention payable — amount eI REE—

payable within one year —FENELEEE 55,487 85,865
Retention payable — amount FEFHREE —

payable after one year —FREMNEEE 102,836 89,771

Accrued operating costs and charges FEstEEM A RER 179,863 234,483

Accrued costs for construction work FEETEEE TR A 166,716 162,442

Temporary receipts B B I BN 2 7R I8 6,545 6,588

Deposits received from disposal of REHESEARELEERE

assets classified as held for sale Z BINEEE S 10,930 23,243

Deposits received B ER & 26,482 10,321

640,536 646,038

The credit period on purchase of goods and payment for
subcontractors’ works is ranged from 30 to 90 days.

BEBRRS (S OHTRREZE SN
F=+EA+E-
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HILEE

The aged analysis of trade payables presented based on
the invoice date at the end of the reporting period is as
follows:

fo o A S R AR B R

EARBEZREDMDIRBREARZER
BEIRZEWMT -

31.3.2021 31.3.2020
—E--® | CZEZEF
=A=+—-A | =A=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000

AT AETT

Within 30 days =t+HA 87,787 28,391
31 - 60 days =+—Z/;x+H 128 780
61 - 90 days ~T—ZEAh+H 13 2
Over 90 days #eht+a 3,749 4,152

91,677 33,325

As at 31 March 2021, the retention payable balances
included retention payable to Million Hope Group
amounting to HK$218,000 (2020: HK$218,000).

32. PROVISIONS

The Group’s provisions are analysed for reporting
purposes as:

R-IE-—F=A=+—8 ' EHRELE
BREEENETEEBN218,000T (ZEZ
T4E  #H1£218,0007T) ZIREE o

32.

FEFEFE2RABRNVEBDNWMT :

31.3.2021 31.3.2020
—_E_—F —EE

=ZA=+—B | =B=+—H

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Current liabilities mEaE 13,613 70,727

Non-current liabilities EmeEmaE 70,609 119,442

84,222 190,169
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=—A=+—HILEFE

The movement of the Group’s provisions are as follows: REBRBHEEIHWOT -
Provision for
rectification
work
BNIRE
B
HK$'000
BT
At 1 April 2019 A ZE—-AEMNA—H 287,936
Addition wE 965
Utilisation )z (98,732)
At 31 March 2020 R ZEZTF=A=1+—H 190,169
Reversal [0 (8,159)
Utilisation ;A (97,788)
At 31 March 2021 R-B-_—£=ZA=+—H 84,222

The provision for rectification work as at 31 March 2021
and 2020 relates to the cost of work to be carried out in
relation to construction contracts, interior and renovation
contracts and supply and installation of ceiling system
supplied to the Group’s customers during the defects
liability period, mainly for a period of maximum of 2
years, based on relevant correspondence and contracts
with customers and management’s prior experience with
the consideration of the rectification work claim in the
past. These amounts have not been discounted for the
purpose of measuring the provision for rectification work
because the effect is not material.

RIE R _E-_FEF=H=+—H">
BRTITEBEIRASEBRREEEHAM
BMEFIREZEETIRSN KM REET
REAOURBERLZEXRIERARFIIE LK
O BEREARRNEARGEREOUKRER
BHBFERNTRERENLSER  BEaETH
FTELE—BEREMENIEM -BHRERR
BUNFAER WEETELRMAETENRT
EEEETINR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & B B3 b 5k

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HILEE

33. LEASE LIABILITIES

33.THE &R

31.3.2021 31.3.2020
—E—F _EIEF
=A=+—-8 | ZA=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Lease liabilities payable: FENGHEERR
Within one year —FR 3,370 6,270
Within a period of more than one year BB —FEFRZHWEHRBER
but not more than two years 604 2,128
Within a period of more than two years BBMEERZHRAFHEBA
but not more than five years 159 584
Within a period of more than five years  Z A EHRR 3,030 2,155
7,163 11,137
Less: Amount due for settlement within & : R+ 188 REIHE4
12 months shown under current NEARBHEBREZEE
liabilities (3,370) (6,270)
Amount due for settlement after R+_ERBIEE
12 months shown under non-current DERIERBEBEZEEE
liabilities 3,793 4,867
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4% AR5 5 2 B 51

34. BANK LOANS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=—A=+—HILEFE

34. SRITE™

31.3.2021 31.3.2020
=B=+—H | =B=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
AT T BT T
Bank loans (Note a) IRITEM (HzFa) 3,184,500 1,666,350
Less: Amount shown under oW pEAREARE I ERE
current liabilities (BIEEREREE
(including bank loans ZIRITER)
with a repayable on
demand clause) (3,184,500) (1,666,350)
Amount shown under DEAIEREBEZERE
non-current liabilities - =
The carrying amount of bank loans BRARBREZEFRRZ
that contain a repayment on demand RITERIREE (PEA
clause (shown under current liabilities) RENER) BN T ERR
but repayable (Note b): &8 (MfzEb) :
Within one year —F R 3,184,500 1,503,450
Within a period of more than one year  B#—FERBIE
but not exceeding two years M EHAE R - 162,900
3,184,500 1,666,350
Secured (Note c) SRR (FfsEc) 2,634,500 1,366,350
Unsecured gl i 550,000 300,000
3,184,500 1,666,350
Notes: Bk

(@) The Group’s bank loans are floating-rate borrowings
which carry interest at market rates ranging from Hong
Kong Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR") + 0.75% to HIBOR
+ 2.00% per annum (2020: from HIBOR + 0.75% to HIBOR
+ 1.50% per annum) and are repayable in instalments over
a period of five years.

(b) The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates
set out in the respective loan agreements.

(c) The bank loans are secured by charges over certain assets
of the Group, which are disclosed in note 40.

(d) The weighted average effective interest rates on the
Group's bank loans is 1.52% (2020: 3.02%) per annum.

(a) FTEBERITERDUFRSHERFENZE
MEEF FHNEHEBRTRAEREM
0.75%EEARITEERENM2.00%:1E (=
TTF HBFABRTEEREM.75%E
EHBRITEEREM.50%) XARAERN

DR

(b) HESTREHNSERGEZAHERD
HEE -

©  EESRTERASEEEFAELT 515
BIEA0R B -

(d ZAEFEFETERZNMEFLHERENRA
1.52% (CEB-FF :3.02%) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HILEE

35. DEFERRED TAXATION

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of financial position, certain deferred tax
assets and liabilities have been offset. The following is
the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial
reporting purposes:

fo o A S R AR B R

5. EIERIA

2 EEMBRERE ETRERELSE
AT YRS
M = ZIESERR RS BR 2 A7 -

31.3.2021 31.3.2020
—E-—F —ECF
=BA=+—H | =B=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Deferred tax assets IRERIBEE 2,836 2,508
Deferred tax liabilities IRERIBEEE (8,120) (16,758)
(5,284) (14,250)

The followings are the major deferred tax liabilities
(assets) of the Group and movements thereon during the
current and prior years:

Accelerated

tax Tax Provision
depreciation losses for ECL Total

IS BHEE
RBE MBS BREE B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BETR AR BB

At 1 April 2019 RZZ-—NEMNA—H 19,410 (7,853) (1,739) 9,818
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 38)  WEBHIB AT (ft:138) 3,727 (349) = 3,378
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 38) HEMBAR (H3E38) (3,002) 3,002 = =
Charge (credit) to consolidated REEEGEEZRTSH

statement of profit or loss (EtA)

for the year 439 (1,024) 1,639 1,054
At 31 March 2020 A\_E-_ZF=R=+—H 20,574 (6,224) (100) 14,250
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 38) Llﬂlﬂ%ffﬁ}%’&j (MT}'BS) 15,291 (15,291) = =
Credit to consolidated statement of ~ RAFELSEBHERFPEA

profit or loss for the year (4,359) (3,730) (877) (8,966)
At 31 March 2021 RZE-_—F=F=+—H 31,506 (25,245) (977) 5,284

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has
unused tax losses of approximately HK$285,053,000
(2020: HK$105,824,000) available for offset against
future profit. A deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of approximately HK$152,999,000 (2020:
HK$37,723,000) of such losses. No deferred tax asset
has been recognised in respect of the remaining
approximately HK$132,054,000 (2020: HK$68,101,000)
due to the unpredlctablllty of future profit streams.
All the unrecognised tax losses may be carried forward
indefinitely.

RERR AEBRAZREBELS
B M285, 053,000 (ZE_Z4F %“ﬂ%
105,824,0007t) » & BB YEHESH R 3 > %%l B
wh# TE 5 1B 40 55 16152,999,000 ﬁ(%:g:;ﬁ
15
uss
4

=
o

& #1837.723,00050) B SR SE

R T AE {5 R 3R 2 e Rl - $EE ¥

54015 132,054,0007T (— & —

68 101,0007T) FE R L Y]
2D MR TE RS 18 o AL S PR ER AL 58 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 B %5 i 2R b 5

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=—A=+—HILEFE

36. SHARE CAPITAL 36. lR7s
No. of shares HK$'000
anE ¢ BT
Authorised: ERE -
Shares of HK$0.10 each SR HER0.107T 2 &5
Balance as at 1 April 2019, RZZE—hEEB—H-
31 March 2020 and —E_EF=-H=+—H
31 March 2021 —E-_—F=H
=+—HZ 45 1,500,000,000 150,000
Issued and fully paid: BERITRER :
Shares of HK$0.10 each FREHER0.107T 2 &5
Balance as at 1 April 2019 RZE—hFEEBE—HZ
KR 1,090,831,576 109,083
Issue of shares upon exercise of TEBREmMEITZRG
share options (Note) (Bt 53) 93,100 9
Balance as at 31 March 2020 and 1 R-_E_ZEFE=-H=+—H
April 2020 k_Z2ZZEFMA—H
ZKEER 1,090,924,676 109,092
Issue of shares upon exercise of TEBREmMZEITZRG
share options (Note) (Pt %) 11,200,000 1,120
Balance as at 31 March 2021 A B —F=H=+—H
Z &5 1,102,124,676 110,212

Note: The new shares issued rank pari passu in all respects

with the existing shares in issue.
37. RESERVES

Contributed surplus of the Group mainly represents
the share premium arising from issue of shares upon
exercise of share options, and the difference between the
aggregate share capital of the subsidiaries at the date
on which they were acquired by the Company and the
nominal amount of the Company’s shares issued at the
time of the group corporate reorganisation, less the par
value of the bonus shares issued by the Company.

Special reserve of the Group represents the aggregate
of contributions from the then shareholders of the
companies comprising the Group and other subsidiaries
of HKR International Limited (“HKRI"”) before the group
corporate reorganisation.

M BRETHBHREESERTRHNES
B = 5 MR HER o
37. #E

FEBZBABR TEETEBREME
TROEENRDEE  REAAE KRB
BARER ZEMBARZRAMERRN
FEBEERAQRTDEETROMEEZE
B AR AT ERITARZEE

FEBZHFEERERAEBREEMAEN
FEBZRARAAREAREZARERBRAT
(TEBEX) NEMNBARNERRRZ
BRAEZWEER-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HILEE

38. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES/
DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

For the year ended 31 March 2021

(i) Acquisition of Gallant Elite Enterprises Limited

Pursuant to the shareholders deed dated 28 March 2018
(the “Shareholders Deed”) executed by a direct wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, Hanison Construction
Holdings (BVI) Limited (“Hanison BVI”), Hilux Il Cayman
Ltd. (the “Purchaser”) and Gallant Elite Enterprises
Limited (“Gallant Elite”), a joint venture of the Group,
Hanison BVI had granted to the Purchaser a put option,
and pursuant to which the Purchaser was entitled to, sell
back the put interests (i.e. one ordinary share in Gallant
Elite, representing 50% interest held by the Purchaser
in Gallant Elite, and shareholder loan made available by
the Purchaser to Gallant Elite) to the Company at the
Purchaser’s discretion, at an exercise price as determined
in the manner as set out in the Shareholders Deed (the
“Put Option”). The Put Option was exercisable by the
Purchaser at any time during the period starting after
(and exclusive of) 28 June 2020 and ending on (and
inclusive of) 28 September 2020.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Purchaser
exercised the Put Option and the transaction was
completed on 28 September 2020 at a consideration
of HK$800,000,000, subject to certain adjustments.
Upon completion, Gallant Elite and its wholly owned
subsidiaries became wholly owned subsidiaries of the
Company. Gallant Elite and its wholly owned subsidiaries
are engaged property investment and the major asset
held is a commercial property “PeakCastle” situated at
No. 476 Castle Peak Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that the
acquisition does not constitute business combination as
defined in HKFRS 3 “Definition of a Business”, therefore,
the acquisition has been accounted for as acquisition of
assets.
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38. BB AR, HLEMB AR

BE_T_—F=—A=1+t—HLEFE

() WKEBEMAEXARAFE

BRIBFAREIEEEZENB A ASHanison
Construction Holdings (BVI) Limited
(THanison BVIJ) ~Hilux Il Cayman Ltd.
(TER) REEEESELXBHREEXAR
»~E (TG FrETIIB8A S —N\FE=A
Z+N\BZREHEL (TRRER2247]1) » Hanison
BVIEREFRHZ LA BRIt - BEHH#
BB URRZAMME A EENITEER
AREIERR D BIREG—REER (1B
EREARBRAFER Z50%EE) URE
FEERIRENRRER) (TS HMA%)) -
RonHARRHEAR _E2EFAZHN

H(REEER) BHBE_ZS_ZEFNA
_—I-/\El (BEFER) AR ZHARM N R
17

RBEE_TE-_—F=A=+—HLFE 8B
FTERGERRZERZZEZZEFNA
Z+/\B5EK > KX{E% #1800,000,0007T (7]
FETHRE) -NERE BREREZEWS
RERABTREZEERNB AT - BHRAE
PEMNBARINEMERERFEZIEE
EAMNREBNES LEIT6RINmEYE
l'PeakCastle | °

KRB EERRZWBL BB B IR
SEAF =R EBNERIMREZEHS
it At AR EREFREEWE AR
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=—A=+—HILEFE

The assets acquired and liabilities recognised on the date ~ RINEEHEREZEHBARS0%EE 2 H
of acquisition of 50% interest in Gallant Elite and its  HAFfEBZ EERERZEENT :

wholly owned subsidiaries were as follows:

HK$'000
BT
Investment properties KREME 1,599,849
Property, plant and equipment ME-BERZE 301
Debtors, deposits and prepayments FEWRRIE~ 2 E R FEGRIE 4,007
Bank balances and cash IRITHEER RIS 40,651
Trade and other payables & 1 R T8 TR L fith FE < R IE (11,937)
Bank loans IRITEM (999,200)
633,671
The consideration for the acquisition of 50%  Z{JUtFBERE KR E 2 EH B A F50%E 5
interest in Gallant Elite and its wholly ZHE:
owned subsidiaries is satisfied by:
Consideration paid EfRE 316,760
Transfer from loan to a joint venture ERESEREEMN 93,464
Transfer from interest in a joint venture BEREaEtEz D 223,447
633,671
Net cash outflows on acquisition of 50% WiER G R E 2B B A BS0%#E 5w
interest in Gallant Elite and its wholly HEME P
owned subsidiaries:
Consideration paid EfRE 316,760
Bank balances and cash acquired BWEIRITARKIRE (40,651)
276,109
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HILEE

(ii) Disposal of 50% interest in Protic Limited

On 31 March 2021, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, Hanison BVI, entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with an independent third party
(the “Purchaser”) to dispose of 50% interest in and the
shareholder’s loan to Protic Limited at a consideration
of approximately HK$81,746,000 (subject to adjustment).
Protic Limited is engaged in property development. The
major asset of Protic Limited represented various lots in
Demarcation District No.121, Tong Yan San Tsuen, Yuen
Long, New Territories, Hong Kong (“Land”). The disposal
was completed on 31 March 2021.

According to the sale and purchase agreement, the
Group granted a put option to the Purchaser, and
pursuant to which the Purchaser is entitled to sell back
50% interest in Protic Limited and any shareholder loan
made available by the Purchaser and for the time being
outstanding, at an exercise price equal to the aggregate
of the consideration paid as at the exercise date of the
put option and any shareholder’s loans advanced by
the purchaser to Protic Limited, to the Group at the
Purchaser’s discretion subject to a cap of HK$213,000,000
if the land exchange for private residential development
in respect of the Land is not completed within a certain
period as set out in the sale and purchase agreement. The
land exchange has been completed subsequent to the
reporting period.
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(i) HESEHRLTS0%ER

N ZEZ—F=HA=1+—H AR ZzEE
2>EEAMEB/ATIHanison BVIEFIIE =
F(TEARNITIEEHEZ UREBHBE
81,746,000t (A FA%E) HESBEBRL
BZ50%RERREER ERERATR
EMELR - BRERATDVEIEEEAS
BN AR TBAEAMNLELMI215RE T
(Mt HEBRZ-E-—%=A8
=+—H%Eme

RIEEENZ AEERE SR LR HEARE
B MR EEHRPS 2 BRARBA > Bk
ZITHHAAFEEZEN T HZMEKTR
BEAFERERERTERLAEEEEMR
BrREFAEEERAFRENKREERZ
FMAVIT(EE (Z LR 1213,000,0007CFT R
R) MERAERLEEEETERATS0%E
mREAREMERHREENTARRE
o THIRZMBE R IR EHAM B TR ©
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As at initial recognition, the fair value of the put option
is estimated to be insignificant since the management of
the Group considers that the put option is highly unlikely
to be exercised.

The assets and liabilities of the subsidiary on the date of
disposal:

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=—A=+—HILEFE

REREDE AR EREEER ARG
HAREIR R AT BEAR AT fiE > iR L HARE 2 A P {E
fhEETIEREK

MBARNGLERPNEEKRER

HK$'000
BT T
Properties under development for sale BRPZHEME 98,028
Deposits ®BE 23
Amount due to a group company FEHEEATRRIE (55,340)
Other payables HAFE R IE (22)
42,689
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary: HERBRAE Z W= :
Fair value of retained interest in EELEFREEEATE
a joint venture (included in (BIEREELEZER)
interests in joint ventures) 26,406
Net consideration received Bl EREE 26,406
Assignment of shareholder’s loan HEREREMR 55,340
Net assets disposed of HEREE (42,689)
65,463
Satisfied by: Zft:
Cash consideration received slEERE 81,746
Net cash inflows on disposal: HERIREMAERE
Consideration received BRE 81,746
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HILEE

(iii) Disposal of 50% interest in Honour Advent
Limited

On 31 March 2021, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, Propser Jade Limited, entered into a
sale and purchase agreement with an independent third
party to dispose of 50% interest in and shareholder’s
loan to Honour Advent Limited together with its wholly
owned subsidiaries, Prime Success Global Limited, Capital
Green Holdings Limited and Fortune Shiner Development
Limited (collectively referred to as “ Honour Advent
Group”) at a consideration of approximately
HK$99,978,000 (subject to adjustment). Honour Advent
Group was engaged in property development. The major
asset of Honour Advent Group represented No. 57A, Nga
Tsin Wai Road, Kowloon Tong, Kowloon. The disposal
was completed on 31 March 2021.

The assets and liabilities of the subsidiaries on the date of
disposal:

fo o A S R AR B R

(iii) HEBEEARATS50%MEm

RZEBEZ_—F=BA=+—H A8 zH#
2ENBARIERERATHABIE=FH
ST BB S UK ELNEE99,978,0005T
(I FRE) HEEBRERRATAKEZEN
BAEIBRKIRIKB R A~ Capital Green
Holdings Limited & EEZERERAE (HTB
TEBRER)S0%ERRKRRER - BRE
EREVEZR -ZRERAFEEEANE
NEEREAEESTAR - HEEBNR T —F
=B=+—B%m°

MEABNLERMNEERER

HK$'000
BT T
Properties under development for sale BRPZGEME 274,179
Bank balances RIT4EER 3,223
Other payables HuhrE S 7Ia (32,480)
Amount due to a group company FEHEEARRIE (74,807)
Bank loans RITER (96,000)
74,115
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary: HEMRBAS Z W -
Fair value of retained interest in SEPEFRERTELTE
a joint venture (included in (BEREEREZ#ER)
interests in joint ventures) 25,171
Net consideration received ERAEFEE 25,171
Assignment of shareholder’s loan HERREN 74,807
Net assets disposed of HEFEE (74,115)
51,034
Satisfied by: *17:
Cash consideration received BWIRERE 99,978
Net cash inflows on disposal: HERIRERAEER .
Consideration received B RE 99,978
Bank balances disposed BEHERITLER (3,223)
96,755
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For the year ended 31 March 2020

(i) Acquisition of Storage Portfolio Holding Il Ltd
and disposal of Storage Management Group

On 16 July 2019, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company, Excellent Sincere Limited, entered into a
sale and purchase agreement with an independent third
party to acquire the entire issued and paid-up share
capital and shareholder loan of Storage Portfolio Holding
Il Ltd, together with its wholly owned subsidiaries, (i)
Storage Holding | Ltd; and (ii) Storage Management Ltd,
Minibox Asia Limited and New Empire Properties Limited
(“Storage Management Group”), at a consideration of
approximately HK$737,884,000. The acquisition was
completed on 30 August 2019. Storage Portfolio Holding
Il Ltd was principally engaged in the self-storage business
through Storage Management Group and holds various
industrial properties located at Chai Wan and Kwun
Tong, Hong Kong through Storage Holding | Ltd.

Immediately after the completion of the acquisition on
30 August 2019, Storage Portfolio Holding Il Ltd entered
into a sale and purchase agreement on the same day with
an independent third party to dispose the entire interest
in Storage Management Group at a consideration
of approximately HK$16,194,000. The disposal was
completed on the same day. After the disposal of Storage
Management Group, the major asset of Storage Portfolio
Holding Il Ltd represented the industrial properties
located at Chai Wan and Kwun Tong.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-A=+—HILEFE

 E_E_TEF=HA=+—HIFE

(i) UYxEBStorage Portfolio Holding II
Ltd & i & Storage Management

RZE—NEtA+ B xAFZHEESR
EMBRAEEHERAREBIIFE=H:TIL
BE %% LUk EEStorage Portfolio Holding
Il Ltd>EBEEEZEMEBAT() Storage
Holding | Ltd; A (ii)Storage Management
Ltd - EFIEENERATRERMESRIR
A7) (TStorage Management&E®E]) 20
EETRBERAURKRRER KBNS
A 15737,884,0007T - WEBER —T— N F/N\
B =+ H5H o Storage Portfolio Holding II
LtdF EiEBStorage ManagementEEE# =
RIRBE EFE R FE BStorage Holding | LtdiFE
UREBARERGENSEIEYXE.

EBNR_Z—NFENA=Z+HKRETHKE
Storage Portfolio Holding Il Ltd#2f&17 58
=FRABRTIIEEHZE UL EStorage
ManagementfE B 2 28w KEN R B
#16,194,000c - HEERBEHTEMR - HE
Storage Managementf @2 % > Storage
Portfolio Holding Il Ltd#9F B & E A I L
BREENTEYE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ¢4 I %5 # 2R b 5

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HILEE

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that the
acquisition does not constitute business combination as
defined in HKFRS 3 “Definition of a Business”, therefore,

the acquisition has been accounted for as acquisition of

assets.

The assets acquired and liabilities recognised on the date
of acquisition of Storage Portfolio Holding Il Ltd and the

KRB EERRZWBL BB B IR
SEAF =R EBNERIMREZEHS
it A AW EREFREEWE AR

U BEStorage Portfolio Holding Il Ltd&
tStorage Management& Bz B #AFFUREE

disposal of Storage Management Group, was as follows: ZEERERZEBENT :
HK$'000
BT T
For the acquisition of Storage Portfolio I B&Storage Portfolio Holding Il Ltd:
Holding Il Ltd:
Investment properties KREYE 726,063
Debtors, deposits and prepayments FEWRFRIE ~ & R RRIE 77
Bank balances and cash IRITHEERRIRE 568
Trade and other payables FE {3 TR I8 K EL A FE (S FRIE (198)
Taxation payable FEGRIE (757)
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIEAR (4,063)
721,690
Assets and liabilities classified as held RINEHIADBEAREHEZEER
for sale at date of acquisition (Note) & & (fsh) 16,194
Net assets acquired BWEEEZRE 737,884
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Note: Assets and liabilities of Storage Management Group

for o A B AR B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=—A=+—HILEFE

MisE : Storage ManagementfEE D 1EAIF(EH

classified as held for sale and disposed of were as ERBHEZEERGREWT :
follows:
HK$'000
BT T
Property, plant and equipment M- BERRE 11,806
Deposits for leasehold improvement HERE 1,638
Right-of-use assets EREEE 1,373
Other non-current asset HMIEREEE 77
Debtors, deposits and prepayments FEULFRIE ~ ¥ & R FRTFRIE 1,531
Inventories 758 217
Bank balances and cash IRITERKIRE 8,641
Trade and other payables P& <1 R 18 e ELfth FE < 7R 1E (6,807)
Contract liabilities aHaE (255)
Deferred tax liabilities FERIEEE (632)
Lease liabilities HEAR (1,395)
16,194
HK$'000
BB T
The consideration for the acquisition of Storage X U BEStorage Portfolio
Portfolio Holding Il Ltd is satisfied by: Holding Il LtdZ fX{& :
Cash consideration paid ENRERE 737,884
The consideration for the disposal of Storage H &Storage Management &
Management Group: ZHRE:
Cash consideration received BWIRERE 16,194
HK$'000
BB T
Net cash outflows on acquisition of Storage Portfolio YE&Storage Portfolio Holding I
Holding Il Ltd: Ltd 2 IRE ML IPEE -
Consideration paid B E 737,884
Bank balances and cash acquired BUWNEIRITHERRIRE (9,209)
728,675
Net cash inflows on disposal of i & Storage Management£ &
Storage Management Group: ZIREMAFEE
Consideration received B E 16,194
Bank balances and cash disposed BHERTEFRIRE (8,641)
7,553
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HILEE

(ii) Acquisition of Excel Chinese International
Limited

On 11 October 2019, an indirect wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, Oriental Effort Limited,
entered into a sale and purchase agreement with an
independent third party to acquire the entire issued
and paid-up share capital and shareholder loan of Excel
Chinese International Limited (“Excel Chinese”), at a
consideration of approximately HK$742,348,000. The
acquisition was completed on 8 November 2019. The
major asset of Excel Chinese represented the whole
block of property named “Citadines Mercer Hong Kong”
located at No. 29 Jervois Street, Hong Kong. The directors
of the Company are of the opinion that the acquisition
does not constitute business combination as defined in
HKFRS 3, therefore, the acquisition has been accounted
for as acquisition of assets.

The assets acquired and liabilities recognised on the date
of acquisition was as follows:

fo o A S R AR B R

(i) WEEEBERARAE

RZE-NE+RB+—B FAR2FAMEESR
MEBASRDERATDEBIE=/:IILE
BipZ WNBEEERAERAR (T21#))
EREBTRBERSTURKRRER KB
M ABEET42,348,000T  ZWEERZT
—NWE+—BN\BRM SHNETEEER
UREBHNE29R LA EBBEEN
DNEBEI Z—BERYE - BERTERI &
W BB It B B R M B IR S 22 R S5 = SRR 7
EZEBEH Bt ZBWBFREFEREE
WRE A BR ©

RIEEBFBBEZEERER ZEGEN
T

HK$'000
BT T
Property, plant and equipment ME--BERZE 737,115
Deferred tax assets RERIBE E 685
Debtors, deposits and prepayments FEWFRIE ~ & R TEGRIE 840
Bank balances and cash IRITEFRARIRE 4,938
Trade and other payables FE {5 TR 18 e HL fth FE T =R 18 (1,210)
Taxation payable FETIRIE (20)
742,348
Satisfied by: AR

Cash consideration paid ENRENRE 742,348

Net cash outflows on acquisition: Y Bg 2 IREMEIFER -
Consideration paid BN E 742,348
Bank balances and cash acquired BEWEIRITER RIS (4,938)
737,410
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(iii) Disposal of General Mark Holdings Limited

On 15 July 2019, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company, Shangzhi Limited, entered into a sale
and purchase agreement with an independent third
party to dispose of its entire interests in General Mark
Holdings Limited, together with its wholly owned
subsidiary, Masswell International Limited (“Masswell”),
at a consideration of approximately HK$421,529,000.
Masswell was engaged in property investment. The major
asset of Masswell represented a serviced apartment
named “One Eleven” situated at No. 111 High Street,
Hong Kong. The disposal was completed on 15 August
2019.

The assets and liabilities of the subsidiaries on the date of
disposal:

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=—A=+—HILEFE

(iii) HEEFZERBRAE

RIZE—NELtA+HRB  ARBAZHEHES
BB ARMERRAREBILIE =T
BEEWmE UEEBEFIERERAR  ERH
ZEMBRATXPEEERAR (MMEKH) 2
2D KENAABA421,529,0007T ° %
PREVERE - RPN EIEBEAMUNSE
BEAE1115EIRFEEEOne Eleven o H
EERZE—NENB+HEBZM

REERHRBARZEEREGRNT :

HK$'000
BT
Investment properties KEME 420,000
Property, plant and equipment ME--BERSZE 1,235
Debtors, deposits and prepayments FEWRRIE R E R FENRIE 288
Bank balances and cash IRITEBFRARIRE 2,708
Trade and other payables P& < 7R T8 e HL 1 & {5 7R 1E (1,467)
422,764
Loss on disposal HERE (1,235)
421,529
Satisfied by: AR :
Cash consideration received 2WRENE 421,529
Net cash inflows on disposal: HEZRERAFEE .
Consideration received BUHLE 421,529
Bank balances and cash disposed BEHERITHERRIRE (2,708)
418,821
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HILEE

39. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s former share option scheme (“2011 Share
Option Scheme”) was adopted by the Company on 21
September 2011 and was terminated on 25 August 2020.
Share options granted prior to the termination continue
to be valid and exercisable in accordance with the 2011
Share Option Scheme.

The Company adopted a new share option scheme
(“Scheme”) on 25 August 2020, all executive or non-
executive directors and full-time employees of, and
consultants employed on a contract basis by, any member
of the Group are eligible to participate in the Scheme.
No options have been granted under the Scheme since its
adoption.

The purpose of the Scheme is to provide the participants
with the opportunity to acquire proprietary interest in
the Company and to encourage them to work towards
enhancing the value of the Company and its shares for
the benefit of the Company and its shareholders as a
whole.

(a) Maximum number of shares available for
issue

The total number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme
and any other schemes of the Company shall not exceed
10% of the shares of the Company in issue on the date
of the approval of the Scheme, subject to renewal as
approved by the shareholders of the Company. The total
number of shares available for issue under the Scheme is
109,092,467.
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39. fE e fE st &l

ERABZRABRESS (T2 ——BRE
8 HARBAR _E——FhBZ+—H
RN —Z_SFN\NB-+HABMKIE-#&
IERRHZEREREEAENRARE_Z
—— MBS B F AT fE

ERABRZEZEENBZ+HBHRMIE
EtEstEl (T5t8)) » AEBEMAKE AT
ZHRERATRIERTESTREZHES URMU
AR ERANERYFE2EZt8ZE
1% o Bzt B ERANEE ) EIETHEIRHER
REo

ZstElZ BNE M2 HERHBALTQTM
EABmZHE TRBBRAELETRT R
HRRZEZREMND  SHhiRSEs 28 RER
Rz EE-

(a) FIEEITZRRIPEE LR

RIFZ T 8 KA AT H Ath 5 814% HEIFR
EERERATEMIFTHTHROBERS R
FEBNZFEMEERXTRABEETRG
210% > RS A A B IR R HALEE R o %5t &
TH TRl 1T 2 B9 488073109,092,4678% °
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(b) Maximum entitlement of each participant

(1)

()

The total number of shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted to
each participant (including both exercised and
outstanding options) in any 12-month period shall
not exceed 1% of the Company’s shares in issue
unless otherwise approved by the shareholders of
the Company.

Where any grant of options to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive
director of the Company, or any of their respective
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules), would
result in the shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options already granted and to
be granted (including exercised, cancelled and
outstanding options) to such person in the
12-month period up to and including the date of
such grant:

(i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% (or such
other percentage as may from time to time
be specified by the Stock Exchange) of the
Company’s shares in issue; and

(ii) having an aggregate value, based on the
closing price of the shares of the Company on
the date of grant in excess of HK$5.0 million
(or such other amount as may from time to
time be specified by the Stock Exchange),

such grant of options shall be subject to prior approval
by the shareholders of the Company, such grantee, his
associates and all core connected persons of the Company
shall abstain from voting at such general meeting.

(c) Option period

The period within which the grantee may exercise the
option shall be notified by the Board to the grantee at
the time of making an offer, but such period shall not
expire later than ten years from the date of grant.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-A=+—HILEFE

(b) B2HREZRERERELR

(1) FRIFEEQABIRRS (L E > [TRIFHE
B+ BRI AT R ERE
(BREEBTEREKRITEZERE) M
MESRAEZTRBTETZIRHNE
B A EBBERBRERITRNZ1%-

() HRAXABZEEBRRIBIIIFNTE
EREMARSZIEZIHEAN (ERR L
MARR) R BRI B EERNE
ERHARLEZER+ZER B (8
EREZA) AzxaALTERE AR T
RUEZFIARBRE (BEBITE ZF#HKk
WARITEZERE BTEMERETR
T ETZRRM

(i) BHRMHAEATEZITRHD0.1%A
+ BB ABIEE 2 HA D
k) 5 B

(i) REAL2TKRMOGNVIXE B H
2T ESE LEBABE
5,000,0007T (HHERXFARBFIEEZ
Hth£%E) »

AEFRIBERESECANFERTRE
FRMESJET BZARAHBEAR
FRIERRBZRUDBAEALTUARZRRRE
EHERR-

(o) REARHEHAR
EFFANFHENRBHARAZTUT

(R AR AARD - HE W B IR RE 1 B
fEt 4 o
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(d) Time of exercise of option

At the time of making an offer, the Company must
specify the minimum period(s), if any, for which an
option under the Scheme must be held before it can be
exercised in whole or in part.

(e) Amount payable on acceptance of offer

A payment to the Company of HK$1 as consideration
for the grant shall be paid on the acceptance of offer
by the grantee. The offer of grant of option must be
accepted within 14 days (or such other period of days as
determined by the Board from time to time) after the
date of offer.

(f) Basis of determining exercise price of option

The exercise price of the option shall be no less than the
highest of:

(i) the closing price of the shares of the Company as
stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the
Stock Exchange on the date of grant, which must be
a business day;

(ii) the average closing price of the shares of the
Company as stated in the daily quotation sheets
issued by the Stock Exchange for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant; and

(iii) the nominal value of a share of the Company on the
date of grant.

(g) Remaining life of the Scheme

The Scheme has a life of ten years commencing on the
adoption date and will expire on 24 August 2030 unless
otherwise terminated in accordance with the terms of the
Scheme.

At 31 March 2021, the number of shares in respect
of which options had been granted and remained
outstanding under the 2011 Share Option Scheme
was 49,887,000 (2020: 61,489,000), representing
approximately 4.53% (2020: 5.64%) of the shares of the
Company in issue at that date.
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(d) BREZITERR

AT AR EHENRSAREZ B8R
ZBRERI 2D ITEAFAEZRE
PRHEA (NA) -

(e) EMENZEMIRIA

ARABEMNENRFAMUAEATBBE1TIE
AEREZAE - REBREZZHANRED
HE®14X (HEFSTREETVHEMEARM)
P o

() EEBRETEEZEE

BREZTEEXBEFRENRTI=ZE2ES
&

() BERFARIRH B ABXAREEH)
HEHZBARKRFAAZAATRMUES

&;

(i) BRFANEFREAPMAEZEERE
2z B¥RERF 2 &N A B R T
B, &

(i) =ABRMUEFELBHRZEE

(9) =&EtBIZERTFER

BRIFIR IR L 5T IR RN T U481k » DR Z T8
ZERERABHEMBPES TF > LR
—E-ZFNB+HAER-

N_E_—F=BA=+—H RBE_ZT——
FHEREFSEIEREEHRITEZBRE
ZB{H 88 449,887,000 (CE -4 :
61,489,0000%) > {hZ HEA A QB B 1T %
Z24#9453% (ZE-F4F 1 5.64%) °
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Details of the movements of the share options granted

are as follows:

HE_Z—

=2 /N
A

S 75 R R B

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

ERGBREZEFFRNOT

—F=ZA=+—HLEFE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 BE_T-_—F=HA=+—HULEE
Outstanding Outstanding
Exercise as at Granted  Reclassified Exercised Lapsed as at
Category of price per 1 April during during during during 31 March
participants Date of grant Exercise period share 2020 the year the year the year the year 2021
(Note 3) (Note 1)
it k23 RER RIB-Z—%
mA-A BNAE  REATE =B=+-H
SHEEY EHAMH (i3l SR HATE  REARH (GEE)) (1) RERKS HAITHE
HKS
Valom
Directors 5 September 2017 5 September 2017 to 1.54 5,192,000 - 1,485,000 - - 6,677,000
S “Z—tH£AAEA 4 September 2022
Z2-tFNARAE
—2__FAAMA
18 October 2019 18 October 2019 to 1.16 25,002,000 - 1,898,000  (10,909,000) - 15,991,000
ZE-nETATAR 17 October 2024
Z2-hEtA+/\RE
“E_MmE+A+ER
30,194,000 - 3,383,000 (10,909,000) - 22,668,000
Employees 5 September 2017 5 September 2017 to 1.54 3,205,000 - (1,485,000) - (175,000) 1,545,000
&8 ZZ—tEARAHE 4 September 2022
“2-tENARHEE
—E__FAAMA
18 October 2019 18 October 2019 to 1.16 13,909,000 - (1,898,000) (291,000) (227,0000 11,493,000
ZZ-AF+ATAH 17 October 2024
Z2-hEtA+/\RE
“E_MmE+ATER
17,114,000 - (3,383,000) (291,000) (402,000) 13,038,000
Other participants (Note 2) 14,181,000 - - - - 14,181,000
HihBEE (fi52)
Total 61,489,000 - - (11,200,000) (402,000) 49,887,000
@t
Exercisable at the end of the reporting period 49,887,000
REEARATHE
Weighted average exercise price 121 N/A N/A 1.16 133 122
METFHTRE TER TER
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

BE_Z

——HF=ZRA=+—HLFE

For the year ended 31 March 2020

'—'/\
wraht

455 ¥ A B

BE_T_ZTHF-_RA=+—HLEE

Outstanding Outstanding
as at Granted Exercised Lapsed as at
Category of Exercise price 1 April during during during 31 March
participants Date of grant Exercise period per share 2019 the year the year the year 2020
(Note 1)
RZZE-hE RIEZSE
mA-A RENTE =RA=+-H
SHEER BHAH fTEHAR BRTHEE WRTHE  REREH (1) RERXK HRATHE
HKS
BT
Directors 5 September 2017 5 September 2017 to 1.54 5,192,000 - - - 5,192,000
5 ZZ—tEhBRH 4 September 2022
“2—tENARAEE
“2__FhAMmA
18 October 2019 18 October 2019 to 1.16 - 39,183,000 - - 39,183,000
“E-AE+ATNR 17 October 2024
“2-NETA+N\RE
“E_METHA+ER
5192,000 39,183,000 - - 44,375,000
Employees 26 November 2014 26 November 2014 to 0.96 915,300 - (93,100) (822,200) -
&8 “E-MFE+—BZ+7xH 25 November 2019
b 113 = s A =
EZE-hE
+-A=+%H
5 September 2017 5 September 2017 to 1.54 3,550,500 - - (345,500) 3,205,000
ZE-tENnAEA 4 September 2022
“Z—tFNARAE
—Z__FhAMA
18 October 2019 18 October 2019 to 1.16 - 13,991,000 - (82,000) 13,909,000
“E-n&+RA+/N\R 17 October 2024
—E-NETBT+/N\BE
ZECME+A+TEA
4,465,800 13,991,000 (93,100)  (1,249,700) 17,114,000
Total 9,657,800 53,174,000 (93,100)  (1,249,700) 61,489,000
st
Exercisable at the end of the reporting period 61,489,000
REERRTTE
Weighted average exercise price 1.49 1.16 0.96 1.13 1.21

MEFETER
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Notes:

(1)

(2)

(3)

In respect of the share options exercised during the
year, the weighted average closing price of the shares
immediately before the dates of exercise is HK$1.225
(2020: HK$1.32) per share.

Mr. Lo Kai Cheong, a former executive director of the
Company, passed away on 18 July 2020. Pursuant to the
2011 Share Option Scheme, his personal representative(s)
shall be entitled within a period of 12 months from the
date of death to exercise his remaining 3,272,000 share
options.

Mr. Cha Mou Sing, Payson, the former non-executive
Chairman of the Company, passed away on 6 November
2020 (PST). Pursuant to the 2011 Share Option Scheme,
his personal representative(s) shall be entitled within a
period of 12 months from the date of death to exercise his
remaining 10,909,000 share options.

Mr. Chow Ka Fung was appointed as an executive director
of the Company on 3 March 2021, his entitlements of
1,485,000 share options (granted on 5 September 2017)
and 1,898,000 share options (granted on 18 October 2019)
were reclassified from the category of employees of the
Group to the category of directors of the Company.

In respect of fair value of the share options granted
during the year ended 31 March 2020, the inputs into the
model were as follows:

FisE :

(1

()

3)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-A=+—HILEFE

TR ERBITEZERENS  RBRIETHE
HERI G ZMEFEHEHEASRA
1.22570c (Z - FF : B&1.325T) °

EABRIERTESERELENR ST
FtBA+/\BEtt - RE-S——FHERE
R HEEREBARERES KR Bttt
+ZEBHAEATTEREERT3,272,00015 8
BRHE -

EABREERITERERBERENR=-SZ
TE+—HANH (KRFFEERR) gt o iR
BT ——SBERESE HEEREAR
ERESRz BEEst+ ZEAHBRTEL
£ 10,909,00017 B& AG # o

BEErAEN_E_—F=RBA=0#%#F
BERATHITES > HEERERCZE1,485,000
BHERE(R-_E—tFABEARBY) &
1,898,000 BRI (R—ZE—hE+HB+N\
HigL) "HEAERZEEHNEMDESR
KA ZEEHER

MRBE_SZ_SF=A=+—HLFEH
FERHBERENATEMS  BAEEN
WABIENT :

18 October 2019
—E—-hAE+B+/N\H

Spot price HEE
Exercise price TEE
Expected volatility TEHA R 1
Risk-free rate Y|

Expected dividend yield
Exercise period

1TEHAR

FEHR PG B =

BLJps R PR A PR A W] 2020/202148 5

HK$1.16

AL1.167T

HK$1.16

B%1.167T

31.60%

1.38%

5.58%

18 October 2019 to

17 October 2024
“E-hE+A+N\HE
—EMmE+BA+tH
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HILEE

The fair value of the share options is determined using
the Black-Scholes model. The variables and assumptions
used in computing the fair values of the share options
are based on the directors’ best estimates. Change in
variables and assumptions may result in change in fair
value of the share options. Expected volatility is based on
the historical share price volatility of the Company over
the past 5 years. Expected dividend yield is based on the
historical dividend payment of the Company. The risk-
free interest rate is assumed with reference to HK$ swap
rate zero coupon yield as at the date of grant.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group
recognised equity-settled share-based payments of
approximately HK$11,108,000 (2021: nil) in relation to
share options granted by the Company to the directors
and employees of the Group.

40. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s bank
loans were secured by the Group’s assets as follows:

fo o A S R AR B R

BREZATEDEREAR « FHHTER
EE -stEBREZATEFMERZEER
BRADEREFZREMGSH -BEREBRZ
CHUEEREREZATEEE AR
BARBAARBERAFEUERERES
B-FHHREBWERDREEARFDUERE
IKftEtE - BERRBHED2ENREBZ
AREERNEZRE WD RFEHRR

NRBEE_Z_EF=A=+—HILEEFE &
EEMEARNBFEAEREETRESZBER
RERIUESEERUBRM A ZRIBLNE
#11,108,0007C (B —4F : ) o

40. & E 7

RBREHR AEBZRITERDUTER
ZINTEEFRR

31.3.2021 31.3.2020

—E—F “EISEHF

=A=+-8 | ZA=+-A8

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Investment properties KEYE 3,769,000 1,507,100
Property, plant and equipment ME--BERZE 286,456 971,514
Properties under development for sale BRAZHEEYME - 329,689
4,055,456 2,808,303
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41. PERFORMANCE BONDS

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had outstanding
performance bonds in respect of construction contracts
amounting to HK$195,272,000 (2020: HK$169,323,000).

42. COMMITMENTS

The Group’s share of the commitments made jointly with
other joint ventures relating to the joint ventures, but
not recognised at the end of the reporting period is as
follows:

U5 R R B 5
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HE_Z-—HF=-A=+—HIEFE

41. B 491738
RS- —F=A=+—Qg  AEEREE

BHFAEZRAREABE195,272,0007T
(ZE-FF : #1169,323,0007T) °

42, K
AEEMEREMASCEBAMS B DY

H[E F B 7 3R & B K W R B 58 2 A4 1D
T

31.3.2021 31.3.2020

B —ECFEHF

=B=+—H | =B=+—H

HK$’000 HK$'000

AT T BT T

Commitments to provide loans R EAIE 1,515,106 620,020

43. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
The Group as lessor

At the end of the reporting period, minimum lease
payments receivable on leases are as follows:

3. BEHERH
FEEFESLEA

RESHR AEEREERKZRERE
mE

31.3.2021 31 3 2020

=A=+—8 | =~ _+ H

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT AT

Within one year —&ER 57,432 15,325
In the second to fifth year inclusive F_EELF (BIEERME) 46,900 1,487
104,332 16,812

Leases are negotiable for lease term ranging from one to
three years.

BAFIER AN F—E=F-
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HILEE

44. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

With the implementation of Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme in Hong Kong on 1 December 2000, the
Group has maintained the defined contribution scheme
registered under the Occupational Retirement Schemes
Ordinance and has obtained an exemption satisfying the
requirements of the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (“MPFO").

To comply with the MPFO, a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) with voluntary contributions
has been established. New employees must join the MPF
Scheme since its commencement on 1 December 2000.
The Group contributes 5% to 10% of the relevant payroll
costs for each employee to the MPF Scheme, subject
to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000 for
the MPF Scheme, which contribution is matched by
employees.

The amounts charged to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss represent contributions paid and payable to
the schemes by the Group at rates specified in the rules
of the schemes less forfeitures arising from employees
leaving the Group prior to completion of qualifying
service period. The amount for the year is as follows:

fo o A S R AR B R

44. BRkEFIsHE

BER_STTE+_F—BEAETRE
MAREFE AEEEHFRERERNK
stEMRAIEEM R ILZ REMMETE > LEE
HREETREMABEE R (TREEIF
Bl1) ZR5E o

#HETREZRG sEEERIABMEMY
MARFM AR TE (TREEHE) oK
—EERRFE+ B -HHGREITREEE
% MESLAMABREFTE - AEEME
HEEREM I EMERS%E10%REEE
stE MR MR 5889 E B ERA WA #R
EFRAAE30,0007T  BRE TR ZBRIEFEIF
H AR o

FRaEaRANBRZRBEREREZS
stEIFRRIFFIEE 2 LR M ZF 5 8 B KRIE
T2 BERARERRBEERREE
MR ERZRBEMEE 2R WH
Mo BEEZREBEIMT :

2021 2020

s —ECEF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT AT

Contributions paid and payable B R HR 16,806 17,280
Forfeiture R UK (45) (45)
16,761 17,235

At 31 March 2021 and 2020, there is no forfeited
contribution arose upon employees leaving the
retirement benefits schemes and which were available to
reduce contributions payable.
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45. RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND
TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the balances with related parties as
disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=—A=+—HILEFE

45. Pt N TR R R 5

MR iE I BEAR R R R MIzE21 25 26%27
Frif B8 2 BBk A\ 45 BR 40 » A SE B BLRA B A
TEUTRE RiEes .

position and notes 21, 25, 26 and 27, the Group has the

following transactions and balances with related parties:

2021 2020
—E—F “E-FHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T
Subsidiaries of HKRI (note ¢): EREE B AT (Mizkc) :
— Interior and renovation — R R EIEURA
income (note a) (FtsEa) 654 59
Joint ventures of the Group: KEBZEEDRE
— Construction income (note b) —EBEA (Ffstb) 9,318 -
— Interior and renovation — R E R EIEURA
income (note b) (FtzEb) - 12,660
- Project management income —EHEEEKRA
(note b) (MtEEDb) 2,107 8,313
— Interest income (note b) —FEUA (Ffstb) 16,666 2,323
Subsidiaries of Million Hope ESZRBAE
(note ¢): (FfFzEc):
- Building materials income (note a)  —EEMEUA
(MfzEa) 982 —
— Interior and renovation — SR IEURA
income (note a) (FftzEa) 630 =
- Rental income (note a) —HAEUWA (Fizta) 60 60
- Payments for lease liabilities in —ERAMAEMEN
respect of office premises (note a) HESREMR
(Fzxa) (1,127) (1,522)
— Interest expenses for lease —HEaREZMEXZH
liabilities (19) (33)
— Lease liabilities —HE&aR - 1,083
- Design, supply and installation of — et R ZREE R
aluminium windows and curtain iR E
walls service fee (note a) (Fffz%a) - (581)
An associate of the Group: KEBEZBE AT .
- Rental payments for lease liabilities —fAE&@&ZHE
- Land and building (note b) — i REF (fisEb) (175) (240)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HILEE

Notes:

(@)

(b)

(o]

These related party transactions constitute connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
but are exempted from disclosure and other requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

These related party transactions do not constitute
connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

HKRI and Million Hope are regarded as related companies
in which CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited (“CCM Trust"),
a substantial shareholder of the Company, and certain
discretionary trusts have beneficial interests.

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors and other members of key

fo o A S R AR B R

Bk -

(@) UEFRBALIRZEMLEHRAF14AEE
BZMERZ WEERRETLEHRAE

1AAETH TR B R H MR E

(b) UEFRABALRZAEALEHRAFE14AE
EEZHEXZAFEMERS

(0 BAEHEAEZSWRAXATFERRCCM
Trust (Cayman) Limited (TCCM Trust) &
ETHBEESNRETHEEES D ZABL

o

FTEEEABZEM

FFEEEREMETEEEAB ZFHM

management during the year are as follows: T
2021 2020
—EZ—F _EEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Fees | 4,962 5,077
Salaries and other benefits & R HthE#| 20,681 21,339
Performance related incentive TERIRREE
payments 41,035 48,470
Retirement benefits schemes BRINER TR
contributions 2,760 2,904
Equity-settled share-based payments L4t &R UGN =4 2718 - 9,927
Ex-gratia payment RHEMIE 870 -
70,308 87,717
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46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
OF THE COMPANY AND RESERVES

AR AL

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
HE_Z-—HF=-A=+—HIEFE

46. AT 2 MABIK AR R (H

31.3.2021 31.3.2020
—E—F _EIEF
=ZB=+—-B | ZA=+-H
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Non-current asset JERBEE
Investment in a subsidiary BER—REB AT 326,740 326,740
Current assets MEEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUR M B A B FRIE 496,768 575,010
Bank balances and cash RITEGFR RIS 3,222 736
499,990 575,746
Current liability mENaE
Other payables and HMEARIERESER
accrued charges 4,348 2,414
4,348 2,414
Net current assets MEBEEFE 495,642 573,332
822,382 900,072
Capital and reserves BARRKG#EE
Share capital R& 7 110,212 109,092
Reserves (Note) & (MIsH) 712,170 790,980
822,382 900,072

The statement of financial position of the Company
was approved and authorised for issue by the board of
directors on 16 June 2021 and is signed on its behalf by:

Wong Sue Toa, Stewart

FitiE
DIRECTOR
25

KRB ZHMBRRARELEFTEN _T_—
FARATANBRERRESE MG LA TIHE

BERREE:

Tai Sai Ho
HitS
DIRECTOR
EF

B fbs A PR A BR A F] 2020/20214F #2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4% AR5 3 2 B 51
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_ S _—HF=-HA=1+—HILEE

Note: Movements in reserves of the Company:

MisE : ARRHEEZEE

Share-
based
Share compensation  Accumulated
premium reserve profits Total
MR
AR
R EE [ EAEA KetiaF fst
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT BT BT BETT
At 1 April 2019 RZZ—NENE—H 669,187 2,428 101,486 773,101
Profit and total comprehensive KREE RN REEEAELE
income for the year - - 88,510 88,510
Dividends paid BARE - - (81,819) (81,819)
Issue of shares upon exercise of TERREMEITZ RN
share options 93 (13) - 80
Share option lapsed HERGHER A = (224) 224 -
Recognition of equity-settled R E R EE RURG
share-based payments X ZFE - 11,108 - 11,108
At 31 March 2020 NZZE-ZEHE=A=1+—H 669,280 13,299 108,401 790,980
Loss and total comprehensive rEEBEREES HEE
expense for the year - - (8,863) (8,863)
Dividends paid BAKRE - - (81,819) (81,819)
Issue of shares upon exercise of TERBREMEITZRG
share options 14,242 (2,370) - 11,872
Share options lapsed BERGRER - (92) 92 =
At 31 March 2021 RZEZ—&5=B=+—H 683,522 10,837 17,811 712,170
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47. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through
the optimisation of the debt and equity balances. The
Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior
year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt,
which includes lease liabilities and bank loans disclosed
in notes 33 and 34, respectively, net of cash and cash
equivalents, and equity, comprising issued share capital,
reserves and accumulated profits.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on a regular basis. As part of this review, the directors
of the Company consider the cost of capital and the
risks associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors of the Company, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through
the payment of dividends and new share issues, as well
as the issue of new debts and the redemption of existing
debts.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=—A=+—HILEFE

47. EZ AR ER

FEBFEEEES MRFRAEERNSER
FEHUFECEANEE  AFTERER
EHRAEmNRETFHMAKRRINRAM
WoAEENBRERBEEFEERFIE-

FEBNEARBHPES (BEDIKE
RHEE33K34Z2 HERRKRRITER (0
REKRFEEEE Ex (BSEB#HTRE
#E R R 5tiEH) 48R o

FABREEEMRAERRE - (FR LGS
Z—ED A RBDEEFEEETHNAREASR
FESHNEMRAR REBEXADEFTNES
FEERZEBRNRERFITHR UK #H
THEHZREBEORAEEHEUTHHEBREESR
ZRige
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HILEE

fo o A S R AR B R

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 48. MFE TR
Categories of financial instruments BT RLER
31.3.2021 31.3.2020
—E-—fF | —B-F
=A=+-8 | ZA=+-8
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Financial assets HREE
Financial assets at FVTPL ERBEEBRATENEZ
— held for trading MBEE—F1FEE 438 319
Financial assets at amortised cost RISt E2ENMHEE 1,439,331 1,020,594
Financial liabilities e
At amortised cost FARIE R AT E 3,470,532 1,885,632

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include loans to
joint ventures, trade debtors, other receivables, amounts
due from joint ventures, bank balances and cash,
financial assets at FVTPL, trade and other payables and
bank loans.

Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in the
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures
are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

MR EE B R REER

FEBZTIEMBIAGESEREEGR
FEUWRIE s Ht R IE s B E E R EM
BRITHEERIRS  BREERATENE
ZMBEE  BARIBEREME T REBEUR
IR{TEM

EZEMBITARAZFBEREMMNEHRE-
HZEMBTREAMZRERRA MM FERE
ZERBZBREN T -EREEERE
LR U RKRENA SRR ZE
)ik
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=—A=+—HILEFE

Market risk 37 & g
(i) Currency risk (i) E¥ERE
The functional currency of the group entities is mainly ZANEBISEBEZNEEETEABEE K36
HK$, the currency in which most of the transactions are 13X ZHLIABKEEHE -
denominated.
The carrying amounts of the foreign currency ZAEBZBENBEHRLIMNEAEZENE
denominated monetary assets which are debtors and EZEEABKRERBTEHRKRES  HIRA
bank balances and cash, of the group entities at the end BT :
of the reporting period are as follows:
31.3.2021 31.3.2020
—E-—5F —ETF
=—A=+—H | =Z=BA=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Euro BRIt 26 1,605
MOP TP 46 90
RMB AR 1,295 829
usD ETT 250 38
The management of the Group considers that the ZAEBEEERALIMEKEEZGKRR

currency risk of the above monetary assets is not
significant to the Group except from RMB and Euro.
The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, the management monitors
foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arise.

HAEEMSLFAEAX CREARBKRE T
Z R RERSN) o 7 £ [ 3R B A R S0 IS
KoM EEEERIIMERR  LRNER
EREBEPEARINEEL
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HILEE

The Group is mainly exposed to fluctuation against a
foreign currency of RMB and Euro against HK$. The
following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a
10% (2020: 10%) increase and decrease in respective
functional currency (i.e. HK$) against the relevant foreign
currency (i.e. RMB and Euro). 10% (2020: 10%) is the
sensitivity rate used which represents the management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in a foreign
exchange rate. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary
items and adjusts their translation at the year end for a
10% (2020: 10%) change in a foreign currency rate. A
negative number below indicates a decrease in post-tax
profit where HK$ strengthens 10% (2020: 10%) against
RMB and Euro. For a 10% (2020: 10%) weakening of
HK$ against RMB and Euro, there would be an equal and
opposite impact on the post-tax profit and the amount
below would be positive.

fo o A S R AR B R

FEBMFIERZARERERTTR B Z IME
RENRI RS o TREFHAE BB ERIIEE
(Bp&) AERASMNE (BPA R KR ERT) G0
BEL10% (ZT2EZZF 1 10%) WEHRE-
10% (ZEZFF :10%) FAERZBRE)
DEEEHIMNEERAAEHFEZ SBEHN
it o HMHXED T ESIEE R ENEAUINET
ENERIER  TRFERMIMEERHIR10%
(ZEZEF 1 10%) EHNERBRAE - TX
BERTRREBEENRL  EFBEERAR
M RERTTHEI0% (ZSEZTF : 10%) o4
BERIANRERETEERTH®I10% (ZFZ
TE10%) HEHEFRRBENERERAE
REFE MU TEEEAIEHK

2021 2020

% “EIEH

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

RMB against HK$ ARBRBE (130) (83)
Euro against HK$ Bln B (3) (161)

(ii) Interest rate risk

The cash flow interest rate risk relates primarily to the
Group'’s variable-rate bank loans which are linked to
the HIBOR and bank balances at the prevailing market
deposit rate. The Group is also exposed to fair value
interest rate risk in relation to fixed-rate loan to a joint
venture (see note 21 for details) and lease liabilities. The
Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging
policy. However, the management monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider hedging significant interest
rate exposure should the need arise.
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(i) FIZRER

RERMXRARTERLERZZEBIRITE
R (REFERAFBIRTEERSH9) ki%
RTINS ERMRF S ZRITERER &
EETARARGECRFHZEENERE
7 (FBEF2ENE2N) REEREERHZA
TAE R =R B o 74 5 [ 2R By Al 3 A SR R B
RoAT EEEEERANXRER  ERKHKE
REREZBHPEAFREAR-
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The directors of the Company consider the Group's
exposure of bank balances and leased liabilities to
interest rate risk is not significant as interest bearing
bank balances are within short maturity period and
insignificant balance of leased liabilities at the end of
the reporting period, respectively. The Group's sensitivity
to interest rate risk has been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for variable-rate bank loans at
the end of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared
assuming the amounts outstanding at the end of the
reporting period was outstanding for the whole year.
The Group's sensitivity to interest rate risk at the end of
the reporting period while all other variables were held
constant is as follows:

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=—A=+—HILEFE

ARBREFERR FEEZRITERREER
BEMARNANRARBERELR RE D5
B BIRTHEBRIAZERERRREBESHE
NEEEEERIEAER - AEBHFRE
BRZBREERBRRSHRZFRRTE
M REREE - DT ERRN ISR
AEBTENBEFEFENAREEMHRER
BRRFAEEMEERETE  FEBNKRS
HARHARRERZHRENT :

2021 2020
2% —EBCEF
Reasonably possible change A gEHIRZ 50 basis 50 basis
in interest rate HIEEH) points points
SO1E & 25 SOfE & &L
HK$'000 HK$'000
BB T BT T
Decrease in post-tax profit REERREEF BN
for the year as a result FIZ E AR
of an increase in the interest rate (13,295) (6,957)
Increase in post-tax profit KEERRB RN BR
for the year as a result FZE T EMIE 0
of a decrease in the
interest rate 13,295 6,957

(iii) Equity price risk

The Group’s financial assets at FVTPL include listed equity
securities in Hong Kong. These listed equity securities are
subject to market price risk. The management manages
this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments
with different risk profiles. Details of the financial assets
at FVTPL are set out in note 28. The management of
the Group considers that the market price risks of these
investments are not significant to the Group.

(i) RSB

FERZEBEaBATEAEZMBEES
BEEBLTRARF ZFELHRAESFA
AR Fﬁiﬁﬁ%ﬂ[‘“omﬂlﬁw&j?’ﬂﬂf‘"
KEFHWBREASKEEERERK - FiREE
}E’REFTE#%ZE?I?‘:QE#P*%ZE’JMJ‘EIZSc
FEREEERAAUEREZTHERAR
HAEEMSLAREK

273

BLJps R PR A PR A W] 2020/202148 5



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HILEE

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which
will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising
from the carrying amount of the respective financial
assets at amortised cost, lease receivables and contract
assets recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action
is taken to recover overdue debts. In this regards, the
management of the Group considers that the Group’s
credit risk is significantly reduced. In addition, the Group
performs impairment assessment under ECL model on
trade debtors and contract assets individually or based on
collective assessment.

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

fo o A S R AR B R

EE R KRBETE
FEFEFRAZZEANEERR BIRF 5K
BITHEEMERAEBEEMBER) R

BREREMBR R R PR SRR E#HEK
FHAENMBEE HERKRRBERENE
EZREE

ATEERBEERER *&EEEEEEZE
F-HAEEEEEEERE FEMZK
HthEE R » LU R B SREURETE WD
BHEARR RN S AEBEEERA/ETE
EZEERARERBFE LI FEEEE
MEWRIERGHNEERBRAEEHIRE
BN SR L ETRET b

FEBZASEERBRRNFEEFEUTE
Al

Internal Trade debtors/ Other financial assets/
credit rating Description contract assets other items
AEBEETR HAEA BWHE, GHEE HitfiEE  HithEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default Lifetime ECL 12m ECL
and does not have any past-due amounts - not credit-impaired
1Rk RHEFRARRE B BEFBIHRE FEPHzEREESE +-ERAEHEEEA
—-BEERE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but Lifetime ECL 12m ECL
usually settle in full - not credit-impaired
BgeE EHENEERIPARENERERYEE GENHLENEERE +-ERRENEEHH
—-BEERE
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-A=+—HILEFE

Internal Trade debtors/ Other financial assets/
credit rating Description contract assets other items
AEREE TR A WRIE/ GHNEE HitWiBEE  HitAE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
credit risk since initial recognition through - not credit-impaired - not credit-impaired
information developed internally or external
resources
5 BRNFAEERINIIERGNEERRE FRBHMzEBEERE HFENRzZRBEERR
MiamEDEBE LM -BiEERE -BEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
credit-impaired - credit-impaired - credit-impaired
BB FERETEEEBHRESHE FREEEZRREERE #RPHCEREEER
—-BHREERE -BHREEHRE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor Amount is written off Amount is written off
is in severe financial difficulty and the Group
has no realistic prospect of recovery
W SRETEEARABREMHRE MAak HESEHHE IR E &8

B B BRI CI TR IRAY A A

In addition, the Group has applied different loss rates
to the internal credit rating category according to the
classification and nature of respective financial assets.

Trade debtors and contract assets

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for
ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits the use of the
lifetime ECL for trade debtors and contract assets.

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group
applies internal credit rating for its customers. As at 31
March 2021, the ECL for trade debtors and contract assets
that are credit-impaired or receivable from departments
of The Government of HKSAR with gross carrying
amounts of HK$26,744,000 (2020: HK$18,035,000) and
HK$133,285,000 (2020: HK$121,829,000), respectively
are assessed individually and the carrying amounts
are HK$21,916,000 (2020: HK$18,035,000) and
HK$133,285,000 (2020: HK$121,829,000), respectively.

s *EEEREBEEMBEEZ D ER S
AMHABEETRERNEBARGIER-

FEFEZREBVBREZENBNRZAE
FERAMIEEMAMEEERRER B
REAFMEWRRBERGNEEERFER
Bz RHEEmIE

FAXAEBRCERREEN—D ~ER
AHEPERARABEEFHK R-T=—
F-A=1+—H EREHLEDHNABE
26,744,000 jT (ZZEZF4F : #1£18,035,000
7T) B #15133,285,0007T (ZE_TFE : &
#£121,829,0007t) Z 5 B R EXEINE B
AMTHERFSMZREREGENEENTE
HiEEFRERERT G REES A BE
21,916,000t (ZEZF4F : #1%18,035,000
7T) B 15133,285,000 (ZE T F : B
121,829,0007T) °
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HILEE

The following table provides information about the
exposure to credit risk for trade debtors and contract

fo o A S R AR B R

TRIEH‘-ERAN-_E-_—F=A=+—HE
FEAMZEREERE (BEEE8HE) BB

assets which are assessed based on collective assessment RIBERTHETTIGHZERKNIERENE
as at 31 March 2021 within lifetime ECL (not credit- EZEERRZER-
impaired).
Gross carrying amount FRE#4EE
Average Trade Contract
loss rate debtors assets
THEEER FE W =RIE BNEE
Internal credit rating AEBEE TR HK$'000 HK$'000
AT BT
As at 31 March 2021 RZE—FZA=1—H
Low risk 16 /2 Bz 0.49% 79,259 132,132
Watch list BzeE 0.58% 9,227 -
As at 31 March 2020 A_E_EF=ZRB=+—H
Low risk BRE 0.30% 33,111 148,844
Watch list BRyEs 0.36% 16,128 =

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on
historical observed default rates over the expected life
of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking
information that is reasonable, supportable and available
without undue cost or effort. Management performs
review regularly to ensure relevant information about
specific debtors is updated.
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The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=—A=+—HILEFE

TRINTERBIEEMBRRIBERSNEE

that has been recognised for trade debtors and contract HRNEFEERBZEHEEGENEH B
assets under the simplified approach. Ao
Trade debtors Contract assets
FEE BHNEE
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(credit- (not credit- (not credit-
impaired) impaired) Total impaired)
FEARZ FERRZ FEARZ
BHEERE RHEESSE HHEESE
(BHHREE (EEEE (E®EE
HiE) B st HiE)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT
At 1 April 2019 RZIZ—h&ENB—H 12,249 216 12,465 770
Changes due to financial instruments RZE-NEMB—H
as at 1 April 2019: RYBEIEEENES !
- Impairment loss reversed —BEERESE (4,795) (216) (5,011) (470)
New financial assets originated HELIBENHEEE
or purchased - 109 109 196
Written-off 622 (7,454) - (7,454) -
At 31 March 2020 F F-TEZRA=1-H - 109 109 496
Changes due to financial instruments —Z_ZEMB-H
as at 1 April 2020: Eﬁ“lﬁéiﬁ’]i@] ;
- Impairment loss recognised (reversed) -ER2 (EE&R) REHRE = 5,288 5,288 (373)
- Transfer to credit-impaired -BEEEAE 5,364 (5,364) - -
New financial assets originated WELREENHMEEE
or purchased - 446 446 494
Written-off 62 (536) - (536) -
At 31 March 2021 RZE_—-f#=H=1+-H 4,828 479 5,307 617

The Group writes off a trade debtor when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings,
or when the trade debtors are over three years past due,
whichever occurs earlier.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group has concentration of
credit risk with 14% (2020: 27%) of the total gross
trade debtors from contracts with customers was due
from the Group’s largest customer, departments of
The Government of HKSAR. In view of their credit
standings, good repayment record in the past and
long term relationships with the Group and taking
into consideration of forward-looking information, the
directors of the Company consider that the Group's credit
risk is not material.

EAENETETABAREMBRERE B

i % B PR U B RRIR R A AE By (MBS AR08
ﬁjﬁAWE&V 2 E R RIE E A B
B=F URPEEERE))  FEBEGH
FEULTRIE °

A _E_—HF=ZB=1+—H ' xEEmEEE
RIEERM 14% (CE 5 :27%) K

BERGNZBRINRIAREL RN AER
RARREBFTHRE BT EBPIAIFRIA

ENRENEANRT  BERTFHIERCER
R 827 55 [ B9 R HARR (R 30 5t Re A BEME B KL
i’AE%Ew%ﬂSEIE’JFEHF Rl A B

BLJps R PR A PR A W] 2020/202148 5

277



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HILEE

As at 31 March 2021, included in the impairment loss
recognised on trade debtors were individually assessed
and impaired lease receivables with an aggregate
balance of HK$4,828,000 (2020: nil) which had either
been placed under liquidation or in financial difficulties
or in dispute. The gross carrying amount from this debtor
was HK$12,698,000 and the Group has received rental
deposit from this debtor amounting to HK$4,040,000 as
at 31 March 2021.

The table below details the credit risk exposures of the
Group's other financial assets, which are subject to ECL

fo o A S R AR B R

MRIEBE_—F=RB=+—H EHEEsE
#£4,828,0007t (ZZT T4 | &) WERIET
EhERERAEEKHES T ATREKRRIE
BRBNRERE BEAEETEERMBAM
BR#RMm R_E_—F=HA=+—8"
ZEEANIREAEESB%12,698,0007T
BXx&EEERAZEFANRNEERS A
4,040,0007T ©

TRFVAEBEMPYBFEEZEERR
BRRRARR RIS B EIRTG

assessment:

Gross carrying

Gross carrying

External Internal 12m or amount as at amount as at
credit rating credit rating lifetime ECL 31 March 2021 31 March 2020
+ZEAx RIEI-&E RIEZZE
FEPMz =B=t—H =B=1+—H
SMEBEE TR AEEE TR EHiEERE HEREA(E HEREA(E
HK$'000 HK$'000
AT BETT
Financial assets at amortised cost
BREER S ENMBEE
Loans to joint ventures N/A Low risk 12m ECL 290,511 711,127
BELEER TEA BRI +ZEAEH
EEEE
N/A Watch list 12m ECL 297,882 -
TEH BRRE +-EREH
88
Amounts due from joint ventures N/A Low risk 12m ECL 32,610 17
EWEE %A TEMA R +ZEATRED
FEBE
N/A Loss Lifetime ECL 847 847
TEA B8 FEBEZ
EHEEHE
Other receivables N/A Low risk 12m ECL 30,178 5,313
Hn s RIE TEH ERR +Z @R 8
88
Bank balances A or above N/A 12m ECL 705,796 245,545
RITAEER ASE AEMA +ZEATRED
FEBE
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For the purpose of internal credit risk management, the
Group uses reasonable and supportable forward-looking
information to assess whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=—A=+—HILEFE

BETRBESAREE AEEERAE
RAEE AR ARR TR
TR A BRI

Not past due/
no fixed
repayment
Past due terms Total
K&,
peap:t HARR et
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
AT AT AT
As at 31 March 2021 A _E_—F=ZB=+—H
Loans to joint ventures BELEER = 588,393 588,393
Amounts due from G E R ERIE
joint ventures - 33,457 33,457
Other receivables HEWTRIE - 30,178 30,178
As at 31 March 2020 N _EEF-RA=+—H
Loans to joint ventures BEREER = 711,127 711,127
Amounts due from Rl EEtERIE
joint ventures - 864 864
Other receivables HhpEWEIE = 5,313 5,313

Loans to joint ventures and amounts due from joint
ventures

For the purpose of internal credit risk management,
the Group regularly monitors the business performance
of joint ventures. Before granting the loans to joint
ventures, the management of the Group has obtained
understanding to the financial background and business
performance of the joint ventures. The Group’s credit
risks in these balances are mitigated through monitoring
the value of the assets held by the joint ventures. As
at 31 March 2021, the gross carrying amounts of loans
to joint ventures and amounts due from joint ventures
are HK$588,393,000 (2020: HK$711,127,000) and
HK$33,457,000 (2020: HK$864,000), respectively.

BELEEAREBKESELENR

AETRIEERREE rEBTHER
FELEMNEBERR - BFEELEER
A A EEEEBE THRAELENTES
EREBRA - AEANZEEHRNEE
B EAERSE M EENEER
BRoR_E-_—F=-HA=+—H 68t%
ERREREECERBENREEED R
#4818 588,393,000c (ZE-FHF : A
711,127,0007T) K A #33,457,0007t (Z T =
T B¥864,0007T) ©
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HILEE

The following table shows the movement in 12m ECL
(not credit-impaired) that has been recognised for loans
to joint ventures which are assessed individually.

fo o A S R AR B R

TEMTACHEEEZLER (EEBITE)
209+ =18 5 TEHAE E AR (RIS B
By BB R -

Loans to
joint ventures
BEEEER
HK$'000
BT T
At 1 April 2019 R ZE—NFMB—H -
New financial assets originated or purchased MELSBENUBEE 9,168
At 31 March 2020 A _E_EHF=A=+—H 9,168
Changes due to financial instruments S _E_EFWMA—H
as at 1 April 2020: AMBTEEENES :
— Impairment loss recognised —BRERRERSE 18,994
At 31 March 2021 A _E_—F=H=+—H 28,162
Other receivables B =mE

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the
management of the Group has obtained understanding
to the credit background of the debtors and undertaken
the internal credit approval process. The Group applies
internal credit rating for its debtors. No allowance for
impairment was made since the management of the
Group considers that the probability of default is minimal
after considering the counterparties’ repayment history.

Bank balances

For the purpose of internal credit risk management,
the Group mainly transacts with banks with high
credit ratings and regularly monitors the international
credit rating of the counterparties. No allowance
for impairment was made since the management of
the Group consider that the probability of default is
negligible as such amounts are receivable from or placed
in banks with good reputation.
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ERTEREERAREEN -0 ~&EH
EEEETHREBANGESRILET TR
BEEEHEF FEEHEBABAR
EEFR - BAREERERZHZEETERE
FEBERERAENNATREME M il
EmIHRAERE

RITHEER

RETABEERREE AEMTEHRRF
EGRBRENRTRG TERERRSH
NEREEFR ARBEAREABKRES
REZRITZMEREFRNZFRITZMN
B AEBEERERAENN A EME R BB
Aat o A EEHR R E R -
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Loan commitments

No allowance for impairment was made since the
management of the Group considers that the exposure
at default was minimal as the management of the Group
has obtained understanding of the financial background
and business performance of the joint ventures. In the
opinion of the directors of the Company, the Group’s
credit risks in loan commitments to joint ventures are
mitigated through the value of the assets held by the
joint ventures.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to
finance the Group's operations and mitigate the effects
of fluctuations in cash flows. The management monitors
the utilisation of bank loans and ensures compliance with
loan covenants.

The Group relies on bank loans as a significant source
of liquidity. As at 31 March 2021, the Group has
available unutilised banking facilities of approximately
HK$817,373,000 (2020: HK$1,119,677,000), in which
included unutilised borrowing facilities of approximately
HK$331,941,000 as at 31 March 2021 (2020:
HK$608,296,000). Details of bank loans are set out in
note 34.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities based on
the agreed repayment terms. For non-derivative financial
liabilities, the table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to
pay. Specifically, bank loans with a repayment on demand
clause are included in the earliest time band regardless
of the probability of the banks choosing to exercise
their rights. The maturity dates for other non-derivative
financial liabilities are based on the agreed repayment
dates. The table includes both interest and principal cash
flows.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-A=+—HILEFE

HRFTEREEEIAHETHSELEN
MBEESRREHRER HRENRREN &
WESHERER B SRR EERR F&EH
mEECRERHNERAENEERRBR
BELEMBEENEERE-

MRENE £ &R

TEERDHESRER  AEEBEZERER
EEERSBRENREKRFESEKT
UATEBZ EEREE S RBERER
AN E EEERERITERZE
FBIB 70 A B (R I 5T B R RGRE ©

FEBKBIRITEFEATENRBES K
BoR—_EBE_—F=H=+—H > F~EBEJE
BZRENARITRIE A %48 1817,373,0007T
(ZEBE-ZF : #%1,119,677,0007T) > HMA
BER_S_—F=A=+—HMEXHHEE
BREBE4HE1331,941,000T (CE_EF . B
#608,296,0007T) ° IRITERM Z E 1B &M MIsE
340

TRHALFEBEN B EERERNMFE
BZENREREA -MIFTEHMBEEM
S RDIREBEAERTEFTEZIANRE
Bz BHEaRRTRBEERAER K=
FRERBEGRZRITERFARERHE
B RRIRTTR S AIAEERITREEERN - Hith
FITEMBERZ B RE R EE B H
BEE ZREFEANERFEHER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HILEE

fo o A S R AR B R

Liquidity tables mMENE &R
As_at;lMarcEZOZ_‘l Weighted ~ On demand
R--—%=A=+-A average or Total
effective less than 1-2 2-5 Over undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year years years 5 years cash flow amount
MEEs BRERH ESiie
BRA= FR—§ 128 255 RENE  BEREE RmfE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BAt BT BT BlETn BETR BT BT
Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ JFfT4HHEE
Trade and other payables AR RETIE - 183,196 102,836 - - 286,032 286,032
Bank loans - variable rate* RTER-FHEE 152 3,184,500 - - - 3,184,500 3,184,500
Lease liabilities HEak 5.42 3,634 806 720 5,680 10,840 7,163
3,371,330 103,642 720 5,680 3,481,372 3,477,695
As at 31 March 2020 Weighted ~ On demand
RZE_Z£=R=+-H average or Total
effective less than 1-2 25 Over undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year years years 5 years cash flow amount
T BRERH KR
BRA= TR—% 1-26 25F RENE  BEReE REE

% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B BT BT BT BT BT BT

Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ JEfT4HTBERE
Trade and other payables B A RETIE - 129,511 89,771 - - 219,282 219,282
Bank loans - variable rate* RN FHEx- 3.02 1,666,350 - - - 1,666,350 1,666,350
Lease liabilities HEaf 5.19 6,620 2,325 758 5,920 15,623 11,137
1,802,481 92,096 758 5,920 1,901,255 1,896,769

& The interest rates applied to projected undiscounted cash
flows of variable rate bank loans are the interest rates at
the end of the reporting period.

The amounts above for variable interest rate instruments
for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to
change if changes in variable interest rate differ to those
estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the
reporting period.

* FHEXRRTERZBAHARFTRRERAAR
BOFRLRERRZFIE

LFHFAAFGTEMBERIBSIAZEER
RRFBMRZEHENREHREEZ G
SHRRAREFHES-
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Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause are
included in the “on demand or less than 1 year” time
band in the above maturity analysis. As at 31 March
2021, the aggregate undiscounted principal amounts
of these bank loans amounted to HK$3,184,500,000
(2020: HK$1,666,350,000). Taking into account the
Group's financial position, the directors of the Company
do not believe that it is probable that the banks will
exercise their discretionary rights to demand immediate
repayment. The directors of the Company believe that
such bank loans as at 31 March 2021 will be repaid
within one (2020: two) years after the reporting date in
accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out
in the loan agreements, details of which are set out in
the table below:

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=—A=+—HILEFE

EU LB HP @3 BRERERKER
ZIRITERDBIIATRERKFE—FI B MHE
B -M_B_—F=A=+—8 ZFRT
BRZRITIAAEHEEEA A3, 184,500,000
T (CE T4 [ B¥1,666,350,0007T) ° &5t
REEEZHMBERI ZATDNESFALURRS
BERRITETEENBEEREER K
REESFHEE REBMERGEMSEZTE
RENRAH ZEN _E_—F=B=+—
HNRITEMERREHHE—F (ZZZ
ZF I WMF) REER BB TR

Less than Cash Carrying

1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years outflows amount

rE—F 12 5% HERLE fRmEfE

HK$"000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT

31 March 2021 “E--f=H=1+—H 3,232,904 = = 3,232,904 3,184,500

31 March 2020 “ETEFE=-R=+—H 1,553,827 167,825 - 1,721,652 1,666,350
Fair value REE

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
are determined as follows:

o the fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities with standard terms and conditions and
traded in active markets are determined with
reference to quoted market bid prices;

e the fair value of other financial assets and
financial liabilities are determined in accordance
with generally accepted pricing models based on
discounted cash flow analysis.

MBEERMBRBEZATEDETIAR
BE:

s AREMRKEGRERKERENSZE
BENMBEERUHZRRZATESR
MIBFFHREAEERE ;

s HitMBEERUBFTERZATFERE
ERITRREAD TN AR EBEBRLE
Fo
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HILEE

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values.

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. The following
table gives information about how the fair values of
these financial assets are determined (in particular, the
valuation technique(s) and inputs used), as well as the
level of the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value
measurements are categorised (Levels 1 to 3) based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements is observable.

° Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived
from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market for
identical assets or liabilities;

° Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived
from inputs other than quoted prices included
within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly
(i.e. derived from prices); and

° Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived
from valuation techniques that include inputs
for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Ao o B 5 R B

ERBEFRR NEEMBRRIZE N
FIRZMBEERMBERZIREEREH
DFEEE

RIEEUBREURATEAEBEZAEBTT
BEENQTE

FEEMDPHUBEENSREPREAFE
StE-TRUMRARNEEXEMBEERT
Bz27H% (LHZMAZ G E R R EHE AR
B) URBEATEFEBARBEZAIHRRE
ERATEFESREZATFESRER (B
—E=R) Z2EH e

s F—RATESENBHREEHER
ERTHERARER (REHE) 7
5

s FIBRATESEDBRE—HKIAZ
wES REEEHE BT ERE BMZE
%) B (BERTE) BRZBARK
BEH &

s FZRATEFENDNBESLIFHKER
BRLTSBENEEXRRZHARE
FABERAARE) NEERMTSES-

Fair value as at Fair value Valuation technique(s)
Financial assets 31 March 2021 hierarchy and key input(s)
WZEZ—%
MBEE =A=+—HZA¥E A2AFEEZEHR RERMTREEZHABE
Financial assets at FVTPL — Listed HK$438,000 Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an
equity securities in Hong Kong (2020: HK$319,000) active market.
FRBREATERSEZ 7 1%438,0007T F—4R BRI ZEA
MBEE-—BBLTRAEES (CEZEEF: Bo
71#£319,0007T)

There was no transfer among Level 1, 2 and 3
during the current and prior years.
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49. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES

ARISING FROM FINANCING

ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & BA %5 3 2 bt 5

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=—A=+—HILEFE

49. MEEHBEEZARHIK

cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing

TRFINAEEMEXBEENRRESB
o BEERERFREEE -MEXBEEN
BEARNAERGSRERERFTOES
MEEFHRERNRERBRREE R

activities.
Lease Dividend
liabilities payable Bank loans Total
HEaR BARE RITEM st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BT BT
(Note 34)
(Ff5E34)
At 1 April 2019 RZZE—-HAEMA—H 9,928 - 351,000 360,928
Financing cash flows MERER (6,042) (81,819) 1,315,350 1,227,489
Dividend declared BERRE - 81,819 - 81,819
Non-cash changes: FESEH .
Addition of lease HESREEM
liabilities 7,251 - - 7,251
At 31 March 2020 RZEZZE=HA=+—H 11,137 - 1,666,350 1,677,487
Financing cash flows MERER (6,338) (81,819) 614,950 526,793
Dividend declared ERRE - 81,819 - 81,819
Non-cash changes: FHREEE !
Addition of lease HEAREM
liabilities 2,364 - - 2,364
Acquisition of subsidiaries BB B A B
(note 38) (Ff5£38) - - 999,200 999,200
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBRAE
(note 38) (Ff5£38) - - (96,000) (96,000)
At 31 March 2021 RZEZ—f5=R=1+—H 7,163 - 3,184,500 3,191,663

B fbs A PR A BR A F] 2020/20214F #2

285



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HILEE

50. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31

March 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

Place of incorporation/

42 /N

W =

FA 5 R B

50. X EfEAEF#1HE

FRAAR_B-_—FER_F-FEFE=R

Zt+—HZEEWBATFRBWMT :

31 March 2021 31 March 2020
ZE--F-R=1-H “E"ZE-B-1+-H
Effective Effective

Issued and fully  equity interest

paid ordinary attributable to

Issued and fully  equity interest

paid ordinary attributable to

Name of subsidiary registration/operation share capital the Group share capital the Group  Principal activities
BEARAR  AEEE( BTk REEEMR

WBARAH L/ s E e LEks AURSEE  AREERE  AuBalm  IEER

Befit Limited Hong Kong HKS2 100% HK$2 100%  Property investment
& B Al NERE

Care & Health Limited Hong Kong HKS2 100% HK$2 100%  Trading of health products

EMRERAR &4 bt Ao EEERES

Clear Profit Holdings Limited” British Virgin Islands/ Us$1 100% - Property investment

Hong Kong 1%7 NERE

EERYHE/ BE

Emwell Limited Hong Kong HKS2 100% HK$2 100%  Property investment

BRERRF A Al ES T

Exceed Advance Limited British Virgin Islands/ Us$1 100% Us$1 100%  Investment holding

HEBRAT Hong Kong A %70 REER
AERUME/EE

Excel Chinese Hong Kong HK$1 100% HK$1 100%  Property investment

g BB BT NERE

Excellent Delight Limited British Virgin Islands/ Uss$1 100% Uss1 100%  Investment holding

REERAF Hong Kong %7 %7 RERR
EERUME/EE

Excellent Sincere Limited British Virgin Islands/ US$1 100% Uss1 100%  Investment holding

SHERAR Hong Kong (S 1%70 REER
EERYHE/ BE

Fairview Harbour Limited British Virgin Islands/ Uss2 100% us$2 100%  Investment holding

Hong Kong BT VE Ty REER

EBRYHE/BE

286

HANISON CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021



Place of incorporation/

31 March 2021
ZE--F-B=1-AH

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for o A B AR B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

HE_Z—

31 March 2020
—E°"Z%-H=-1-H

Effective
Issued and fully  equity interest
paid ordinary attributable to

Effective
Issued and fully  equity interest
paid ordinary attributable to

—F=ZA=+—HLEFE

Name of subsidiary registration/operation share capital the Group share capital the Group  Principal activities
BETRAR  FEEREE BETR  AEEER
MEAE AT M/ S5 LRkt BARTRE  HREERE BMRAEE  IERH
Faithful Sun Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% HK$1 100%  Property holding
BAERAF & BRI AR NERA
Fortune Shiner Development Limited*  Hong Kong - - HK$1 100%  Property development
EEERARAT" & BRI NEER
General Target Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% HK$10,000 100%  Property investment
#INERAF & #%10,0007 #110,0007 NERE
Golden Years Limited Hong Kong HKS$1 100% HK$1 100%  Licence holding
& oAb BRI HRRE
Great Popular Limited British Virgin Islands/ Us$1 100% Uss1 100%  Investment holding
BRERAT Hong Kong 157 127 RERR
ERRAHE/ BE
Great Virtue Ventures Limited British Virgin Islands/ Uss1 100% Us$1 100%  Property investment
EBARERAT Hong Kong 157 127 E3E
EERURE/BE
Hanison Construction Company Limited  Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100%  Ordinary shares 100%  Property construction
ABREERAR &3 HK$1,000 HK$1,000 nEgs
Deferred shares Deferred shares
HK$60,000,000 HK$60,000,000
(Note a) (Note a)
EER ik
151,000 A151,0007
413 03144
#1%60,000,0007T 760,000,0007T
(fta) (Hfzka)
Hanison Construction Holdings (BVI) British Virgin Islands/ Uss2 100% Us$2 100%  Investment holding
Limited (Note b) (Ffz£b) Hong Kong PES PESH REER
AERUME/BE
Hanison Contractors Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 100%  HK$10,000,000 100%  Property construction
HBEEERAA 7 #110,000,0007C 710,000,007 NERE
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31 March 2021 31 March 2020
“¥--%=F=1+-H ZECTF=R=1-A
Effective Effective
Issued and fully equity interest  Issued and fully  equity interest
Place of incorporation/ paid ordinary  attributable to paid ordinary  attributable to
Name of subsidiary registration/operation share capital the Group share capital the Group  Principal activities
BETRAR  FEEREE BETR  AEMEER
WEAE AT M/ S5 LRkt BARTERE  HREERE AMBRAEE IERE
Hanison Estate Services Limited Hong Kong HKS2 100% HK$2 100%  Provision of property
ABENERBEERAR &4 B BT management services
REMEER R
Hanison Foundation Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% HK$1 100%  Property construction
BBHEIRERAR & BRI BT UES 2
Hanison Interior & Renovation Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$14,800,000 100%  HK$14,800,000 100%  Provision of interior and
BRENREBERAR ¥ #114,800,0007T 7114,800,0007T renovation services
Rt RAERE
Hanison Project Management Limited Hong Kong HK$2 100% HK$2 100%  Provision of property leasing
ABERERERAR &4 AT BT and marketing services
and project management
REMERERTHRERS
NREEER
Hantex Engineering Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% HK$1 100%  Plant maintenance and
RETRERAT &4 BRI BT servicing
BREBRER
Health Products Trading Limited (formerly Hong Kong HKS2 100% HK$2 100%  Investment holding
known as Healthcorp Trading Limited) &7 B Al REER
(FIERREEBRAR)
Heatex Ceramic Limited Hong Kong HK$400,000 100% HK$400,000 100%  Property development
wEHRAA &R #15400,0007T #115400,0007C NEER
Oriental Effort Limited British Virgin Islands/ Uss1 100% Us$1 100%  Investment holding
RHERAT Hong Kong 157 127 REER
EERURE/BE
Precise Leader Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% HK$1 100%  Property holding
EfEERAT & B8R BRI UESSE]
Protic Limited* Hong Kong - - HK$1 100%  Property holding
ERBRAR & LAV NERB
Rainbow Jade Enterprises Limited” British Virgin Islands/ uss1 100% - - Property investment
FELEBERARN Hong Kong %7 NERE
EERUME/EE
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

Place of incorporation/

31 March 2021
ZE--F-B=1-AH

HE_Z—

31 March 2020
—E°"Z%-H=-1-H

Effective
Issued and fully  equity interest
paid ordinary attributable to

Effective
Issued and fully  equity interest
paid ordinary attributable to

for o A B AR B R

—F=ZA=+—HLEFE

Name of subsidiary registration/operation share capital the Group share capital the Group  Principal activities
BETRAR  FEEREE BETR  AEEER

MEAE AT M/ S5 LRkt BARTRE  HREERE BMRAEE  IERH

Ready Glory Holdings Limited” British Virgin Islands/ Us$1 100% - - Property investment

RRERERAFN Hong Kong 1E7 NERE
ERRAHE/ BE

Regal Prosper Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% HK$1 100%  Property investment

REERAT & AT BT NERE

Retailcorp Limited Hong Kong HK$2 100% HK$2 100%  Sales of health product

BELRERAR &% BT Al HERRER

Sanney Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% HK$1 100%  Property investment

ELERAT AT BT NERE

Storage Holding | Ltd. Cayman Islands/Hong Kong US$19,934 100% US$19,934 100%  Property investment
RENE/EE 19,9347 19.934% 7 NERE

Storage Portfolio Holding Il Ltd. Cayman Islands/Hong Kong US§243,375 100% US$243,375 100%  Investment holding
RENE/ /&8 UITSET U3ITSET ALk

Sunny Way Properties Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% HK$1 100%  Property investment

HREXERAR &% AR AT NERE

Superior Future Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% HK$1 100%  Property holding

REERAT & AT BRI NERB

Tai Kee Pipes Limited Hong Kong HKS$2,000,000 100% HK$2,000,000 100%  Property investment

R ARAT &% 712,000,0007C 712,000,000 NERE

Trigon Building Materials Limited Hong Kong HKS2 100% HK$2 100%  Supply and installation of

ERERMERAR Bl Vet Ib building materials

R LR EME

Trillion Mart Development Limited” Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% = - Property investment
&3 #1510,0007C nERE

Vast Media International Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% HK$1 100%  Investment holding

EEERERAT 7 AT BT RERR

Vision Smart Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100% HK$100 100%  Property investment
&3 EB1007T AH1007 nERE

Westpac Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% HK$1 100%  Property investment

REBRAH & AT BT NERE
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
BE_Z-_—F=-HA=+—HILEE

ks Subsidiaries which were disposed of during the year ended
31 March 2021.

Subsidiaries which were incorporated/acquired during the
year ended 31 March 2021.

Notes:

(@) The deferred shares are shares whose shareholders are
neither entitled to receive notices, attend, vote at any
general meetings nor to receive any dividend out of
operating profit and have very limited rights on return of
capital of the subsidiary.

(b) Other than Hanison Construction Holdings (BVI) Limited,
which is directly held by the Company, all other companies
are indirectly held by the Company.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities
during the year or outstanding at the end of the year.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
principally affected the results or assets and liabilities of
the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would,
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, result in
particulars of excessive length.

51. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

On 31 May 2021, the Group has entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with an independent third party to
dispose of 50% of the issued share capital in Esteemed
Virtue Limited, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company, and the shareholder’s loan at the
aggregate consideration of HK$130,000,000, subject to
adjustments. Esteemed Virtue Limited indirectly holds the
legal and beneficial ownership of an industrial property
named “West Castle” located in Hong Kong.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A 5 1l 22

For continuing and discontinued operations
FEQERBRIEREER

Year ended 31 March
HEZBA=1—HLEE

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
“BC-f | ZBC%F E-nE ZF-N\F TtF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BETT BETT BETT BT
RESULTS ES
Revenue A 1,451,560 958,245 2,315,007 2,849,504 3,216,077
Profit before taxation PRI AR 273,190 231,752 645,734 648,301 554,491
Taxation HIE 1,796 (10,376) (67,712) (32,003) (37,552)
Profit for the year FERF 274,986 221,376 578,022 616,298 516,939
As at 31 March
R=ZB=+—H
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
Z2I-F | Z2I2F ZE-NE IZE-)N\E IZZ—t&
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT BT BT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERER
Total assets BEME 8,130,161 6,519,444 5,269,714 5,340,587 4,997,263
Total liabilities BfRBE (3,993,056) | (2,595,798)  (1,490,270)  (1,614,841)  (1,930,648)
4,137,105 3,923,646 3,779,444 3,725,746 3,066,615
Equity attributable to: THIATREG#E
Owners of the Company FREHEBA 4,137,105 | 3,923,646 3,779,444 3725746 3,066,615
Notes: M EE
(@) On 1 April 2018, the Group has applied HKFRS 9 and @ RZ-F-N\FOA—H ZEEEEHREE
HKFRS 15. Accordingly, certain information for the years MBS EANENRREBMBH RS EN S
ended 31 March 2017 and 2018 which was prepared under THEE A BE_S—tFR_FT—)\
HKAS 39 and HKAS 18 may not be comparable to the F=RAZ+-_HIEERBREEGHENS
years ended 31 March 2019, 2020 and 2021. STNBERERGHENE+/\RER
FEHIFTRABE_T-—NE —T—=F
ER-E_—F=-A=+—HILFENER
tbgo
(b) On 1 April 2019, the Group has applied HKFRS 16. b) BR-Z_-_NEWA—-H Zx&BEEBSE
Accordingly, certain information for the years ended 31 AUMBREZENE B AL - BEZ
March 2017, 2018 and 2019 which was prepared under E-tE - ZT-N\ER_ZFE-HNE=H
HKAS 17 may not be comparable to the years ended 31 =+ -HULEEEREEBSHLEUB LR
March 2020 and 2021. GENETENRATEBE_T_T4F
ﬁ&;: T —F=—A=1+—HLEFEENENL
5& o

BB Al A R AT 2020202148 29



SUMMARY OF MAJOR PROPERTIES

B 3Y/E ST

A. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES HELD FOR

RENTAL INCOME PURPOSES

A. FAERENEESHESEBRAR

%

Attributable

interest of
Area (sq.ft.) Nature of the Group  Category of

Descriptions miE property rEEH lease
1BER (FAHR) MEME FE1E 1z AR
1. Workshop 7, 1/F, Block A, 19,729 Industrial 100% Medium-term

Workshops 1-15 & (excluding lease

majority portion of area of flat

Workshop 23 (including flat roofs and car

roofs of Workshops 5 & 6), parking

4/F, Block A, spaces)

Car Parking Spaces (Saleable

V31, V36, V49, V50, V55 & L53 area)

Shatin Industrial Centre,

Nos. 5-7 Yuen Shun Circuit,

Shatin, New Territories

WAV H 19,729 T% 100% HRHR

RIBESSEE75R (rEEEE

JPHEIZEHD REfZ

AREVIE T ER7 H78)

AREARE TERI1ZE 15K ERE®R)

TER23Z EEZ %

(BIETIERSKR6ZFESR)

BE{IV31-V36:V49~

V50~ V552153
2. Leasehold interest in the 2,701 Commercial 100% Medium-term

Head-Lease for the residual (Saleable lease

term of 30 years commencing area)

from 1 December 1989 with

an option to renew for a further

term of 30 years of whole of

No. 31 Wing Wo Street,

Sheung Wan, Hong Kong

EHBLIR 2,701 ES 100% HRHR

KAME31RENEZ ERER)

MEEZNZHEED
HEFHBE-NN\IE
+T-B—HR%R AH=1TF
(EHBETHI=TFHIEZ
REF))
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SUMMARY OF MAJOR PROPERTIES B¢ i &

Attributable

BLJps R PR A PR A W] 2020/202148 5

interest of
Area (sq.ft.) Nature of the Group Category of
Descriptions [ 5= property TEH lease
(FHR) MEME FE 1 1 2 AR
Workshop Unit 4,239 Industrial 100% Medium-term
Nos. 4 to 6 (inclusive) on 2/F and (excluding lease
Lorry Carpark Nos. L7 & L8 area of car
on G/F, parking
Kin Wing Industrial Building, spaces)
No. 33 Kin Wing Street, (Saleable
Tuen Mun, New Territories area)
HARE 4,239 == 100% FRHA
B335 (FEIEE
BRI EKRBE24E245Z65RTERA ik )
(& BIEER) ERAEB
B 3t T L75% K L8SR B i1
West Castle 21,189 Industrial 100% Medium-term
No. 22 Yip Shing Street, (Gross floor lease
Kwai Chung, New Territories area)
mAERE 21,189 == 100% FRHA
FE R E225% (BRE@R)
West Castle
Podium and Signage 4,029 Commercial 100% Medium-term
of West Park (excluding lease
Nos. 256-258 Tung Chau Street, area of
Kowloon signage)
(saleable
area)
FLBe 4,029 (SES 100% FRHA
BN 25657 E 2585 (REtE
West ParkE [FEF & K E & hE = Ak )
ERAEB
The Edward 24,271 Commercial 100% Long lease
Nos. 99-101 Lai Chi Kok Road, (Gross floor
Mong Kok, Kowloon area)
FLBEREA 24,271 (SES 100% KA
IR AEIEE1015% (BEmEE)
The Edward
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SUMMARY OF MAJOR PROPERTIES = BV ¢ &

Attributable

interest of
Area (sq.ft.) Nature of the Group Category of
Descriptions E& property EE lease
1R (FHR) MEME FE (L 1 2 AR
7. Shops 1, 2, 3 on G/F, and 11,366 Commercial 100% Long lease
shop 5 on G/F and 1/F, (Marketing
The Austine Place, gross floor
No. 38 Kwun Chung Street, area)
Kowloon
FLBe 11,366 (SES 100% R
BIRH38R (AT ERLHE
The Austine Place Ei&)
#1157~ 258 ~ 35K K
R E 11855 i
8. Hollywood Hill 27,414 Residential 100% Long lease
No. 222 Hollywood Road, (Gross floor
Sheung Wan, Hong Kong area)
A LR 27,414 F=E 100% R
A Z=EE2225% (BE@ER)
Hollywood Hill
9. PeakCastle 145,394 Commercial 100% Medium-term
No. 476 Castle Peak Road, (Gross floor lease
Kowloon area)
FLBe 145,394 (SES 100% FRHA
A LL3EA765% (BEmEmE)
PeakCastle
10. Hay Nien Building 62,889 Industrial 100% Medium-term
No.1 Tai Yip Street, (Gross floor lease
Kwun Tong, Kowloon area)
FLEEE B 62,889 == 100% FRHA
REFHIR (BE@ER)
BEKRE
11. Minibox Tower 68,297 Industrial 100% Long lease
No. 18 Lee Chung Street, (Gross floor
Chai Wan, Hong Kong area)
BAERE 68,297 == 100% R
F) R #1855 (BE@ER)
EFBEKE
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SUMMARY OF MAJOR PROPERTIES B¢ i &

Attributable

interest of
Area (sq.ft.) Nature of the Group Category of

Descriptions [ 5= property TEH lease
L (FHR) MEME FE 1 1 2 AR
12. Portion 1 of Unit A and 7,743 Industrial 100% Long lease

Portion 2 of Unit A including (excluding

the Flat Roof appurtenant area of flat

thereto on 4/F and roof and car

Car Parking Space No. 12 on G/F, parking

Chaiwan Industrial Centre, space)

No. 20 Lee Chung Street, (Saleable

Hong Kong area)

&5 7,743 T 100% KA

FRE205REER LT EKRE (FEETE

AEABE I 182017 K KREfiz

AB{I 2817 (BIEMEBTE) & L))

#1258 BB (L ERAEB
13. Unit N3 on 1/F and Staircases 21,146 Industrial 100% Medium-term

Nos. R4, R5 and R6 on G/F of (excluding lease

Block 3, Nos. 448-458 Kwun Tong area of flat

Road, Unit Q4 on 1/F of Block 4 roof and

including the Flat car parking

Roof appurtenant thereto, spaces)

Nos. 436- 446 Kwun Tong Road (Saleable

and Car Parking Space area)

Nos. 55 & 56 on G/F,

Nos. 436-484 Kwun Tong Road,

Kwun Tong Industrial Centre,

Kowloon

FLBe 21,146 T 100% FRHA

ERIERORIEEMMSRE (FEETE

4585%3E 11EN3 B i Ko it 14 REMZ

R4~ R5J%R6 ~ ERIEEA365% 44655 E%)

AFE1IEQAE (i (BIEM BT &) & EREB

B BB 43657 E 48450 5557 K

5655% B {11
14. The Mercer 37,933 Commercial 100% Long lease

No. 29 Jervois Street, (Gross floor

Hong Kong area)

B 37,933 (SES 100% KA

ERALAT295% (BRE@R)

The Mercer
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SUMMARY OF MAJOR PROPERTIES = BV ¢ &

B. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

FOR SALE IN HONG KONG

B. RERZURPZFHEME

Expected Attributable
Site area  Gross floor completion interest of
(sq. ft.) area (sq. ft.) Stage of date Nature of  the Group Category
Descriptions HRER BEHEBE  completion it property pie-c] of lease
BR (FAR) (FrR)  xmBE RIBH  MEME EG#Ez BOER
1. No. 57A Nga Tsin Wai Road, 8,092 Notyet  Planningin  No definite  Residential 50% Medium-
Kowloon Tong, Kowloon determined progress plan term lease
hEENBER 8,092 HWARE H:A3ETD EREHS = 50% ol
AIEESTAS
2. Johnson Place, Nos. 14-16 Lee 10,516 Notyet  Planningin  No definite Industrial 50%  Long lease
Chung Street, Chai Wan, determined progress plan
Hong Kong
RS 10,516 HWARE H:A3ETD EREHS I% 50% &
MRE AR E 1R BERE
3. Various lots in Demarcation 67,315 Notyet  Planningin  No definite  Residential 50% Medium-
District No. 121, determined progress plan term
Tong Yan San Tsuen,
Yuen Long, New Territories
it 67,315 HARE Ha3ETe EARHI TE 50% ol
BN 2410
1215 TFHE
4. Tuen Mun Town Lot No. 496, 235,990 Notyet  Planningin  No definite  Residential 24.82% Medium-
So Kwun Wat, Tuen Mun, New determined progress plan term
Territories
MALFIRER 235,990 HWAEE #AIETT BREEH TE 24.82% ol
P R 4965
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SUMMARY OF MAJOR PROPERTIES 3= #1492 fif % (

1/

C. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT C. N"PERMMZERPZEFEY
FOR SALE PROPERTIES HELD FOR ¥ BESEME
SALE IN MAINLAND CHINA

Gross floor Expected Attributable
Site area area completion interest of
(sq. m.) (sq. m.) Stage of date Nature of  the Group Category
Descriptions HRER BEEBE  completion it property pi%-3C] of lease
BR (FAHK) (FrKR)  *EBE RIBHE  MEME  RGEE BOER
A development project located at the 35,680 140,929 Phase 1- Phase 2 Commercial 49% Medium-
west of Wenyuan Road and south of Completed and 3- term lease
Houfutinggang, Haining City, Zhejiang Phase 2 No definite
Province, The PRC (including sold but not and 3- plan
yet handover units and unsold units of Planning in
Phase 1 and land for Phase 2 and Phase 3 progress
development)
IR pEHIE 35,680 140929  HF—H- B_HR [EES 49% i
BEMEXIERAR- BRI B=H-
BEFABAN-—EERER F_BRk EAEHE
(BEFE-HEHE E=H-
BERRBZ BURKHEEM BBl T

URE_HRE=BERZ L)

B AR L A R A/ 2020202148 297



SUMMARY OF MAJOR PROPERTIES = BV ¢ &

D. SELF-USED PROPERTIES =PEYES
Attributable
Area interest
(sq.ft.) Nature of of the Group Category
Descriptions mf property FT£EE of lease
BER (EER) MELE i3 4 EESEp]
1. Workshops 9-12, 2/F, Block A, 25,731 Industrial 100% Medium-term
Workshops 16-22 & Minority Portion of (excluding area lease
Workshop 23, 4/F, Block A and Car Parking of car parking
Space L46 Shatin Industrial Centre, space)
Nos. 5-7 Yuen Shun Circuit Shatin, (Saleable area)
New Territories
# 5 0 H 25,731 I% 100% g
RIEESSEE75% (FEEE
DHEIERDARAETERIZE2: ZEH)
A4S T (Ef16E 2R TER232Z (BERER)
INERR R BB {146

2. Workshop Unit Nos. 1 to 3 (inclusive) on 2/F, 4119 Industrial 100% Medium-term
Kin Wing Industrial Building, No. 33 Kin Wing  (Saleable area) lease
Street, Tuen Mun, New Territories
MREMEREBRERTEARAR R EIN 4,119 I 100% hHA
TR (MEEEER) (BRER)

3. Various lots in Demarcation District 45,518 Agricultural 100% Medium-term
No. 77, Ping Che, Fanling, New Territories (Site area) lease
MRS 45,518 Bt 100% g
YEARTTRETHE (R ERE)

4, Lot No. 735 s.B in Demarcation District 4,356 Agricultural 100% Medium-term
No. 129, Deep Bay Road, (Site area) |ease
Yuen Long, New Territories
MR 4,356 =it 100% g
RSB ENM1295 (R ERE)

3 E% SEBER7355%
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SUMMARY OF MAJOR PROPERTIES B¢ i &

Attributable
Area interest

(sq.ft.) Nature of of the Group Category

A property FEE of lease

(EER) MELE i AR

Offices A,B,C,D, E,F G, H,J,K, L, M,N&P 15,175 Commercial 100% Medium-term

on 22/F and Car Parking Space Nos. (excluding lease
P44, P45 and P46 on Basement Floor, area of car
Kings Wing Plaza 1, 3 On Kwan Street, parking spaces)
Shek Mun, Shatin, New Territories (Marketing
gross floor
area)

wmRDEAEM 15,175 [EES 100% b
RHERRRREG 2182 (REEE(
PWAZEAB C D ENFAG HN K ZER)
LM~ NRPR M EEPA4SE  PASSERePAGSRER( L  (ATEREEER)

Offices A, B, C,D, E, F G, H, J, K, 15,073 Commercial 100% Medium-term

L, M, N &P on 21/F and Car (excluding lease
Parking Space No. P47, P48 and area of car
P49 on Basement Floor, parking spaces)
Kings Wing Plaza 1, 3 On Kwan Street, (Marketing
Shek Mun, Shatin, New Territories gross floor area

50 H 15,073 [ES 100% g
BB RRRES— 2182 (FEEE(
HAZEANB C D ENFA G H K ZER)
LM~ NEPRItEEPATSS « PABSE RePAOSREE L  (FTEREER)

Unit 2002, 20/F, World Trade Tower, 1,664 Commercial 100% Medium-term

No. 500 Guangdong Road, (Gross floor lease
Huangpu District, Shanghai, The PRC area)

HE g 1,664 [EES 100% A
BB & EFRB50055 57 8 5 AE20182002F (BEER)

The Connaught 41,704 Commercial 50% Long lease
No. 138 Connaught Road West, (Gross floor
Hong Kong area)

&8 41,704 [EES 50% R
TF&#387513855The Connaught (BERR)

BLJps R PR A PR A W] 2020/202148 5
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SUMMARY OF MAJOR PROPERTIES = BV ¢ &

E. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR REAFELHERE
SALE
Attributable
Area interest of
(sq. ft.) Nature of the Group Category
Descriptions af property rEE of lease
R (FHR) MELE i3ty fasER
1. Unsold residential unit and car parking spaces 493 Residential 100%  Medium-term
of West Park, Nos. 256-258 Tung Chau Street,  (excluding area |ease
Kowloon of car parking
spaces)
(Saleable area)
FLBEE M #2565 = 2585% West Park 493 e 100% A
REEFEEMRE( (FEfEER
ZER)
(BRER)
2. Unsold unit at Mount Vienna, No. 8, 2,605 Residential 25% Medium-term
Lok Lam Road, Fo Tan, Shatin, New Territories  (Saleable area) lease
R IDE KK 2,605 £ 25% hHA
3885 Mount Viennask 4 & E1if (BRER)
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22/F., Kings Wing Plaza 1, 3 On Kwan Street, Shek Mun, Shatin, N.T., Hong Kong
7 B S UD A M 2 RE A 3 9 B R B 11 224
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